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== Charter of COSH

ZEGRIUMNIB7FE BEAEEE - (BEWERRRZE KO (FI8E)E T ATRE
B EERETRER ULRSARHEERE 2R

1. ReERBETRABRERRRE 2N
2. ETHRAEANETEREGBNHR
3. AR - HEFEABA Rt ERGEESRHEBEATERER 2B -

REEE ZESRABREAMEECHE  EEXEA6  INAMISAAIZEEEER
HEMEESTENRRER  RESRTZBESERN - BAEHE - REUEEREREE

COSH was first established in 1987. It is a statutory body vested with functions, as set out
in the "Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance” (Cap. 389), to protect and
improve the health of the community by:

1. Informing and educating the public on the harm of smoking and its adverse effects on

health;

2. Conducting and coordinating research into the cause, prevention and cure of tobacco
dependence;

3. Advising the Government, community health organizations or any public body on matters
relating to smoking and health.

Under such a charter, COSH has taken up the role as an active player and commentator on all
issues relating to tobacco control. We aim to act within our charter in response to the changing
local environment as it affects the promotion of tobacco and the epidemic caused by smoking.
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ZE MR Organization of COSH

ZE52 i 5 Members of COSH

TE GEBEEMHA T HL Chairman Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, MH, JP
ElEfE FRAEBKIELSBS, BBSA T4+t Vice-chairman Dr Johnnie CHAN Chi-kau, SBS, BBS, JP
ZE5 REMBFKEMH Member Mr Langton CHEUNG Yung-pong, MH

ALK EMH Mr Clement FUNG Cheuk-nang, MH

REY R L EMH Ms Sharmila GURUNG, MH
BRiEEE Dr Tony HA King-hang
A EE L Dr Daniel HO Sai-yin
WEZZE Dr Hon David LAM Tzit-yuen
BEARE Dr Haston LIU Wai-ming
ORI Prof Phoenix MO Kit-han
MRRERYE Dr Loletta SO Kit-ying
BIRoE S EMHA T4+ Mr Teddy TANG Chun-keung, MH, JP
BEBENTFHEL Dr Stewart TUNG Yuk, JP
I 3URER Prof Kelvin WANG Man-ping
HEEBRL T AT Ms Sandy WONG Hang-yee, JP
ERZE BMHBEANTHL Ex-officio Member Dr Amy CHIU Pui-yin, JP
EHIRN202259 @R ZEE Outgoing members who served the Council for the year up
to September 2022
BUESLE Mr Richard TSANG Lap-ki
1T B Z & & Executive Committee
FFE BRERELSBS, BBSAF#L Chairman Dr Johnnie CHAN Chi-kau, SBS, BBS, JP
ZE GIEBSTEMHA 4L Member Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, MH, JP
REHFEMH Mr Langton CHEUNG Yung-pong, MH
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ZE MR Organization of COSH
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HEBREZEENHENEELZEEELE -

Mr Henry TONG is the Managing Director of
an enterprise. He joined COSH in 2018 and
was appointed as COSH Chairman in 2020. He
is the Chairman of the Information & Research
Committee and Legislation Committee, and also a
member of the Executive Committee, Community
Liaison Committee and Education & Publicity
Committee.

RERB LT AEREMERSEBNITHREE - ©
2009F MMAZED - FRIFEL 20128 E2014F &4
BRI EE B e X E RN 2014EENISFEIHE RS
BLEESXF  WHA20FEZTARESEERE -
RBLEATREZESNHEBEZESTFE - HE
hNEFEZEE - AR ZESNEFIZERERE -

Dr Johnnie CHAN is the Chief Executive Officer of an
international real estate services group and joined COSH
in 2009. Dr Chan was the Chairman of the Community
Liaison Committee from 2012 to 2014 and the Chairman
of the Education & Publicity Committee from 2014 to
2015. He was appointed as COSH Vice-chairman in 2020.
He is now the Chairman of the Executive Committee and
Community Liaison Committee. He is also a member
of the Education & Publicity Committee, Information &
Research Committee and Legislation Committee.



HmHEE LR AR EZRE FHEE - N2018F N
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Dr Amy CHIU is the Controller, Regulatory Affairs
of Department of Health. She joined COSH as an
ex-officio member in 2018.

REHLEE /RN NEREK BETEEEY NER
Re2ELF BEHEARERBIENERER
RRBHEROBHEDOEERER - 7R2020F A
Z8e BRAHAEMNEBZESEXIR 1TBRZEEN
EhREERE-

Mr Langton CHEUNG is a retired primary school
principal. He is now the Honorary Chairman of
the Hong Kong Aided Primary School Heads
Association, and also the professional consultant of
School Partnership and Field Experience Office and
Centre for Religious and Spirituality Education of the
Education University of Hong Kong. He joined COSH
in 2020. He is now the Chairman of the Education
& Publicity Committee and also a member of the
Executive Committee and Legislation Committee.
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Mr Clement FUNG is a Director
of an enterprise and the former
Chairman of Yan Chai Hospital.
He joined COSH in 2020 and is a
member of the Community Liaison
Committee.

HEEAEP L TR2020F AL E
e - RAHRBEEEEERE -
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Ms Sharmila GURUNG joined
COSH in 2020. She is a member
of the Community Liaison
Committee.

EWieEs

EER2019FEMAZES -

Dr Tony HA joined COSH in 2019.
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Dr Daniel HO is an Associate
Professor in the School of Public
Health, The University of Hong
Kong. He joined COSH in 2017 and
is a member of the Community
Liaison Committee, Education &
Publicity Committee, Information
& Research Committee and
Legislation Committee.
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Dr Hon David LAM is a surgeon
and the current Legislative Council
Member (Medical and Health
Services). He joined COSH in 2018
and is a member of the Community
Liaison Committee and Legislation
Committee.
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Dr Haston LIU is a dentist and Past
President of Hong Kong Dental
Association. He joined COSH
in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee
and Legislation Committee.
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Prof Phoenix MO is a psychologist
and an Associate Professor in the
School of Public Health and Primary
Care, The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. She joined COSH
in 2020 and is a member of
the Information & Research
Committee.

BRZ4BRAR ABERERBE
BEERREALEEABITRERR:
RINER R BB T BB -
R2018FIMAZES  BABERE
BREEMENMAREESERE -

Dr Loletta SO is the Cluster Chief
Executive of Hong Kong East Cluster
and Hospital Chief Executive of Pamela
Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital, St
John Hospital and Wong Chuk Hang
Hospital. She joined COSH in 2018 and
is a member of the Education & Publicity
Committee and Information & Research
Committee.

BRBELERERPERE -
2018F MAZBE - BAHE R
EEREEWANIEZEEERE -
Mr Teddy TANG is a retired secondary
school principal. He joined COSH
in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee and
Legislation Committee.
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Dr Stewart TUNG is a Consultant
in Tuen Mun Hospital. He joined
COSH in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee and
Information & Research Committee.
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Prof Kelvin WANG is the Professor in
the School of Nursing, The University of
Hong Kong. He joined COSH in 2018
and is a member of the Information &
Research Committee and Legislation
Committee.

BEAT T AEAITER RS
BUEMBEAER  TMEEZE
NE o BLLER2017TEMAZE
g BAHEREBEZESEIE
ZEgZL8 -

Ms Sandy WONG is Consultant
Solicitor at a law firm and the Past
President of Hong Kong Federation of
Women Lawyers. Ms Wong is actively
involved in public service. She joined
COSH in 2017 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee and
Legislation Committee.
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Secretariat

RISBLL
Ms Vienna LAl Wai-yin
#BE Executive Director

BB 4w F R B 8 & B Secretariat

menE RIEBExL Executive Director Ms Vienna LAl Wai-yin
HEEE RERE4E Senior Project Mr Lawrence CHU Wai-hong
SR e Manager
HEHR T Ms Shelby WONG Ching-bun
HEEAIKE BEaxt Project Manager Ms Debby JIU Wai-yu
kst Ms Jacqueline TSE Kit-ling
AR L Ms Irene TSE Tsit-yi
Fiata Ms Cath WONG Lui-lui
FTHEERE Mr Fung WONG Chi-fung
THEE ZEEL+ Executive Manager Ms Jessica LEE Pik-wan
BN &E BERELEE Information Mr Lancelot POON Chi-chung
and Technology
Manager
MELE REM L+ Research Manager Ms Christie LEUNG Lok-tung
HHEEE BRImMB LT Project Officer Ms Christie CHAN Pui-lam
AL Ms Hody CHAU Wing-han
A+ Ms Isabelle HO Yuen-ting
HeErL L Ms Tiffany TANG Lok-hei
HESEEE BIGEHRLAE Project Executive Mr Calvin CHAN Ho-ming
HE®RE RBALKL Educator Ms Samantha CHAN Wing-sum
ERELL Ms Irene CHUNG Tsui-woon
BEE L+ Ms Vivian KWOK Lai-sim
=EHXL Ms Vicky WONG Sze-man
THEE mBEXL Executive Assistant Ms Michelle WONG Man-yee
EHEHEEBE ESRIELE Project Assistant Mr lvan HO Chun-him
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Tobacco control is journey of stamina
which demands comprehensive strategies
and unwavering determination.
Thanks to the concerted efforts of the
Government and community at large
over the past four decades, Hong Kong
has achieved a remarkable reduction
in smoking prevalence to 9.5%, which
stands as one of the lowest in the
world. However, we must be resolute in
seeking a breakthrough for the sake of
our next generation’s health. With the
aim of attaining a tobacco-free Hong
Kong, COSH will work in continuous
collaboration with all sectors to safeguard
the public health from tobacco hazards.

EFE BIEEMH AR AL

Henry TONG Sau-chai, MH, JP
Chairman
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FEHE Chairman’s Report

Since the enactment of the Smoking (Public Health)
Ordinance (Cap 371) in 1982, Hong Kong's smoking
prevalence has dropped from 23.3% in the early 1980s
to 9.5% in 2021, marking the first instance of a single-
digit figure being recorded. This encouraging outcome
is a testament to the unwavering dedication and
collaborative efforts of the Government, diverse sectors
of the community, and COSH. However, it is noteworthy
that the decline in Hong Kong's smoking prevalence has
experienced a slowdown over the past decade, reaching
a bottleneck in its process. COSH emphasizes that
tobacco control is a journey of stamina, and notes that
tobacco industry employ a myriad of tactics to impede
the advancement of tobacco control initiatives. To
uphold Hong Kong's leading role in tobacco control, it is
essential for the Government to seize this opportunity to
further strengthen tobacco control measures and strive
for a breakthrough; otherwise, the pernicious effects of
tobacco will persist and afflict future generation.
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Raising tobacco tax is the single most effective measure
to reduce tobacco use which is proven to encourage
smokers to quit and prevent the uptake of smoking in
adolescents. However, the development of tobacco
tax policies in Hong Kong has remained stagnant for
an extended period. Since 2015, tobacco tax has been
frozen for eight consecutive years. Given the escalating
inflation over the years, the absence of an effective
mechanism for tax increase to offset the impact of
inflation poses a significant challenge to promoting
long-term tobacco control initiatives.

COSH has actively advocated to the Government
with emphasize on the importance and urgency of
increasing tobacco tax. These efforts include hosting
press conferences that gathered experts and scholars
from different sectors, and collaboratively submitted a
letter with 120 organizations to the Financial Secretary,
urging the Government to implement a substantial
100% increase in tobacco tax. The Government should
subsequently increase the tax rate on a yearly basis. This
approach aims not only to encourage smokers to quit,
helping them alleviate the financial burdens and medical
costs incurred by smoking, but also to safeguard the
well-being of future generations from the detrimental
effects of tobacco. COSH appreciated the Government's
receptiveness to the perspectives of various sectors.
The decision to raise tobacco tax by approximately
31.5% was proposed in February 2023, represents a
significant stride towards accelerating the decline in
smoking prevalence. This move aligns with the objective
of achieving a smoking prevalence of 7.8% by 2025, as
outlined in the “Towards 2025: Strategy and Action Plan
to Prevent and Control Non-communicable Diseases in
Hong Kong”.
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FEEIRE Chairman’s Report

The current tobacco control landscape remains critical,
as tobacco industry employs alternative smoking
products (ASPs) to entice the public, particularly
young individuals, into nicotine consumption. COSH
has tirelessly endeavored to educate the public on
the public health risks associated with ASPs through
various channels. Smoking (Public Health) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2021 eventually came into effect on 30 April
2022, which enacted a total ban on alternative smoking
products. No person may import, promote, manufacture,
sell, or possess for commercial purposes ASPs. COSH
believes that it can effectively thwart the establishment
of these new types of smoking products in Hong
Kong and prevent alternative smoking products from
jeopardizing the tobacco control achievements in Hong
Kong throughout the years.

COSH has been collaborating with the Government
and stakeholders from various sectors to overcome
different challenges encountered in the tobacco control
journey. The year 2022 held special significance as it
marked both the 40 anniversary of tobacco control in
Hong Kong and the 35" anniversary of the establishment
of COSH. COSH organized the Symposium for the
40™ Anniversary of Tobacco Control in Hong Kong in
November 2022, where esteemed international and local
experts were invited to shed light on effective tobacco
control policies and share their insights into various
tobacco control issues. On the same day, more than
100 guests, including government officials, academia,
medical and healthcare professionals, tobacco control
practitioners, smoking cessation service providers and
non-government organizations devoted to tobacco
control attended the reception for The 40 Anniversary
of Tobacco Control in Hong Kong. This event offered an
opportunity to reflect on past milestones while directing
our attention towards future tobacco control strategies
and challenges. By fostering collaboration across all
sectors, we aim to expedite the realization of a tobacco-
free Hong Kong, while simultaneously establishing the
foundational pillars for sustainable tobacco control
policies in the long run.
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Efforts to reduce smoking prevalence not only take
precedence in Hong Kong but also stand as a shared
objective globally. By fostering collaboration and
strengthening relationships, we can expedite the
creation of a tobacco-free environment and effectively
curb the proliferation of smoking worldwide. COSH
strongly believes in the importance of a platform for
experience exchange to advance tobacco control
initiatives across various regions. COSH organized
the 11* Cross-Straits and Hong Kong-Macau Tobacco
Control Conference in November 2022. This conference
convened tobacco control practitioners across the four
regions, facilitating in-depth discussions on various
aspects of tobacco control. COSH has also actively
participated in various exchange activities. A sharing
session on tobacco control was jointly organized by
Chinese Association on Tobacco Control and Tobacco
and Alcohol Control Office, Department of Health, Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region. COSH attended
the sharing session, and exchanged views on tobacco
control with the Mainland and Hong Kong public health
experts in an online format. COSH shared Hong Kong's
remarkable experience in tobacco control over the past
four decades. The sharing session envisioned to advance
the tobacco control goal of Healthy China (2019-2030) in
the Mainland.

COSH regularly produces promotional videos to raise
public awareness regarding the detrimental effects
of smoking. In January 2023, COSH launched a new
Announcements in the Public Interest (API) titled
"Towards a tobacco-free Hong Kong!”, aiming to
encourage smokers to quit as soon as possible, with the
goal of reducing the impact of secondhand smoke on
the general public and seeking to realize a tobacco-free
Hong Kong.

In the API, "Wise Mike"”, Smoke-free Ambassador of
COSH, was reminded of the past when the streets were
filled with the smell of smoke, while bystanders were
harmed by secondhand smoke containing harmful and
cancer-causing substances. Hence, there was a hope for
a better life without the hazards of smoking. Smokers
were encouraged to quit smoking for themselves and
the next generation, and join hands with others to move
towards a tobacco-free Hong Kong.
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Over 200 teenagers from 27
participated secondary schools and
youth uniformed team.
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to over 170 schools and
community activities, reaching
a new milestone of record-
high activities.

FEEIRE Chairman’s Report

COSH has been proactively launching a diverse
range of smoke-free education initiatives to prevent
children and youths from initiating smoking habit,
and encourage students to develop a smoke-free and
healthy lifestyle from an early age. Co-organized by
COSH and the Education Bureau, the “Smoke-free Elite
Teens Programme” introduced diversified learning
experiences and enhanced life planning, with an aim
to equip teenagers to become future leaders in the
society. The programme attracted the participation of
more than 200 teenagers from 27 secondary schools and
youth uniformed team. Compared to the previous year,
the number of activities organized within schools and
the community this year increased by 30% to over 170,
reaching a new milestone of record-high activities. The
program successfully conveyed the smoke-free message
to over 50,000 teachers, students and citizens across
different districts.

In addition to organizing more than 100 health talks in
kindergartens, primary and secondary schools, COSH
has achieved a noteworthy advancement in its regular
smoke-free educational initiatives known as the “School
Interactive Education Theatre”. This breakthrough
entailed the introduction of “Wise Mike"”, who played a
key role in the drama to persuade students to abstain
from smoking, and encourage their family members who
are smokers to quit this habit.
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smoke-free promotion

~1,300+
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participating smokers
who intended to quit
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To support and facilitate smokers in their journey
to quit smoking through exercise, COSH launched
the "Tobacco Endgame: Zero HazardeSmoke-free
Generation” Publicity Programme in 2022, to echo the
World No Tobacco Day and encouraged the citizens
to wear sportswear and do exercises on 31 May. With
support from over 190 companies, organizations, non-
profit-making organizations, hospitals and schools, we
were able to rally their employees, members, teachers
and students to participate in this meaningful cause.

In view of the growing public concern for health, people
took the initiative to encourage smokers around them
to quit smoking. COSH seized the opportunity to foster
a smoking cessation atmosphere in the local community
by launching the 13" “Quit to Win"” Smoke-free
Community Campaign. This campaign was supported by
more than 90 organizations, including District Councils,
district health centers, local service groups, and various
trade associations and companies. Over 80 recruiting
sessions were held, and nearly 1,300 smokers were
successfully convinced to quit smoking. In addition,
more than 70 physical and online smoke-free promotion
activities were organized in various districts across the
city, sharing the smoke-free message with more than
150,000 members of the public.
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Despite the decline in the overall smoking prevalence
in Hong Kong, there has been a lack of substantial
progress in reducing the prevalence of smoking among
women over the years. COSH launched the Smoke-
free Women Project, collaborating closely with 23
women's organizations and district health centers.
The programme aimed to raise public awareness
about the adverse effects of smoking on women, seek
public support in assisting female smokers to quit,
and promote the benefits of a smoke-free life through
various communication channels. The programme
encouraged women to quit smoking for the sake of
their health, as well as that of their family members and
pets. Around 40 community promotional activities were
organized across Hong Kong. These activities included
health talks, smoke-free workshops, and smoke-free
information exhibitions. These initiatives conveyed the
smoke-free message to about 3,800 members of the
public, and more than 5,000 smoke-free leaflets and
promotional materials were distributed.

Hong Kong's overall tobacco control endeavors
will continue to progress. While appreciating the
Government's target of reducing smoking prevalence to
7.8% by 2025, COSH actively calls upon the community
to stay tuned with the long-term tobacco control
policies development with an aim to foster a collective
consensus and realize the vision of a tobacco-free Hong
Kong.

Furthermore, as the current Chairman of COSH, |
would like to extend my sincere gratitude to the six
former chairpersons since COSH'’s inception, including
Dr Ronald LEUNG, the late Professor LEE Shiu-hung,
the late Professor Anthony Johnson HEDLEY, Dr Homer
TSO, Ms Lisa LAU and Mr Antonio KWONG, for their
contributions to the advancement of tobacco control
over the years. Meanwhile, | would like to express my
heartfelt thanks to COSH Council members and the
Secretariat staff for their concerted efforts to tobacco
control. Moving forward, COSH will remain committed
to fulfilling our mission with the ultimate goal of
achieving a tobacco-free Hong Kong.
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Forty years ago, smoking was prevalent in indoor and outdoor areas in Hong Kong. Massive
promotions of tobacco products were easily found everywhere, from the streets to the alleys,
permeating the daily lives of citizens. Tobacco promotions were spread in newspapers, magazines,
TV commercials, and even small stalls in convenience stores, showcasing a wide variety of tobacco
brands. Large promotional posters outside shopping malls, tobacco company-sponsored sports
events and concerts also contributed to the pervasive presence of tobacco.

To safeguard public health, Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance (Cap 371) was enacted in 1982,
legislating and implementing tobacco control measures. With the collective efforts of various sectors
in society, Hong Kong's smoking prevalence steadily declined from 23.3% to a historic low of 9.5% in
2021, marking a significant milestone in Hong Kong's tobacco control efforts.

2022 marked the 40% anniversary of tobacco control in Hong Kong, as well as the 35" anniversary of the
Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health and the 15% anniversary of the indoor smoking ban. Let us
take this opportunity to look back on the past and courageously strive towards the goal of achieving a
further drop to 7.8% smoking prevalence.
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Raise
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Raise taxes on tobacco

Enforce

R IHEEEE - RIHMER)
Enforce bans on tobacco advertising,
promotion and sponsorship

Warn
ERERERE

Warn about the dangers of tobacco

NEEEZFEE

MPOWER denotes

Multi-pronged Tobacco Control Measures

The smoking prevalence in Hong Kong has gradually
declined from 23.3% in the early 1980s to a record low
of 9.5% in 2021, which is among the lowest globally.
This significant reduction reflects Hong Kong's efforts
over the years in implementing comprehensive tobacco
control measures, including legislation, taxation,
promotion and education, enforcement, and promoting
smoking cessation services. These achievements would
not have been possible without the contributions of
the Government, the healthcare sector, the academic
community, non-governmental organizations, various
sectors of society, the general public, and COSH. Over
the past forty years, Hong Kong has faced numerous
difficulties and challenges in its tobacco control
journey. Nonetheless, it has remained committed to
the MPOWER framework proposed by the World Health
Organization (WHO), progressively curbing tobacco use
and safeguarding public health.

WHO introduced MPOWER measures in 2008 to assist
countries in implementing and managing tobacco
control so as to curb the tobacco epidemic and
effectively meet the commitments under the WHO
Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC). As
of March 2022, FCTC has 182 parties including China
signing the treaty on 10 November 2003 and entered
into force in China in 2005. In accordance with the
provision of article 153 of the Basic Law, the Central
People’s Government decided that the treaty applies to

Hong Kong.
Monitor
B2 )R8 B (5 R ER TE R IR
Monitor tobacco use and
prevention policies
MPOWERHY Protect

REAMRZEEEREE
Protect people from
tobacco smoke

Offer
Tt A& E BY
Offer help to quit tobacco use
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Raise taxes on tobacco

Raising tobacco tax is the single most effective measure
to reduce tobacco use and encourage smoking
cessation. COSH advocates the Government to raise
tobacco tax together with different organizations in
various formats every year to encourage smoking
cessation, reduce smokers’ financial burden associated
with smoking, alleviate the healthcare costs resulting
from smoking, and protect the next generation from the
hazards of tobacco.

Raise tobacco tax to encourage smoking cessation

Raising tobacco tax substantially has immediate and
long-term effects on reducing tobacco use. World
Health Organization (WHQO) indicated, a 10% increase
on tobacco taxes would reduce consumption by 4% in
high-income places like Hong Kong and by around 5% in
low-and middle-income countries.

Import tariff was imposed on tobacco as indirect
tax in the 1960s and 1970s in Hong Kong. Upon the
announcement of tobacco tax increase in the Budgets of
FY2009-2010 (50%) and FY2011-2012 (41.5%), the annual
number of calls to the Integrated Smoking Cessation
Hotline jumped by 258% and 49% respectively. When
the tobacco tax was increased slightly by 11.7% in
FY2014-2015, the annual number of calls to the hotline
increased by 1% only compared to the year before.
These figures reflected the effectiveness of substantial
tax increase on motivating smoking cessation and
sustainably enhancing smokers’ determination to kick
the habit. Increasing the retail price of cigarette with
tobacco tax rise is also an effective deterrent for picking
up smoking among children and youths who are price
sensitive. After the substantial tax increases in 2009
and 2011, the smoking prevalence among secondary
students dropped from 6.9% in 2008 to 3.3% in 2013.
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Based on years of experience and data, increasing
tobacco taxes is an effective measure that can
significantly reduce smoking prevalence. A press
conference was held by COSH with tobacco control
experts and scholars on 13 December 2022, urging the
Government to substantially increase tobacco taxes
by one hundred percent, breaking the deadlock of
frozen tobacco taxes and subsequently raise the tax
rates annually, with the result of encouraging smoking
cessation, preventing youth from starting smoking and
former smokers from relapsing.

COSH welcomed the Government proposed to raise
tobacco tax by about 31.5% in February 2023 and
advocated the Government to continue to review the
policy of increasing tobacco taxes to fully maximize its
effectiveness in promoting smoking reduction.

The "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic
2015" suggested that increasing tobacco tax to more
than 75% of the retail price is among the most effective
tobacco control interventions. Across the world, about
30 countries introduced an automatic mechanism
on raising tobacco tax. In Hong Kong, although the
Government increased tobacco taxes in 2023, the
increment fell short of the WHO's recommendation
that tobacco taxes should account for 75% or more of
the retail price of tobacco products. In the future, the
Government should consider formulate the regular
mechanism of increasing tobacco taxes.
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The tobacco industry always expresses opposition
against tobacco tax increase under the pretext that it
will lead to a surge in illicit cigarettes. WHO reaffirmed
that there is no causal link between tobacco tax increase
and illicit cigarette smuggling. WHO also rejected the
skewed and distorted data of tobacco industry-funded
organizations on the prevalence of illicit cigarettes.
Policy-makers and the public should be particularly
cautious about such information. They suggested to
freeze the tobacco tax to combat smuggling which
stands without acceptable reasoning. The most effective
measure against illegal trade of tobacco products is
strict enforcement. Over the years, the Hong Kong
Customs and Excise Department has strengthened
enforcement against illicit cigarette activities on all
fronts, including telephone ordering of illicit cigarettes.
This showed the determination of the Department in
combating illicit cigarette trade and the effectiveness of
its enforcement strategy to protect the Government's
tax revenue and public health. High tobacco tax in Hong

Kong is an essential and practicable tobacco control
policy.
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Protect people from tobacco smoke

Globally, around 1.2 million individuals die prematurely
because of exposure to secondhand smoke every
year. A study about the consequences of smoking and
passive smoking conducted by The University of Hong
Kong revealed that about 7,000 people died of tobacco
annually in Hong Kong and around 670 of them are non-
smokers, which cost Hong Kong HK$5.58 billion each
year, including the loss of productivity of premature
death (HK$2 billion), health care costs (HK$2.64 billion)
and nursing costs (HK$940 million). Breathing clean air
is a basic human right. Smoke-free environments with
no exceptions are the proven way to protect people.
Over the past 40 years, the Government, various sectors
of society, and COSH have been working hand in hand,
pushing forward the expansion of designated no-
smoking areas and preventing the influx of alternative
smoking products into Hong Kong. It protects the public
from the hazards of tobacco and has achieved several
milestones in the field of tobacco control.

Expansion of statutory no smoking areas

The statutory no smoking areas have gradually
expanded since the enactment of the Smoking (Public
Health) Ordinance (Cap 371) in 1982 with several
amendments subsequently. Expansion of statutory no
smoking areas are not only for the protection of the
public from secondhand smoke exposure, it also helps
create a supportive atmosphere for smoking cessation.
The most significant progress should be the extension
of smoking ban to all indoor restaurants and workplaces
in 2007. Despite the tremendous opposition from the
tobacco, catering and entertainment industries against
the Amendment Bill, the Government upheld the
mission of protecting public health with the support
of medical and healthcare professionals, academia,
tobacco control practitioners and different sectors of the
community. The general public can eventually now enjoy
a smoke-free indoor environment. 2022 marked the 15t
anniversary of the indoor smoking ban.
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The progress of expansion of statutory no smoking areas in the past
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Statutory no smoking areas

Smoking ban implemented in public lifts
and lower deck of public transport land
vehicles.

Smoking ban implemented in cinemas,
theatres, concert halls, amusement game
centres and all public transport carriers.

All indoor areas open to the public in a
supermarket, bank, department store or
shopping mall were designated as no
smoking areas. The Airport Authority
may designate any area of the passenger
terminal complex of the Airport as no
smoking area.

All restaurants, schools, post-secondary
colleges, technical colleges could
designate any area of the premises as no
smoking area.

Restaurants with over 200 seats were
required to have not less than 1/3 no
smoking area.

Smoking ban implemented at indoor
areas of all restaurant premises, indoor
workplaces and many public places.

Complete smoking ban extended to the
six types of establishments including bars,
clubs, nightclubs, bathhouses, massage
establishment and mahjong and tin-kau
premises. Also, 48 public transport
facilities with superstructures were
designated as no smoking areas.

Smoking ban extended to 129 open-air
public transport facilities and two public
transport facilities with superstructures.

Smoking ban extended to eight bus
interchanges at tunnel portal areas.

Smoking ban extended to three additional
bus interchanges leading to expressways
or tunnels including Aberdeen Tunnel,
Lantau Toll Plaza and Tuen Mun Road.

Smoking ban extended to three additional
bus interchanges leading to expressways
or tunnels and two public transport
facilities.

Smoking ban extended to four additional
terminus bus and one temporary public
transport interchange.

Please visit Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office website for details of statutory no-smoking areas.
BLETEERAEEEN T BAAN A TR EE I -
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Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department
of Health enforces the tobacco control legislation

To strengthen and coordinate all tobacco control
measures by the Government, the Department of Health
established the Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office
(TACO) (formerly Tobacco Control Office) in 2001.
TACO is responsible for health promotion, enforcing
the Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance (Cap 371),
coordinating and providing smoking cessation services.

To enhance the efficiency of the enforcement, the
"Fixed Penalty (Smoking Offences) Ordinance” was
implemented on 1 September 2009. Anyone who smokes
or carries a lighted cigarette, cigar or pipe in statutory
no smoking areas or on public transport carriers, will
be issued with a HK$1,500 fixed penalty notice by
enforcement officers.

Total Ban on Alternative Smoking Products

Smoking rates and the conventional cigarette market
have been declining globally. The tobacco industry
launched new smoking products for sustaining
revenue, thereby the swift popularity of alternative
smoking products (ASPs) such as electronic cigarettes
(e-cigarettes) and heated tobacco products (HTPs) is
rising all over the world in recent years, similar to the
tobacco epidemic of conventional cigarettes in the
1980s. Some of these products are claimed to be less
harmful than conventional cigarettes. Their marketing
propaganda are mainly targeting young people and
non-smokers, and renormalize smoking behavior,
causing grave threat to public health.
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and KOLs to deliver indirect and soft marketing. (Source:

Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids)
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ASPs are marketed with novel designs and plenty of
flavours. Their sophisticated promotion tactics downplay
the health risks associated with smoking and tempt
the youngsters and non-smokers to try, while students
used them unnoticed in homes and schools. In the
United States, there were about 11 million people
using e-cigarettes in total and more than 5 million
secondary school students were using e-cigarettes in
2019. According to a school-based survey on smoking
commissioned by the Government and conducted by
the School of Public Health of The University of Hong
Kong during October 2018 to July 2019, around 20%
to 40% of secondary school students who have never
smoked lighted up their first cigarette by using HTPs and
e-cigarettes.

According to the Thematic Household Survey Report
No.75 released by Census and Statistics Department,
the percentage of daily electronic cigarette (e-cigarette)
smokers aged 15 and above in the population was 0.3
per cent in 2021 (some 17,500 persons in actual figure),
while the corresponding percentage was 0.1 per cent in
2019 (some 7,200 persons in actual figure). This upward
trend is concerning.
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On the other hand, an increasing number of research
found that ASPs could release detrimental chemicals
and carcinogens. Some harmful chemicals are found to
be either present in higher concentration in aerosols of
that ASPs or absent in conventional cigarette smoke. For
example, the heat produced by the device is hot enough
to melt the polymer-film filter of the heat stick, releasing
formaldehyde cyanohydrin (rarely found in conventional
cigarettes), which is metabolized into formaldehyde and
cyanide. The findings from The University of Hong Kong
showed that the risk of respiratory symptoms (such as
cough, congestion or phlegm, which are the symptoms
of chronic bronchitis) among the adolescent e-cigarette
users and HTP users was higher than that of cigarette
users. The threat of ASPs to population health must
therefore not be ignored and curb the epidemic sooner.

Currently there is no evidence to show that ASPs can
help smokers quit smoking. However, ASPs contain
nicotine and other substance, and are addictive. The
emergence of ASPs only offers a wider range of choices
for smokers instead of considering smoking cessation.
From many overseas experiences, most of ASP users
smoked conventional cigarettes concurrently. They may
act as a gateway to cigarette smoking in non-smokers.
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For details, please refer to the full text of the Smoking (Public Health) (Amendment) Ordinance 2021.

78 Highlights

Similar to conventional cigarettes, ASPs emit
secondhand smoke which damage the health of
bystanders. The public might underestimate the health
risks of secondhand smoke exposure due to its variety of
flavors and less odor. WHO addressed that there is no
safe level of exposure to secondhand tobacco smoke.
All smokers are advised to quit smoking completely
to eliminate the risks of passive smoking and protect
others.

Given that all forms of tobacco use are harmful and
could not help quit smoking, The Chief Executive
proposed the legislation of total ban on ASPs in the
"The Chief Executive’'s 2018 Policy Address”. The
Smoking (Public Health) (Amendment) Bill 2019 was
passed by the Legislative Council in October 2021.
Smoking (Public Health) (Amendment) Ordinance
2021 came into effect from 30 April 2022, no person
may import, promote, manufacture, sell or possess for
commercial purposes alternative smoking products,
including e-cigarettes, HTPs and herbal cigarettes.
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Cigarette packs must carry, in rotation,

six text health warnings at the top of pack
starting from 2000.

Warn about the dangers of tobacco

Everyone knows smoking is hazardous to health.
However, most of the smokers and even non-smokers
still underestimate the health risks associated with
tobacco use. Pictorial and textual health warnings
on cigarette packet is the most direct and effective
admonition which not only promote intention to kick
the habit, but also deter the youth from trying the
first cigarette. According to COSH's Tobacco Control
Policy-related Survey 2018 conducted before and after
the introduction of new and enlarged pictorial health
warnings (PHWs), the new PHWs disseminated the
harms of smoking efficiently and appeared to promote
smoking cessation.

The warnings on packet reach every smoker every day
and are always working — 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.
A smoker who smokes a pack a day would take his or
her pack out 20 times per day, 7,300 times per year.
Warnings may also have noticed by those around the
smokers, such as family, friends and coworkers. They are
entitled to be fully informed of the many health effects
of tobacco products, and the package is one of the best
ways to do that.
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78 Highlights

Development of health warnings

Since 1983, textual health warnings in bilingual have
been required on all cigarette packs sold in Hong Kong
and have changed several times. They were enhanced
from text-only warnings at the early stage to the six
pictorial health warnings in effect since 2007. The
warning must be positioned on the top of the packet
taking up half of the front and back of packet's surface
to better raise the public awareness of smoking hazards.
Starting from 21 June 2018, the Government enlarged
the size of pictorial health warnings to at least 85% of
the cigarette pack area, increased the number of forms
of warning to twelve, added the quitline number and
mandated a health warning message (”Quit smoking for
future generations”).

H2018F 6 A21 HERH AWM 12N EE

The new twelve pictorial health warnings which came into full operation from 21 June
2018.

EERER
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F 13 Year
1982

1983

1994

2000

2007

2018

40

EEHEE

REEERS EVATHARERSE
FE - BME RN - BERBME
MmEIEFEBBNEETRREREEEE]

N
=fh
am A °

BEE mmH BRHE HRIAFNRE
BAE o

NrEFEAER—FIREMRERUN
RREm S - WARREHR

[ IR A% AT LA Bh Am

[ rT ABE |

[REZEDEAIR
[RJER] 5| BUL B | o

BEE ¥ MAREE2H KX FRESR

& Amngk WARREBRKLES
28 UNAERFRETR

[ R )& R LA ZK /p

[RIE S| ZREss  »

[RESI BULBRRA ]

[ RIE S| Bz ] -

[ RIE 5| B IR R AR ] e

[RER N T2 ] o

BERE LT ERSIVAATHN A
EAARRNEZBRER - EHENE
BT EE - AREEBERERABMRE
B YWEIBEEHELRTERSFEEN
50% - Ml 458 | R [EEm |FREEF
IRIMEARE -

BE LEEEREREEMS0%ENE
85% & BIRIABLHAFTIBE125K > I
N _ERER AR M S BRRR [ 58 RIRET
—HAE RS E -

Changes on heal

In all tobacco advertisements, including
those in the print and broadcasting media,
the message of "HK Government Health
Warning: Smoking harms your health” must

be added.

Bilingual text health warnings required on
all cigarette packs.

The single health text warning was
replaced by four stronger and more precise
messages to be used in rotation:
“SMOKING CAN KILL",

“"SMOKING CAN CAUSE CANCER”,
"SMOKING HARMS YOURSELF AND
OTHERS"” and

“SMOKING CAN CAUSE HEART
DISEASE".

Cigarette packs must carry, in rotation, six
new text health warnings, with indication
of tar and nicotine yields. Health warning
must be at the top of the pack, black
lettering on white background:
“SMOKING KILLS",

“"SMOKING CAUSES CANCER”,
"SMOKING CAUSES HEART DISEASE”,
“"SMOKING CAUSES LUNG CANCER”,
“"SMOKING CAUSES RESPIRATORY
DISEASES” and

“SMOKING HARMS YOUR CHILDREN".

Packets of tobacco products and retail
containers shall bear six pictorial health
warnings in rotation, tar and nicotine yields
in the prescribed form and manner. The
pictorial health warnings shall be of a size
that covers at least 50% of the surface area
of the packet or retail container. The use
of misleading information and wordings as
“light” and “mild” is also regulated.

The size of pictorial health warnings was
enlarged from 50% to 85% of the cigarette
pack area, the number of forms of health
warning was increased from six to twelve
and the quitline number and a health
warning message (”“Quit smoking for future
generations”) was added.
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B Highlights

Following the successful experience of Australia which
first implemented plain packaging in 2012, more and
more countries plan to introduce this measure. Director-
General of World Health Organization particularly
highlighted the effectiveness of plain packaging in the
16" World Conference on Tobacco or Health in 2015 and
encouraged other countries to adopt. Currently nearly
40 countries considered to implement plain packaging.
COSH has urged the Government to implement plain
packaging in Hong Kong in order to remove advertising
through cigarette pack and reduce attractiveness of
tobacco products.

Promotion on smoking hazards by COSH

To promote smoking hazards and foster a smoke-
free culture, COSH has been implementing a variety
of tailor-made education and publicity programmes
targeting different segments in the community, e.g.,
health talks, School Interactive Education Theatre and
district exhibitions. Besides, COSH has introduced many
impressive APls to further educate the public and raise
awareness on the smoking hazards.
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1996 “Women Killer” TV API (Targets: nose, throat, heart, lungs, uterus and even your baby): Smoking
kills. Women should not smoke.

a5 F
g 520 T R JE

=g e - = i X -

2012F [ MERE—EFX | ERSEEA (MERAREED - —ERREMRFIET) - BEMTHEL
RERESBEIRFERT - THERSHRISF  REARIT2REREHFBERNEEER
2012 "One in two smokers will die early” TV APl (One in two smokers will eventually die from smoking-
attributable diseases): Numerous medical research has shown that smoking causes loss of 15 years life
span on average. The public should not underestimate the harmful effects caused by smoking.
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2021 "Smoking harms. Don’t smoke at all!” TV API (Alternative smoking products are hazardous to
health): World Health Organization stressed that there are no safe and healthy smoking products in the
world. The use of these products also exposes bystanders to secondhand smoke which damages to
health. Currently there is no evidence to show that alternative smoking products can reduce harm. All
smokers were advised to quit smoking completely.
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2023 "Towards a tobacco-free Hong Kong!” TV API: "Wise Mike," the Smoke-free Ambassador of
COSH, appears to remind members of the public that they have been exposed to tobacco smoke on
the streets, while bystanders have been harmed by secondhand smoke containing harmful and cancer-
causing substances. Consequently, he expresses an aspiration for a better life without the hazards
of smoking. Smokers were encouraged to quit for their own well-being and for the sake of future
generations, and to join hands in moving towards a tobacco-free Hong Kong.
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B Highlights

Monitor tobacco use and prevention
policies

Monitoring is a critical tobacco control activity.
Population based local and international monitoring
data are necessary to effectively plan and implement the
tobacco control policies.

Survey of smoking pattern conducted by Census
and Statistics Department of Hong Kong

Since 1982, the Government has regularly conducted
Thematic Household Survey regarding the smoking
pattern in the Hong Kong population in order to
facilitate the formulation and implementation of related
policies and measures. The survey covers the overall
smoking prevalence in Hong Kong, smoking pattern by
gender and age, daily consumption of cigarettes, etc.

COSH scientific research and studies

For the past years, COSH has conducted and
coordinated a series of scientific research and studies
into the cause, prevention and cure of tobacco
dependence in order to advise the Government,
community health organizations or any public body on
matters relating to smoking and health. To evaluate
the effectiveness and keep track of public opinion
on tobacco control policy in Hong Kong, COSH has
conducted Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey
regularly since FY 2012-2013. It is a representative cross-
sectional survey and covers a wide scope of topics
related to smoking and health, including pattern of
smoking and cessation, secondhand and third-hand
smoke exposure, opinions towards existing and future
tobacco control measures, etc.
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Some of COSH research and studies:

F#H)Year

1994, 1995 &
1999 & 2006

1995 & 2000
1996

1998

2001

2001

2008

2012 - 2022

2013 - 2022

2014

2015

2015 - 2016

2016

2019

2020
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Research and study

Youth Smoking and Health Survey

Public Opinion on Smoke-free Restaurants

Public Opinion on Banning of Tobacco
Advertisements and Sponsorship

Smoking and Passive Smoking in Children

Passive Smoking and Risks for Heart
Disease and Cancer in Hong Kong
Catering Workers

The Impact of Smoke-free Policies on the
Patronage Restaurants in Hong Kong

Secondhand Smoking and Health Survey
in Children

Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey

“Quit to Win"” Contest: Randomized
Controlled Trial Study on Smoking
Cessation Intervention

Smoking and Health Survey in Hong Kong
Women

Realistic Estimation of lllicit Cigarette
Consumption in Hong Kong

Electronic Cigarettes Analytical Testing

Focus Group Study on Perceptions of
Tobacco Packaging among Children and
Youth

Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial on
Reducing Exposure to Tobacco Smoke
among Primary School Students

Qualitative Study on Young Adults’
Experience of Waterpipe Smoking
and Bar Staff’'s Experience of Offering
Waterpipe Tobacco in Hong Kong
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B Highlights

Offer help to quit tobacco use

According to the latest statistics released by Census and
Statistics Department, Hong Kong has around 580,000
daily cigarette smokers, 31.5% of them had tried but
failed to give up smoking. Tobacco is a deadly habit
that is hard to kick. However, the successful rate can be
effectively enhanced with the assistance of appropriate
The World Health
Organization also stated that these medications can

smoking cessation services.

double or triple the likelihood of successfully quitting.
The Government and non-governmental organizations
have been actively introducing and enhancing a wide
range of services in recent years to help smokers adopt a
smoke-free lifestyle.

Smoking cessation services in Hong Kong

The Government and non-governmental organizations

provide various smoking cessation services in Hong

Kong , including:

e Integrated Smoking Cessation Hotline of
Department of Health 1833 183

e Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Integrated Centre for
Smoking Cessation

e United Christian Nethersole Community Health
Service

e Christian Family Service Centre

e Pok Oi Hospital Free Smoking Cessation Services
with Chinese Medicine and Acupuncture

*  Youth Quitline, PolyU

e Hospital Authority’s Smoking Counselling &
Cessation Service

e Smoking Cessation Programme in Workplace by
The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon

e HKU Youth Quitline

o HKU Women Quit
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COSH conducted "Quit to Win" recruitment
sessions across the territory to recruit
smokers to quit smoking.

Promotion of smoking cessation

To encourage more smokers to kick the habit, COSH
has been actively promoting smoking cessation through
territory-wide publicity campaigns and education
programmes to audiences of different ages and from
different walks of life, such as “Quit to Win"” Smoke-free
Community Campaign, “Smoke-free Support Station
Programme”, “Smoke-free Elite Teens Programme”
and so on. Impactful Announcements in the Public
Interest were also produced and received overwhelming
response to create a supportive atmosphere for quitting
smoking. Besides, COSH launched some programmes
tailored for industries and gender with high smoking
prevalence including “Smoke-free Construction Force”,
“Smoke-free Drivers Club”, "Smoke-free Women
Project” and "Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion
Project” to offer support to anyone who wanted to stop
smoking while working closely with different district
and non-governmental organizations in motivating non-
smokers to encourage smoking cessation among their
family and friends.

ZESHHREXRRRZTXEESFIETREGHELH

COSH organized programmes tailored for industries

with high smoking prevalence.
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B Highlights

Enforce bans on tobacco advertising,
promotion and sponsorship

The tobacco industry invests tremendous resources on
massive promotion every year to position smoking as
stylish and fashionable. It urges potential users to try
smoking and become long-term addiction, especially
among teenagers and women. The tobacco industry has
also been desperate for years to make use of misleading
and fraudulent strategies to promote their products
and downplay risks of smoking. The Government must
impose a total ban on direct and indirect advertising,
promotion and sponsorship to prevent the normalization
of smoking behaviour, thereby lowering intention to
smoking products purchase and protect public health.

Since the 1980s, Hong Kong has gradually implemented
bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and
sponsorship. All tobacco advertisements on television,
radio, printed media and internet, as well as display
advertisements were banned. Tobacco companies were
not allowed to sponsor sports events and music videos.
It was also prohibited to promote the sale of tobacco
products by means of offering prizes, gifts, tokens or
raffle in exchange for any valuable items. Throughout
the past four decades, the Smoking (Public Health)
Ordinance has undergone several amendments to
ensure all types of direct advertising and promotion of
tobacco products vanish from all local media.

47



E7E Highlights

F13 Year

1988

1990

1998

1999

2009

48

BIEEREREE

FTBRERE S MNEBHTRERN T F46F
2 F10RB300 RERBEL (B4R
1989F & i) ©

PHZEIIEANECHNEEES NED)
(B BIRA1992FEEHE) ©

2 |- B LB R o

AN XSRS - B - B SR e
RBEMAEEENYRREHEEE
on °

3 1B R R A DRI P9
SR -

BEER I RBE T R NEERESN
# o

EEE

Ban on tobacco advertising and
sponsorship

Ban on tobacco advertising and
sponsorship from 4pm to 10:30pm on
television (extension to radio in 1989).

Total ban on tobacco advertising and
sponsorship on television and radio
(extension to cinema in 1992).

Prohibition of tobacco advertisement on
the internet.

Prohibition of promoting the sale of
tobacco products by means of offering
prizes, gifts, tokens or raffles in exchange
for any valuable items.

Ban on tobacco display advertisements and
prohibition of tobacco advertisements in
the print media.

Withdrawal of exemption for display of
tobacco advertisement at licensed hawker
stalls.
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All tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship

have vanished in Hong Kong.
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Support plain packaging and ban on point-of-sale
tobacco display

Despite all tobacco advertisements and promotion have
been banned by law, tobacco companies still exploit
grey areas and loopholes to promote tobacco products
indirectly, such as visually appealing display of tobacco
products in large and glamorous light box at prominent
areas of at points of sale including convenience stores,
newsstands and duty-free shops. Cigarette packet has
become a key marketing and brand promotion vehicle
for tobacco industry to continue to boost smoking and
tobacco consumptions. Hong Kong can consider the
implementation of plain packaging with reference to
other countries’ successful experience to standardize
the packets and enlarge the pictorial health warnings.
This measure is effective in prohibiting the use of packet
design for promotion and preventing misconceptions
on the relative harmfulness of cigarettes in different
packets, as well as reducing the overall appeal of
smoking. Also, a total ban on the display of tobacco
products at points of sale should also be adopted to
protect the public from exposure to tobacco promotion
and stimulate impulse purchases of tobacco, thereby
preventing uptake of smoking particularly among
teenagers and women.

Prospect for a Tobacco-free Hong Kong

COSH will continue to dedicate efforts to advocate for
strengthening multipronged tobacco control measures,
including significant increase in tobacco tax, expansion
of designated no-smoking areas, a ban on flavouring
tobacco products, raising legal age of tobacco
purchase, to protect non-smokers from the harms of
secondhand and third-hand smoke, thereby advancing
the vision of a Tobacco-free Hong Kong.
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Publicity and Community Involvement Projects
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Education and Youth Programmes
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Information and Research Projects
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EBAE 2022-2023
Highlights of Events 2022-2023
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Publicity and Community Involvement Projects

#ZZ B Publicity Projects

(BEKRE  BEE - E S “Tobacco Endgame: Zero Hazard

2022/5 - 2022/6 - N Smoke-free Generation” Publicity
& BB oo
oo Iy — " Kick-off Event of “Tobacco Endgame:
] R E - 4 .
2022/5/24 [Ei’"\ %\& SEE - A Zero Hazard ® Smoke-free Generation”
BRI ENTE

Publicity Programme

The 13* “Quit to Win” Smoke-free
Community Campaign

2022/9/17 - 18 [HRIB IR TE A B £ [SE B Mega Recruitment Days for Smoking

Cessation” Event

2022/6 - 2023/3 F13E [HERFR | EELEETE

Reception for the 40" Anniversary of

ST ) 4E | BRI g
2022/11/8 [EBRBA0AF | ERAE Tobacco Control in Hong Kong
2022/12 - 2023/2  1BRIEIMNEEFR Advocacy on Raising Tobacco Tax
o 2 § "Raising Tobacco Tax by 100% to
= zic) . o, cis)
2022/12/3 E%;ﬁgjg%%%iﬁlg%g&%bﬂ& Motivate Smoking Cessation and Lessen
e Financial Burden” Press Conference
2023/1/31 EMEERER New API
[XFHEBBRATEHEL ! “Towards a tobacco-free Hong Kong!”
\ - . The 13% “Quit to Win" Smoke-free
£ BABR | EE @t E . . . :
2023/3/21 S 13 [RUBARR I REL ER &) Community Campaign Prize Presentation

& 4
BRI Ceremony

# BB K E Community Involvement and Promotion

N Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion
- 40 28 =1 |z B
2022/4 - 2023/3 [ /E £ K0 |5t 82022-2023 Project 2022-2023

2022/4 - 2023/3 g M S E 51 812022-2023 Smoke-free Women Project 2022-2023
2022/10/13 (T BEEHM HETHE oo ree Women Project Publicity
2022/12/2 - 4 EERRE TR BB e Hong Kong International Dental Expo

and Symposium

Positive Parent-Child Sports Carnival
in celebration of the 73 anniversary of

B E ARKMBEK A +=/F

B 5 == =2 3 2 5
2022/12/4 ;;Tﬂ%‘ﬁa/éa [Em 3 FEE) the founding of the People’s Republic of
" China

"HealthTech@Sham Shui Po” District

2023/2/18 - 19 REMRe@RKIHRE FEE ol ity S



SEE) Events

g BERELFED
" Education and Youth Programmes

B L FH A ZE Youth Education Programmes

N . N Health Talks for “Smoke-free New
- 4 {8
2022/4 - 2023/3 [ EEFTHE A RS Generation”

2022/8 - 2023/3 [ /ETeenstE EETE112022-2023 smole=Tee Eliie Teens Fragrmme

2022-2023
BREBHE KEEIS School Interactive Education Theatre
2022/9 - 2023/3 [EBEABL] “Smoke-free Dream Adventure”

EER R EHE Liaison with Academia and Community

Meetings with Executive Council

2022/4-2023/3 HITHREREKER Y EZGHETH Members and Legislative Council
Members
2022/4/4, 4/11, S 4 g T 2 P 26 D HKU School of Nursing - Nursing
11/5 & 2003/2/24 BN REERRRIE Programmes
S B Tuen Mun Chamber of Commerce -
2022/8/4 I ZER IR Tobacco Control Seminar
2022/9/20 NEEEBEBT — BT E Rotary Club of Kowloon East - Tobacco

Control Seminar

The Jockey Club School of Public
Health and Primary Care of The
Chinese University of Hong Kong -
Health Promotion Experience Sharing
Workshop

2023/1/19 EBRYABEERALMER
EERAER - REEEIED

" " 23
““  Conferences

&% Conferences

2022F Ay, — FEIEEEM R Mainland-Hong Kong Expert Sharing

2022/6/10 EED Forum on Tobacco Control 2022
Symposium for the 40" Anniversary of
2022/11/8 EBERIOFFERARE Tobacco Control in Hong Kong
MEEERR BRTEEIRE Priority Issues of Tobacco Control to
Achieve Zero-smoking Hazard Environment
2022/11/11 FEEFRRE RSB E The 11* Cross-Strait, Hong Kong and
BEEF a2 Macau Tobacco Control Conference
2022/12/8 o 232022 Fellowship Programme on Tobacco

Control 2022
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Publicity and Community Involvement Projects

R
Publicity Projects
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“Tobacco Endgame: Zero Hazard
Smoke-free Generation”
Publicity Programme

COSH launched the “Tobacco Endgame: Zero Hazard e
Smoke-free Generation” Publicity Programme in 2022 , to
echo the World No Tobacco Day on 31 May and World
Health Organization’s appeal to draw global attention
to the preventable death and disease it causes. A kick-
off event, “Smoke-free Sportswear Day” and roadshow
promotion were featured to motivate smokers for
smoking cessation, and call for non-smokers to support
the Programme and encourage smokers to quit smoking
by doing exercise, in order to create a smoke-free social
environment and step forward to achieve the Tobacco
Endgame goal.

Kick-off Event

COSH, in collaboration with Radio Television Hong Kong
organized a kick-off event on 24 May 2022. Officiating
guests included Prof Sophia CHAN, Secretary for Food
and Health, Dr Ronald LAM, Director of Health, Vincent
LEE, Assistant Director, Radio & Corporate Programming,
Ivory HO, Head of Chinese Programme Service, Radio
Television Hong Kong, Dr LAM Ching-choi, Chairman
of Elderly Commission, Prof LAM Tai-hing, the Emeritus
Professor and Honorary Clinical Professor of The School
of Public Health of The University of Hong Kong, Henry
TONG, COSH Chairman, Dr Johnnie CHAN, COSH Vice-
chairman, Richard TSANG, COSH Education & Publicity
Committee Chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH Executive
Director. Smoke-free Ambassador, “"Wise Mike” also
came to meet the public at the event.
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Panelist discussion session was specially arranged in the
event. Prof Sophia CHAN, Dr LAM Ching-choi and Prof
LAM Tai-hing together with Henry TONG were invited
to share views on "How to achieve Tobacco Endgame in
Hong Kong and the encountering challenges”. Former
Hong Kong cyclist HUNG Chung Yam and Singers Jay
FUNG, Jocelyn CHAN as well as Cloud WAN joined the
event and disseminated smoke-free messages through
games and sharing. HUNG Chung Yam and Jay FUNG
even took the challenge to share the physical and mental
benefits of exercises while doing rope-skipping. They

encouraged public to exercise more for a healthy life.

Smoke-free Sportswear Day

Over 190 companies, organizations, non-profit
organizations, hospitals and schools motivated the
stakeholders and public to participate and supported
the event by wearing sportswear and doing exercise on
31 May, with an aim to encourage all the employees/
members /teachers and students/stakeholders/ families
to support the Programme and promote smoke-free
messages so as to create a smoke-free Hong Kong in
joint hands. In addition, some supporting organizations
promoted the Programme via website, social media and
Intranet for the smoke-free souvenir’s distribution and
poster display.
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BUEETE Roadshow Promotions

B ER2022F6 A HAMES N #1755  Six sessions of smoke-free promotions were held across
REEEERTH  MMERKRBEEEL SR the city in June 2022 to encourage the public to spread
FREETCKETREE  LNSHEMBEE the smoke-message while smoke-free missions were

involved for interaction with the public and smoke-free

promotional collaterals were distributed.

WhatsApp K Signalf& & B [E]

EEeRH T —ZAEERS AR |8 Smoke-free WhatsApp & Signal Stickers
WhatsApp & Signal & ZRGE - EmERAE

ASEREBEIESEES - BB EHNFRE AR A set of smoke-free WhatsApp and Signal stickers
Ak —BEBHES  SEEERELT - featuring the Smoke-free Ambassador, “"Wise Mike”
was created for the public to promote a healthy lifestyle
by doing exercise and share with families and friends

ICEUECIERE : ise. .
A https://exercise.smokefree.nk/ through daily mobile or online chit-chat.

E E Activity Website: https://exercise.smokefree.hk

[=] :

®
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The 13% “Quit to Win” Smoke-free
Community Campaign

COSH has been organizing the “Quit to Win” Contest
since 2009 to provide an alternative platform in the
community to motivate and assist smokers to quit, and
regain smoke-free healthy lifestyle. Every year, the
Contest recruits over 1,000 smokers to kick the smoking
habit.

Since 2012, COSH has launched the “Quit to Win"
Smoke-free Community Campaign with support from
District Councils, community service organizations,
smoking cessation service providers, trade association
and organizations from different industries. Smoke-free
lifestyle is promoted through a series of district-based
smoke-free promotion activities and media promotion.
The Campaign develops close ties with a wide scope of
the community, creates a positive social atmosphere for
smoking cessation and increases public awareness on
tobacco control.

The 13" "Quit to Win"” Smoke-free Community Campaign
was organized in collaboration with 19 district working
partners to promote the quit benefits and share the
smoke-free message with general public. In addition,
the Campaign gained the unfailing support from
District Councils and over 60 diversified organizations,
including government department, smoking cessation
service providers, district health centres, as well as trade
associations and companies from catering, construction,
transportation and housing management industry. All
parties joined hands to disseminate smoke-free messages
in different sectors of society.
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Smoking Cessation Counseling Trainings

COSH collaborated with the School of Nursing and
School of Public Health of The University of Hong
Kong (HKU) to conduct Smoking Cessation Counseling
Training on 13 and 15 June 2022, which attracted over
150 volunteers, staff members from district working
partners, supporting organizations and district health
centres as well as university students to attend and equip
themselves the basic skills on smoking cessation.

Speakers included Prof LAM Tai-hing, Emeritus
Professor, and Honorary Clinical Professor of School of
Public Health, The University of Hong Kong, Dr Kelvin
WANG, Associate Professor, The School of Nursing, The
University of Hong Kong, Vienna LAI, COSH Executive
Director, Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager,
Dr Kevin LUK, Research Assistant Professor, The School
of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong and Titan MAK
from Smoking Cessation Research Team, The School of
Nursing, The University of Hong Kong. The Champion
of the 12t "Quit to Win"” Contest, CHOI Kwok-wai was
invited to share his successful quit story. Details of the
"Quit to Win"” Smoke-free Community Campaign, hazards
of smoking, secondhand and third-hand smoke, tobacco
control in Hong Kong, smoking cessation counseling
Skills and motivational interviewing, relationship of
smoking cessation, exercises, group discussion and case

studies were introduced in trainings.




SEE) Events

District Recruitment and Smoke-free Promotion
Activities

HERERBEESEIEH

ZEEN2022F6AE10AHR - £2H518&

1T T HBBB0IS B E LT - k5l411,3004 %  From June to October 2022, COSH organized over 80

BEATHRZ2INLE - A#BiIB38,000&MEME  recruitment sessions across 18 districts with about 1,300

IREEE o smokers attracted to enroll the Contest. Over 38,000
members of public received smoke-free messages.

[MEABRKX MERSEREESELE

“Quit to Win" District Recruitment and Smoke-free Promotion Activities

HHDate s EDistrict B Venue
& B RE%S
2022/6/18 - LTS
Eastern Oi Tung Shopping Centre
25 ERES
2022/6/19 Kwai Tsing Kwai Chung Plaza
&= AU \mAMROILEE
gL e Wong Tai Sin Temple Mall North
A S B AL
2022/6/26 Yau Tsim Mong Argyle Centre
EA! R PR 0 AR
2022/6/28 Tuen Mun Construction site located at Yan Po Road
vy BB #ULED1/D3 M O ¥ H B8 w817 AR
2022/7/3 (/T/an Chai Pavement at Lockhart Road outside Causeway Bay
MTR Station Exit D1/D3
FUBE AIXHES
AL Kowloon City Homantin Plaza
i FIRE B R RIT AR
2022/7/7 Pavement at the junction between Hoi Yuen Road
Kwun Tong . .
and Hing Yip Street
- T2 S e KB M 7T AR
2022/7/9 = Pavement outside Wing On Building, On Wing
Tsuen Wan
Street
2022/7/9 N BB ABE HIT AR
Yau Tsim Mong Pavement near Park Lane Shopper’ s Boulevard
Be ERAMREEM E NS H1T AR
2022/7/10 Pavement near Tung Chung Crescent Block 6, Mei
Island
Tung Street
] REE%S
2022/7710 Tuen Mun Leung King Plaza
_IF P R
AN Wan Chai Wan Chai DHC Express
=5 B ECRBEUAAL D ¥ BT AR
2022/7/13 Eastern Public pavement outside Quarry Bay MTR Station

Exit A
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2022/7/16

2022/7/16

2022/7/17

2022/7/17

2022/7/21

2022/7/23

2022/7/23

2022/7/24
2022/7/24
2022/7/26
2022/7/29
2022/7/30
2022/7/30

2022/7/31

2022/7/31

2022/8/5
2022/8/6
2022/8/6

2022/8/7

ib[&
North

K
Sham Shui Po

‘=AU
Wong Tai Sin

3]

Southern

7 [

Central and Western
TLEA

Yuen Long
KNI

Tai Po

ARt

Yau Tsim Mong
%5

Kwai Tsing
=5

Kwai Tsing
JAAL

Wong Tai Sin
R

Eastern

BE

Kwun Tong
ARt

Yau Tsim Mong
TLEA

Yuen Long
e

Kwai Tsing
RIKES

Sham Shui Po
a2l
Central and Western
BES

Island

KRS

Choi Yuen Plaza
BEEFIALOSH B AEITAR

Pavement outside Mei Foo MTR Station Exit A, Lai
Chi Kok Road

SREHSREIFAEHHITAR

Pavement at the junction of King Fuk Street and
Shung Ling Street

BB BEGEAT LY BITAL

Pavement of Nam Ning Street outside Aberdeen
Centre

EEREREREATHEITAR

Pavement of Queen’ s Road Central outside Aon
China Building

AR RS

Long Ping Commercial Centre

VR KSR SHA2 I O B 1T AR

Pavement outside Tai Po Market MTR Station
Exit A2

VB EIRT AR UL HAT AR

Pavement outside Mongkok East MTR Station
REES

Cheung Fat Plaza

ZEMRERP O

Kwai Tsing District Health Centre
A B O

Wong Tai Sin District Health Centre
LHEHERAHITAR

Pavement outside Shau Kei Wan Main Street East
MBS

Yau Lai Shopping Centre
EZBEMTEHITAR

Public Pavement on Parkes Street
TLEATEEUAGT i O ¥ R B B

Open area outside Yuen Long West Rail Line
Station Exit G1, near Long Yat Road
ERES

Kwai Chung Plaza

TCN B

Un Chau Shopping Centre

HRIR 55 A5 58

Central Pier No.5

RRE S

Yat Tung Shopping Centre



2022/8/7

2022/8/8

2022/8/10

2022/8/13

2022/8/13

2022/8/14

2022/8/14

2022/8/16

2022/8/16

2022/8/19

2022/8/19

2022/8/20

2022/8/20

2022/8/21

2022/8/21

2022/8/22

2022/8/23

2022/8/26

2022/8/27

W H

Sha Tin

KRR
Eastern
JUEES
Kowloon City
=AU
Wong Tai Sin
W H

Sha Tin

R

Tai Po

1
Wan Chai

B

Kwun Tong

Tsuen Wan
BEW

Kowloon City

P

Tuen Mun

3]

Southern

ib[&
North

BEK
Kowloon City
JHSRE
Yau Tsim Mong
IR
Sham Shui Po
RE
Eastern
7
Wan Chai

gt
=

Tsuen Wan
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DHEBEGBE O HIT AR

Pavement outside Sha Tin MTR Station Exit B
RR iR FE b

Eastern District Health Express

B EAAR AR

Construction site located at Kai Tak Area 4A
BAMAPOILEE

Temple Mall North
REFEFIAL A% E1TAR

Pavement outside Tai Wai MTR Station Exit A
A E %

Tai Wo Plaza

SRR E S A FH OB B R HIT AR
Pavement of Jardine s Crescent outside Causeway
Bay MTR Station Exit F

MEEmERL

Nam Fung Commercial Centre

ZEBEMHEHBITAR

Pavement outside Tsuen Wan Market
BRI M [ R 42 Ut

Kowloon City District Health Express

B PIE LB

Castle Peak Power Station, Tuen Mun

FRFROEREE HTAR

Pavement of Chengtu Road outside Aberdeen

Centre Hoi Chu Court

EAKBEEB2E A EAKF L ZITAKRRE
Footbridge of Sheung Shui MTR Station Exit B2
towards Sheung Shui Centre

HIRBEUAAL O H HATRIETT AR

Pavement of Hung Hom Road outside Whampoa
MTR Station Exit A

BT A0

Argyle Centre

ABE R AUEB2H OB 1T AR

Pavement outside Lai Chi Kok MTR Station Exit B2
ER [ b [ B2 U4

Eastern DHC Express

B 3 1% R 2 Uk

Wan Chai DHC Express
CEBERAN IR « PAERKREREER DO
Yan Chai Hospital Vera Ruttonjee Desai Health
Management Centre for the Seniors
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2022/8/27-28
2022/8/28

2022/8/30

2022/9/3

2022/9/3

2022/9/4
2022/9/4
2022/917

2022/9/7

2022/9/9

2022/9/10

2022/9/14
2022/9/17-18
2022/9/22

2022/9/24

2022/9/24-25

2022/9/25

2022/9/28

mE

Sai Kung
LY
Eastern
alis) i

Central & Western

KNI
Tai Po

T

Tuen Mun

=AW

Wong Tai Sin
TTEA

Yuen Long
i

Sha Tin
RIKES

Sham Shui Po

Kwun Tong

RIK B

Sham Shui Po
T

Wan Chai
mE

Sai Kung
sy

Central & Western

[iEi=

Sai Kung

JH SR

Yau Tsim Mong
B

Kwun Tong

&t
=

Tsuen Wan

FEH R D — R

Metro City Plaza 1

ERES

Oi Tung Shopping Centre

FXRREREREL HITAR

Pavement of Bonham Strand outside Cosco Tower
LRI R RITABR R

Pavement at the junction of On Chee Road and On
Cheung Road

WEE K EMER XL HREILEITAREL
Pavement at junction of Tuen Mun Heung Sze Wui
Road and Pui To Road near the Kam Wah Garden
YERS

Choi Wan Commercial Complex

+WOOF #

+WOO

YWHBE VLB O 1T AR

Pavement outside Sha Tin MTR Station Exit B
EFFRE

Mei Foo Community Centre
BERFSRBHO(NEER)

Construction Industry Council Service Centre
(Kowloon Bay)

X =y B N B vh ¥ 22

Public Pavement Festival Walk and Kowloon Tong
MTR Station

B EE AL O ¥ BT AR

Pavement outside Wan Chai MTR Station Exit A3
1 ERES

TKO Plaza

BB 217 AR

Pavement of Theatre Lane

TKO Spot(i#1E)

TKO Spot (Sheung Tak)

BHInTE1T AR

Pavement of Parkes Street outside Pak Shing
Building

BERECAEENS)HHITAR

Pavement of Hing Tin Street (near Tak Tin Plaza)
W ESERREBG 2 FNZEH

Open area between Tsuen Wan Town Square and
Silka Far East Hotel



2022/9/29

2022/9/30

2022/10/2

2022/10/7

2022/10/8

2022/10/9

2022/10/14

2022/10/15

2022/10/16

2022/10/17

2022/10/20

2022/10/22

2022/10/23

2022/10/29

2022/10/30

2022/10/31

JURBI
Kowloon City

P&

Central & Western

JCEA

Yuen Long

T
Wan Chai

NIH
Tai Po

=AU
Wong Tai Sin
BES

Island

i
North

RIKES
Sham Shui Po
JLBEM
Kowloon City

JEAL
Wong Tai Sin

Rl

Eastern

G/

Tuen Mun
Y H

Sha Tin
xE

Kwai Tsing

A SR
Yau Tsim Mong
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BEMEE — RAREERBHL

East Kowloon Social Service Centre, Society for the
Aid and Rehabilitation of Drug Abusers
NRERARENEH HITARK

Pavement of Bonham Strand outside Cosco Tower
TCRARE# 1T AR (ERE)

Pavement outside Yuen Long Building, Yuen Long
(Chung Sing Path)

AR E B FE O H AT AR

Pavement of Jardine s Crescent outside Causeway
Bay MTR Station Exit F

R IE A2 O AT AR

Pavement outside Tai Po Market MTR Station

Exit A2

wAALFOLER

Temple Mall North

B 2 i 2= &

Cathay Pacific Cargo Terminal

EAKEBEUAB2IE O E FAKR L ZITARRE
Footbridge of Sheung Shui MTR Station Exit B2
towards Sheung Shui Centre

TTINE S

Un Chau Shopping Centre

EEEEZE SR

Hong Kong Housing Authority Headquarters
A B L

Wong Tai Sin District Health Centre
REBHUM/MBERRERBRZITARE
Footbridge of Chai Wan MTR Station/New Jade
Garden towards Wan Tsui Estate

BB CIBKIEIT AR M E

Pavement at Kai Fat Path near Man Shing Building,
Tuen Mun

REFEBEVECH A ¥ H1T AR

Pavement outside Tai Wai MTR Station Exit C
ZRES

Kwai Chung Plaza

KU BATB BRI E BT AR TRBITAKXRGEE
Public footbridge towards The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University outside Hung Hom MTR
Station
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Community Partnership and District-based Smoke-
free Promotion Activities

To build a positive atmosphere for smoking cessation,
COSH invited 19 non-governmental organizations as
district working partners to organize district-based
smoke-free promotion activities. The Campaign also
extended the partnerships to over 70 organizations and
companies from different sectors, including government
department, public organizations, smoking cessation
service providers, district health centres, as well as trade
associations and companies from catering, construction,
transportation and housing management industry. The
district working partners conducted over 70 smoke-free
promotion activities, including health talks, smoke-free
exhibitions, slogan design competition, online carnival
and quizzes, microfilm production, bus parade, song
production, live music truck, roadshow and outreach
promotion in the respective districts. Smoke-free
messages were disseminated to over 110,000 members
of public. More than 350 staff and volunteers of the
district working partners participated in the smoke-free
promotion and motivating smoking cessation, which
consolidated districts network and created supportive
force for smoking cessation.

ih B2 & 1EZ ¥ District Working Partners

Hong Kong Central & Western District Women's Association

REMEREL (FERE  BBERS)
Eastern DHC Express (operated by The Hong Kong Society for

Hong Kong Outlying Islands Women's Association Limited

The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon

CHEBRGALEERAREREH L
Yan Chai Hospital Mr. & Mrs. Yeung Wan Neighbourhood Elderly

alis) ) EATARBRE
Central & Western
RE
Eastern e
Rehabilitation)

B BEEREERAA
Islands

BEM, EREE
Kowloon City
x5
Kwai Tsing Centre
s AR ERS T REE
Kwun Tong

Windshield Charitable Foundation Social Services
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EEEFHEeBEFeTETFEEM

The Hong Kong Federation of Youth Groups Jockey Club Cheung
Wah Youth S.P.O.T.
EBHEEWE - BEEALTESMEREBEZRS L

Haven of Hope Christian Service - Haven of Hope Bradbury King Lam
Community Health Development Centre
EEFTLFERBESRUETDFINRLS TERK

Hong Kong Children and Youth Services Ma On Shan

Youth Outreaching Social Work Team

B ERE SR KT ERBE

Windshield Charitable Foundation Sham Shui Po Social Services
MEEELZEHEBERAR

Southern District Healthy & Safe Association Limited
EAERRRE

Hong Kong Southern District Women's Association

EEEEg

The Society of Rehabilitation and Crime Prevention, Hong Kong
CE Bt & R %EB

Yan Chai Hospital Social Service Department
HEBERLZEAGUSESFTIFRBPL

Shan King Integrated Children and Youth Services Centre of
Seventh-day Adventists

BBEIEH O

Methodist Centre
BEAMERED L (EERE BRERSRINBEERAF)
Wong Tai Sin DHC (operated by Hong Kong Sheng Kung Hui
Welfare Council)

EE R T R B

United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service
EEEFEHEH KB EFEM

The Hong Kong Federation of Youth Groups Hung Shui Kiu Youth
S.P.O.T.
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“Mega Recruitment Days for Smoking Cessation”
Event

In order to motivate smokers to actively seek assistance
from smoking cessation for maximizing chance of
quitting, COSH, together with seven smoking cessation
service providers including Hospital Authority, Pok Oi
Hospital, Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Integrated Centre
on Smoking Cessation, United Christian Nethersole
Community Health Service, Youth Quitline, Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent
Society, Kowloon, The School of Nursing, The University
of Hong Kong and Sai Kung District Health Centre
Express, organized the “Mega Recruitment Days for
Smoking Cessation” event on 17 and 18 September
2022 to provide one-stop smoking cessation counseling
assistance to smokers in need as well as acquire
information and advice on different quit methods, and
onsite cessation counseling and registration to the "Quit
to Win"” Contest and other cessation services, while
the general public could register into the primary care
services offered by district health centre for chronic
disease management.

The event also featured with smoke-free exhibition,
game booth and smoke-free quiz to enhance citizens
knowledge on tobacco control. Over 8,000 participants
joined the event and had understanding on the hazards
of smoking, information of smoking cessation, benefits
of a smoke-free life and tobacco control policies, which
helped build up a healthy smoke-free lifestyle and a
positive atmosphere to promote smoking cessation in the

community.
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"Quit to Win” Contest

The 13" “Quit to Win" Contest recruited about 1,300
smokers to kick the habit through onsite and online
registration. Eligible participants received brief smoking
cessation advice from The University of Hong Kong's
smoking cessation counselors at the recruitment
sessions, telephone follow-up at one month, two months,
three months and six months as well as regular instant
messages from quit assistance. Participants received
instruction, tools and instant messaging advice on doing
simple physical exercises, benefits of exercise in smoking
cessation, smoking hazards and quitting methods, etc.

Where appropriate, some participants were referred to
their preferred smoking cessation service providers to
increase their success rate. Participants who successfully
quit were invited to undergo biochemical validation at the
3-month and é-month follow-up. Validated quitters were
eligible to join the lucky draw or invited to the Smoking
Cessation Ambassador interview to win fabulous prizes.

COSH continued to collaborate with Correctional
Services Department and extended the “Quit to Win”
Contest to Lo Wu Correctional Institution, Pik Uk Prison,
Stanley Prison and Tong Fuk Correctional Institution. A
total of 46 smoking inmates were motivated to join the
Contest and received tailor-made smoking cessation
counseling and follow-up.

The School of Nursing and School of Public Health of
The University of Hong Kong conducted a research
study to evaluate the effectiveness of the smoking
cessation intervention as well as the Campaign to
further understand the needs of quitters. According to
the preliminary results, the self-reported quit rate was
23.1% and 23.4% at 3-month and 6-month follow-up
respectively.
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Media and Online Promotions

To strengthen the promotion and motivate smokers’
attempt to quit, COSH collaborated with YouTube
channel, Mill MILK to produce a promotional video to
appeal for smokers’ persistence to quit, introduce quit
tips and attract smokers to join the “Quit to Win"” Contest.
The feature video narrated the experience and process
of YouTuber’s quit attempt, discussed the challenges and
difficulties for quitting and interviewed cessation expert
and quitters on the effective quit methods. The video
recorded over 500,000 views on various online and social
media platforms which is successfully spread the smoke-
free messages to the mass public with, while motivating
enrolments into the contest and generating positive
feedback and discussion on smoking cessation among the
audiences.

"Quit to Win"” Smoke-free Community Campaign
Prize Presentation Ceremony

A prize presentation event of the 13" “Quit to Win"
Contest was conducted to award the winners and
commend the enthusiastic support from all collaborating
organizations on 21 March 2023. Honourable guests
included Dr Libby LEE, Under Secretary, Health Bureau,
Dr FUNG Ying, Head of Tobacco and Alcohol Control
Office, Department of Health, Prof LAM Tai-hing, the
Emeritus Professor and Honorary Clinical Professor of The
School of Public Health of The University of Hong Kong,
Henry TONG, COSH Chairman, Dr Johnnie CHAN, COSH
Vice-chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director.
Winners of the 13™ “Quit to Win"” Contest shared
their experiences and tips of smoking cessation in the
ceremony. Successful quitters of the 13™ “"Quit to Win"
Contests and previous winners participated to celebrate
and share the joy of being smoke-free. Artists Crystal
FUNG and Danny HUNG also attended and promoted the
cessation benefits via games and performance.
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Winners of the 13* “Quit to Win” Contest

The Champion, CHENG Wai-kit who had smoked for over
20 years due to the working pressure. His wife hoped that
he could kick the habit and encouraged him by carrot and
stick approach over the years. Mr CHENG kept delaying
his promise to quit with an excuse of stress and emotion
release, and continued to smoke. Until last year, he was
invited by smoking cessation counselors of the Campaign
to join the “Quit to Win” Contest when he was smoking
in the street. Motivated by the thought that presenting
it a gift of their 15" wedding anniversary, Mr CHENG
determined to make a quit attempt.

In the cessation process, the most challenging experience
was to resist the carve and temptation of smoking
during the long quarantine period at duty travels,
while combatting withdrawal symptoms, such as being
emotional and hard to concentrate, made his quit attempt
harder. He used the Tangle, a sensory fingertip tool,
provided by the Contest to divert attention and get over
the urge of smoking. Finally, he successfully overcame
all withdrawal symptoms and maintained smoke-free
in the one-month quarantine period. Having quitted
smoking, he was aware that smoking can’t help relieving
stress and anxiety, while good health and smoke-free
living environment is vital to himself and his beloved one.
Moreover, Mr CHENG became more passionate and
positive to cope with various challenges in life, feel bliss
and joy in daily life.
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First runner-up, WAN Tit-leung was a retiree who
started smoking when he was 15 years old. He had
made several quit attempts but failed. Until last year,
he temporarily stopped smoking during the quarantine
period after being diagnosed with COVID-19. Noticing
the advertisement of the "Quit to Win"” Contest in
social media during the quarantine period, he made
up the mind to quit and enrolled into the contest.
Strong determination drove Mr WAN to stop smoking
immediately since the first day of enrolment. To reinforce
himself to stay away from smoking and divert attention
from smoking urge, he wrote "I must win” in the self-
help smoking cessation booklet provided by the Contest
and recorded every day of the progress, difficulties and
experiences of the one-month quit process. Having
quitted smoking, his health condition was apparently
improved with smooth breath. He has no longer asthma,
coughing and black phlegm due to the intake of harmful
substances from cigarettes. Without the constraint of
nicotine, he maintained a healthy and consistent life
routine with regular rest time. He became more energetic
for voluntary and social services. He valued much that he
re-gains health and time to enjoy retirement life and make
family trips after kicking the smoking habit.
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Second runner-up, LIT Ching-cheong had smoked for
about 40 years. He used to smoke one pack of cigarettes
daily, and heavier after work and at mealtime. Smoking
worsened his health condition and caused insomnia
frequently due to muscle twitching in the midnight.
Because of lack of motivation, he did not take any action
to quit smoking. On the day after his 50 birthday, he
met the recruitment booth of the “Quit to Win"” Contest
in the street. With the encouragement from his beloved
one, he made quitting as his birthday wish and intended
to bring some changes for the second half of life. Decided
to kick the habit, Mr LIT planned to resist tobacco craving
by exercises. He started gym workout and stopped
smoking immediately. In the past, he always smoked a lot
with alcohol while dining in “"Dai Pai Dong” and became
obese. Successful quitting improved his health condition
along with healthy lifestyle. No longer smoke and drink,
Mr LIT went to gym room after work every day. He trained
up with a fit body and the muscle twitching problem no
longer exists. He felt spirited and youthful, and found that
life becomes more positive and meaningful.

Campaign Website: www.quittowin.hk
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40™ Anniversary of Tobacco Control in Hong Kong

VasimEn+mEsnas

Reception for the 40™ Anniversary of Tobacco Control in Hong Kong

Reception for the 40" Anniversary of
Tobacco Control in Hong Kong

To commemorate 40 Anniversary of tobacco control in
Hong Kong, COSH hosted a Reception on 8 November
2022. Over a hundred guests and representatives from
tobacco control scholars, experts and practitioners from
medical and healthcare institutions, academia, non-
governmental organizations and schools attended.
Officiating guests include Dr Hon LAM Ching-choi,
Member of the Executive Council, Prof LO Chung-
mau, Secretary for Health, Dr Ronald LAM, Director of
Health, Henry FAN, Chairman of Hospital Authority,
Ellis LAI, Deputy Commissioner of Customs and Excise,
NG Chiu-kok, Deputy Commissioner of Correctional
Services, Henry TONG, COSH Chairman and Dr Johnnie
CHAN, COSH Vice-chairman.

MAQO Qunan, Director General, Department of Planning
and Information of National Health Commission,
acknowledged the efforts of HKSAR Government put
into curbing tobacco epidemic via a pre-recorded video
and addressed Hong Kong's achievements as a model
of tobacco control advocacy in the country. He also
highlighted the aspirations of the Central Committee of
the Communist Party and the State Council for greater
cooperation between Hong Kong and the Mainland to
advance the Healthy China Initiative.

Dr TEDROS Adhanom Ghebreyesus sent his warm
congratulations to people celebrating fruitful
achievements of tobacco control in Hong Kong. He
added that Hong Kong has launched series of tobacco
control measures to bring daily smoking rates in Hong
Kong now less than 10% for the first time, and make it
as a global exemplar. Dr Hiromasa OKAYASU, Director
of Division of Healthy Environments and Populations,
Regional Office for the Western Pacific, World Health
Organization also delivered pre-recorded congratulation
messages to the 40™ anniversary of tobacco control in
Hong Kong.
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Prof LO Chung-mau, Secretary for Health, mentioned
with the effective policy implementation over the four
decades, the smoking prevalence in Hong Kong has
been declining from about 23% in the 1980s to now
9.5%. He indicated the Government has planned to
conduct the public consultation with regard to tobacco
control strategy and would be eager to listen to people
from all walks of life. The smoking cessation services
would also be enhanced in order to achieve 7.8% smoking
rate through continuous and collaborative efforts with
stakeholders.

Henry TONG, COSH Chairman also believed that the
total ban on alternative smoking products came into
effect on 30 April 2022 could effectively prevent its
hazards in alternative forms and the possible gateway into
cigarette smoking among children and youth. He hoped
that the Government can formulate comprehensive
policy on tobacco control in response to public demands
concerning zero-smoking hazard environment.

Tobacco control experts including Dr Hon LAM Ching-
choi, Member of Executive Council, Prof LAM Tai-hing,
the Emeritus Professor and Honorary Clinical Professor
of The School of Public Health of The University of Hong
Kong, and Dr Donald LI, Immediate Past President, World
Organization of Family Doctors, enjoyed frank exchanges
with secondary students on issues of how Hong Kong
to take full advantage of low smoking prevalence to
achieve smoke-free Hong Kong. The discussion covered
a wide range of issues including substantial tobacco tax,
expansion of no smoking areas, implementation of plain
packaging, prohibitions of flavours in tobacco products,
smoking cessation promotion, etc. Primary students also
expressed the hopes for tobacco-free future at the event.

A video on the 40" anniversary of tobacco control
was premiered at the Reception. The remarkable
achievements of various measures in tobacco control
were shared by tobacco control leaders including former
Director of Health, Dr LAM Ping-yan and Dr Constance
CHAN Hon-yee, and COSH Ex-chairman, Dr Homer TSO
Wei-kwok and Lisa LAU Man-man.
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Supported raising
tobacco tax in 2023

76.4%

PRER R & 2022
Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2022

Advocacy on Raising Tobacco Tax

The World Health Organization (WHQO) pinpointed
that raising tobacco taxes is the single most effective
measure to effectively reduce the smoking population
and prevent the youth from smoking initiation.
Therefore, it is recommended raising tobacco price and
implementing tobacco tax as the prioritized measure
and the tax rate should account for at least 75% of the
retail price. However, the tobacco tax in Hong Kong
has been frozen for most of the past decade, and the
proportion of tobacco tax to the retail price of major
cigarette brands has dropped from a peak of about 69%
in 2015 to only about 61.5% in 2022, which is farther from
the WHO's recommended level.

If tobacco tax is not increased consecutively, tobacco
products will become increasingly affordable, and hence
the effectiveness of reducing smoking prevalence will
correspondingly regress. To effectiveness of tobacco
tax being eroded, about 30 countries in the globe
introduced an automatic mechanism on raising tobacco
tax. In contrast, according to the analysis performed
by Dr Hana ROSS, a world-renowned expert in tobacco
control economics, the nominal tax value of cigarette
pack in Hong Kong was about HK$38.1 in 2022, the real
tax value after discounting income growth and inflation
was only about HK$26.9 per pack, which was incapable
to enhance smoking cessation, due to eight-years
freezing in tobacco tax.

According to COSH's Tobacco Control Policy-related
Survey 2022, more than three-quarters (76.4%) of
respondents supported raising tobacco tax in 2023,
while 56.6% of them agreed that the increment should
be equal to or exceed the inflation rate. Two-thirds
(66.5%) of current smokers suggested that the cigarette
retail price should be set at a median price of HK$100
and a mean price of HK$116.9 to effectively motivate
them to quit or reduce the daily cigarette consumption
by at least half. The survey findings reflected that there
was huge capacity for tobacco tax increment and the
majority of citizens supported raising tobacco tax, to
regain the effectiveness of tobacco price in reducing
smoking population.
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“Raising Tobacco Tax by 100% to
Motivate Smoking Cessation and Lessen
Financial Burden” Press Conference

Raising tobacco tax is the single most effective measure to
reduce tobacco use which is proven to encourage smokers
to quit and prevent the uptake of smoking in adolescents.
To ease smokers’ cost of living and healthcare spending
associated with tobacco use and safeguard the next
generation from smoking hazards, COSH hosted a press
conference on 13 December 2022 to urge the Government
to raise tobacco tax by 100% and subsequent annual tax
hikes, in order to motivate the smokers to kick the habit.
Speakers included Prof LAM Tai-hing, Emeritus Professor
and Honorary Clinical Professor of School of Public Health,
The University of Hong Kong, Dr Daniel HO, Associate
Professor, The School of Public Health, The University of
Hong Kong, Dr Kelvin WANG, Associate Professor, The
School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong, Henry
TONG, COSH Chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH Executive
Director.

SupportTobacco Tax! Hike to

onsumption &I

Henry TONG, COSH Chairman said, "The decline of
smoking prevalence has been slowing down in Hong
Kong as there were no major breakthroughs on tobacco
tax policy since 2012. The smoking prevalence had
been reduced merely by 1.2 percentage point.” Over
the past four decades, tobacco tax has been among
all tobacco control measures the only policy that fails
to meet the World Health Organization’s standard (tax
should account for 75% or above of cigarette retail
price). Tobacco tax remained at around HK$38, which
accounted for around 61.5% of the retail price.
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The tobacco tax in Hong Kong has almost remained
unchanged in a decade. Due to the increase in income
and accelerated inflation, the effectiveness of tobacco
taxes is being weakened over the time. With the data
in 2011 as the baseline, the cumulative Consumer Price
Index rose by 30% in 2021 while the change of tobacco
tax stood at less than 11.7%. Current tobacco tax was
lagging behind inflation that led to the increased
cigarette affordability and hence encourage cigarette
consumption.

Dr Hana ROSS, Principal Research Officer, The School of
Economics, University of Cape Town, South Africa also
indicated the nominal cigarette price in Hong Kong is
HK$62 per pack but the real cigarette price is just HK$43
after discounting the income growth and inflation, which
means cigarette prices is lower and more affordable than
that in 2009. She conducted an estimation on impact
on the smoking behaviour of the 100% tobacco tax
increment in Hong Kong. The cigarette consumption
would fall by 17.7% and smokers would quit smoking
completely, thereby the smoking prevalence would be
expected to drop to 8.7%.

Speakers also pointed out at the press conference that
most citizens widely supported the tobacco tax increase
in 2023 with a support rate over 75%. In addition, despite
the decline of smoking prevalence among adults and
students, an increasing trend of secondhand smoke
exposure in children and adolescents was found, as high
as 47.3% and 58.5% respectively in 2020. Tobacco tax is
an important means to further reduce the tobacco use
among parents and hence protect the health of next
generation.
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COSH considered that aggressive and effective policies
shall be adopted in Hong Kong such as increasing
tobacco tax substantially, in order to reduce the
prevalence from currently 9.5% to reach the target of
7.8% (approximate to reducing 100,000 smokers) in three
years as stated in “Towards 2025: Strategy and Action
Plan to Prevent and Control Non-communicable Disease
in Hong Kong” as well as the Chief Executive's 2022
Policy Address. Besides, the Government should review
and formulate a long-term tobacco tax policy by drawing
reference from the experience of other countries to
establish an automatic mechanism on raising tobacco
tax or impose annual tobacco tax which will be able to
maintain the price effect on the demand of tobacco
products and motivate tobacco users to quit, while
offering quitting assistance to increase the chances of
success, to further reduce the smoking population.

COSH appreciated that the Government has taken into
account opinions from various sectors and is actively
strengthening tobacco control. The Government has
proposed to increase tobacco tax by approximately
31.5% since 22 February 2023. However, the proportion
of tobacco tax to the retail price of tobacco products
is still far below the recommended level by the World
Health Organization (75% or above). It is suggested that
the Government should continue to review its tobacco
tax policy in the future to fully leverage its effectiveness
in promoting smoking cessation.
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New APl “Towards a tobacco-free
III

Hong Kong!

COSH produces Announcements in Public Interest (APIs)
regularly to address smoking hazards as an issue of
concern. A new API titled “Towards a tobacco-free Hong
Kong!” was launched with the aim of motivating smokers
to quit as soon as possible. In the API, “Wise Mike,"” the
Smoke-free Ambassador of COSH, appears to remind
members of the public that they have been exposed
to tobacco smoke on the streets, while bystanders
have been harmed by secondhand smoke containing
harmful and cancer-causing substances. Consequently,
he expresses an aspiration for a better life without
the hazards of smoking. Smokers are encouraged to
quit for their own well-being and for the sake of future
generations, and to join hands in moving towards a
tobacco-free Hong Kong. The APl was broadcast on
radio channels, TV stations and online platforms with

overwhelmed responses.
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Community Involvement and Promotion

Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion
Project 2022-2023

According to the Census and Statistics Department,
there were approximately 581,500 smokers in Hong
Kong in 2021. Among all smokers, 27.6% were aged 60
years above, which is equivalent to about 160,000 elderly
smokers. The more smokers smoke, the greater amount
of toxins will accumulate in their bodies, increasing the
risk of smoking-attributable diseases.

In order to encourage the elderly to adopt a smoke-free
and healthy lifestyle, COSH has launched the Elderly
Smoking Cessation Promotion Project. In collaboration
with elderly organizations, the Project aimed to raise
awareness of smoking hazards among the elderly and
encourage those with smoking habits to quit. About
30 health talks at elderly centres were held online and
offline from June 2022 to March 2023 across the territory
to promote smoke-free messages to about 800 elderlies.
The health talks covered the harms of various smoking
products, common problems and misconceptions about
cessation, and the benefits and methods of quitting

smoking.

(i
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Smoke-free Women Project 2022-23

In 2021, the smoking prevalence in Hong Kong dropped
to a historic low of 9.5%. However, it was worth concern
that the smoking prevalence of women remained at
about 3% over the years. In view of this situation, COSH
initiated the Smoke-free Women Project to continue
to raise public awareness and knowledge on the
problems of smoking among women. In 2022-2023, the
Project received support from 23 women organizations
and district health centres to spread the smoke-free
messages, particularly the harms of smoking to women,

to the members of the public.

Smoke-free Women Project Publicity Event

COSH, partnered with Commercial Radio Hong Kong,
organized a publicity event on 13 October 2022 to
educate the public of the harms of smoking to women,
encourage the public to support female smokers to quit
smoking, and promote the benefits of living a smoke-
free life. Officiating guests included Dr FUNG Ying,
Head, Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department
of Health, SO Lai-chun, President, Kowloon Women's
Organisations Federation, Henry TONG, COSH
Chairman, Dr Johnnie CHAN, COSH Vice-chairman, and
Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director. Prof LO Chung-
mau, Secretary for Health, also sent a video message to
show his support for the Project and tobacco control,
and to encourage smokers to embark on a smoke-free
and healthy journey as soon as possible.
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Moreover, singers Phil LAM, Andy LEUNG, Cloud WAN
and Cath WONG took part in the event and spread
out the smoke-free messages. Through dialogues and
games, the guests introduced the trend of female
smoking in Hong Kong, marketing tactics to lure women
to smoke, the harmful effects of smoking on women
and their families, and the ways to assist them to quit
smoking, and brought out the joyful experiences of
being smoke-free. SO Lai-chun, President of Kowloon
Women's Organisations Federation, YIP On-ni, Project
Coordinator, Women Quit, The University of Hong Kong
and successful quitter NG Ka-yan exchanged views on
the benefits of quitting smoking and reminded female
smokers that they were never alone in the process of
smoking cessation.

Radio Appeals

COSH also produced and broadcasted four radio
appeals to encourage women to quit smoking for the
health of their families and pets. In addition, Henry
TONG,COSH Chairman, Dr Samantha YUNG, Clinical
Psychologist, Dr Kelvin WANG, Associate Professor,
The School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong,
and successful quitter NG Ka-yan shared the situation
of women smoking in Hong Kong, tobacco industry’'s
marketing tactics to lure women to initiate smoking,
advice for dealing with pressures and cessation,
the gender-specific hazards of women smoking and
smoking cessation experience in a radio programme to
encourage smoking female to quit.

Community Promotion and Education Activities

To further promote a smoke-free lifestyle to women,
COSH collaborated with 23 women associations and
district health centres to conduct around 40 sessions of
smoke-free women promotion and education activities
including health talks, smoke-free workshops, smoke-
free exhibitions, etc. across the territories from May 2022
to March 2023. Smoke-free messages were delivered
to about 3,800 people and over 5,000 smoke-free
collaterals and giveaway items were distributed to the
public.
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Smoke-free Women Workshops

COSH organized a series of DIY workshops to
disseminate smoke-free messages along with stress-
relieving activities to help women to build a positive
and healthy life, and resist pressure and crave of
smoking. The workshops were conducted by a
registered aromatherapist and were well received by the
participants. Totally 25 workshops were organized with
overwhelming responses.

Programme Website: www.smokefree.hk/women
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Hong Kong International Dental Expo
and Symposium

The Hong Kong Dental Association hosted the "Hong
Kong International Dental Expo and Symposium” on 2
to 4 December 2022. Henry TONG, COSH Chairman was
invited to attend the opening ceremony. COSH set up
an information booth to introduce the tobacco control in
Hong Kong as well as the correlation between smoking
and oral health to raise the awareness on the tobacco
control works to the dental professionals.

Positive Parent-Child Sports Carnival in
celebration of the 73 anniversary of
the founding of the People’s Republic
of China

Hong Kong Taoist Association, Tung Sin Tan, Federation
of Parent Teacher Associations Hong Kong Island,
Hong Kong Island School Heads Association, Home
Affairs Department (Central and Western District)
hosted the Positive Parent-Child Sports Carnival in
celebration of the 73 anniversary of the founding of
the People’'s Republic of China on 4 December 2022 at
Chater Road, Central. Henry TONG, COSH Chairman,
was invited to join the opening ceremony. A booth was
set up to introduce COSH's programme and increase
the public awareness on smoking hazards via games
and distribution of smoke-free promotion collaterals.
Participants were also invited to follow COSH's social
media pages so as to gain the latest smoke-free
information and local tobacco control works.
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“"HealthTech@Sham Shui Po”
District Publicity Event

To raise Sham Shui Po residents’ health awareness,
Sham Shui Po District Council and Greater Bay Area
Biotechnology Alliance co-hosted "HealthTech@Sham
Shui Po” public event on 18 to 19 February 2023.
COSH was invited to host an educational promotion
booth with an aim to raise participant’s awareness
on smoking hazards and encourage smokers quit
smoking. Participants were also invited to follow COSH's
social media pages to be informed of the latest local
tobacco control works and continue to support COSH'’s
programmes.

L JOR4

1,833,183 likes

wisemike_hk [ZHTREHE]
#B AR KT

#COSH #7 BTN MM E Bl
HOKBEF #wisemikehk
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Education and Youth Programmes
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Health Talks for
“Smoke-free New Generation”

Educating the next generation on smoke-free
knowledge at an early age is an essential part of tobacco
control, helping children and youngsters understand
the importance of smoke-free healthy lifestyle, learn to
refuse the first cigarette and encourage family members
and friends to quit smoking. Since 1991, COSH has
been organizing health talks every year in kindergartens,
primary and secondary schools; and tertiary institutions
across the territory to educate children and teenagers on
the harmful effects of tobacco.

COSH continued to provide onsite and online health
talks to accommodate schools’ needs during the school
year 2022 to 2023. Over 100 health talks were held
reaching over 25,000 students and teachers. Students
could learn about smoking hazards online through
live streaming or pre-recorded health talks. A set of
education tools was also developed for students to
extend learning beyond the classroom.

In addition to the harms of tobacco, including smoking,
secondhand smoke, third-hand smoke and alternative
smoking products, the health talks covered the latest
information on tobacco control in Hong Kong and
marketing tactics of the tobacco industry. Besides,
promotional videos and an interactive question-
and-answer session were included to allow students
to enhance smoke-free knowledge in a relaxing
environment.
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“Smoke-free Elite Teens Programme”
2022-2023

Since 2012, COSH has been organizing “Smoke-free
Teens Programme” which was revamped as “Smoke-
free Elite Teens Programme” and co-organized with the
Education Bureau. The Programme gained support from
over 160 secondary schools, youth centres and uniform
groups and trained over 3,000 teenagers as young
leaders over the past years. The Programme introduced
elements of life planning and mentor sharing and
offered diversified learning experiences with aimed to
enhance teenagers’ knowledge of smoking hazards and
tobacco control, equip them with multifaceted skills and
nurture them to become future leaders. It also provided
the opportunity for participants to organize smoke-free
programmes in schools and the community. Around 200
teenagers aged 14 to 18 from 27 secondary schools and
organization enrolled in the Programme in the school
year 2022-2023.

The Programme revolved around knowledge and skills
training, as well as project planning and execution.
Combining physical and online learning activities with
credit system, it allowed students to flexibly participate
and obtain credits.

Smoke-free Academy

The hybrid Smoke-free Academy with a combination of
offline and online learning aimed to enhance students’
knowledge of tobacco control and smoking hazards,
as well as the event planning and smoking cessation
counseling skills. The Programme aims to enhance
their abilities in leadership, independence, creativity,
communication, and conflict management, while also
fostering a spirit of critical thinking, discernment, and
teamwork.
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Orientation Camp and Visit to University

Smoke-free orientation camp and visit to University
were organized during summer holidays in 2022. A visit
to the School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong
and various workshops, were arranged for Smoke-free
Elite Teens to learn about the University’s education
and research on tobacco control, as well as skills of
smoking cessation counselling and project planning and
promotion.

Smoke-free Online Classes

COSH launched a series of compulsory and elective
online classes. In addition to attending compulsory
classes introducing the knowledge of smoking hazards,
local and international tobacco control policies, students
could select elective classes according to their own
preferences and needs to learn about video production
techniques with mobile phone and enhance knowledge
of alternative smoking products. These classes would
get them prepared for organizing the smoke-free
programmes on campus and in the community. Besides,
an online class in which former principal Teddy TANG,
one of the Programme mentors, provided sharing on
study and life planning to allow participants to prepare
for future personal development.
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Smoke-free Training Camp

An inter-school physical training camp was also held
in December 2022 to enable Smoke-free Elite Teens
to enhance leadership skills, including team work,
communication and problem solving through team
missions and adventure-based coaching activities.

Smoke-free Programmes

Despite the epidemic, the Smoke-free Elite Teens
overcame different challenges and utilized their
knowledge and creativity in organizing over 170
diversified online and offline activities for promotion of
smoke-free messages to over 50,000 students, teachers
and members of the public from October 2022 to
February 2023. They utilized their creativity and different
platforms to organize a wide variety of promotion
activities, ranging from booth games, workshops, design
competitions to promotion via morning assemblies,
classes and social media. Participants also conducted
street interviews and promotion collaborating with
community organizations to extend the smoke-free
promotion to the community. To meet the needs of the
audience and enhance the impact of promotion, they
produced short videos, such as street interviews, drama
and music videos.
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Smoke-free Alumni Programme
Summer Internship and Study Tour

To enable participants to continue their mission to
promote smoke-free culture, participants who have
completed the Programme were invited to join the
Smoke-free Alumni Programme, where alumnus could
assist COSH in organizing smoke-free activities such as
sharing session, exhibition and booth game, enabling
them to develop leadership skills.

Participants with outstanding performance would have
the opportunity to participate in the summer internship
programme, where students could get involved in
organization’s daily operations and learn to organize
smoke-free projects for career and life planning.
Champion, 1% Runner-up and 2" Runner-up would have
the opportunity to join the one-day Macao study tour
during summer holidays to learn about the tobacco
control policies in Macao and broaden their horizons
through knowledge-based and fun-filled activities,
including sharing by the tobacco control expert from
the Tobacco Prevention and Control Office, Macao SAR
Government and a walking tour.

Showcase cum Sharing Session

A Showcase cum Sharing Session was held to
commend outstanding Smoke-free Elite Teens for their
achievements. Prof LO Chung-mau, the Secretary for
Health, Angela CHOW, Senior Curriculum Development
Officer (MCNE), Education Bureau, Henry TONG, COSH
Chairman, Dr Johnnie CHAN, COSH Vice-chairman,
Langton CHEUNG, COSH Education & Publicity
Committee Chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH Executive
Director presented the prizes to the winners. Terence
LAU, one of the Programme mentors, was invited to
conduct sharing on how to promote smoke-free culture
at workplace.
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The champion team from St. Catharine’s School for Girls

shared their fruitful experience in organizing smoke-free
activities at the event. They launched a stamp design
competition of which the outstanding piece was printed
and mass produced as stamps after the successful
application to Stamps Customised Service of Hong Kong
Post. N.T. Heung Yee Kuk Yuen Long District Secondary
School (Team 3) won the first runner-up. They spread
the smoke-free messages through an interview with the
Member of Legislative Council. The second runner-up
was Queen’s College Old Boys' Association Secondary
School. Recognizing the indispensable roles of parents
in the smoking prevention among teenagers, they
invited parents and students to support smoke-free lives
on Parents’ Day and other school activities. They also
instilled the importance of smoke-free Hong Kong to
students with special educational needs in community
activities.

List of Winners:
St Catharine’s School for Girls

N.T. Heung Yee Kuk Yuen Long
District Secondary School (Team 3)

Champion:
First runner-up:

Second runner-up: Queen’s College Old Boys’
Association Secondary School
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Outstanding Smoke-free Teams:

HKTA Tang Hin Memorial Secondary School

Hong Kong Army Cadets Association (Team 1)

N.T. Heung Yee Kuk Yuen Long District Secondary
School (Team 4)

Queen Elizabeth School Old Students’ Association
Tong Kwok Wah Secondary School

Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Mrs. Wu York Yu
Memorial College (Team 1)

Programme website:
https://smokefree.hk/smokefreeteens
Programme Facebook:

https://www.facebook.com/smokefreeteens/

Programme Instagram:

https://www.instagram.com/smokefree_teens/
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School Interactive Education Theatre
“Smoke-free Dream Adventure”

Since 1995, the “School Interactive Education Theatre
Programme"” has been a focal activity of COSH's
education and publicity programmes to prevent
smoking among children and youth. Collaborating with
schools and local professional troupe, the Education
Theatre helps students develop a positive smoke-free
attitude and encourages them to live a smoke-free
healthy lifestyle with their families. Since its launch,
the Programme delivered over 2,100 performances
in primary schools across the territory, reaching over
600,000 students and teachers.

The performances delivered along with music, stage
effects, interesting presentation and interactive session
enables students to learn about the harmful effects of
smoking, secondhand smoke, third-hand smoke and
alternative smoking products, fallacies about smoking,
as well as to say no to the first cigarette and encourage
family members to quit smoking.

The Programme in 2022-2023 was co-organized by
Education Bureau and collaborated with Jumbo Kids
Theatre to produce and deliver a new drama “Smoke-
free Dream Adventure”. It aimed to educate students
on smoking hazards and deter them from trying the
first cigarette. It helped students understand the harms
of tobacco and recognize the importance of rejecting
the first cigarette. Moreover, the Programme aimed to
enhance their understanding of the benefits of quitting
smoking and safeguard their family members from
the health risks of secondhand and third-hand smoke.
Students were invited to encourage their families and
friends to quit smoking and support a smoke-free Hong
Kong. In addition, special credit was given to Prof
LAM Tai-hing, the Emeritus Professor and Honorary
Clinical Professor of The School of Public Health of The
University of Hong Kong, as the professional consultant
of the drama.
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The story centred on Cory's father who had been a
smoker for many years and his health was getting worse
which made Cory worried. At that moment, “"Wise Mike"
appeared and led Cory into her father’s body to find out
what was going wrong and tried to help him stay healthy.
Audience could join Cory and “Wise Mike” through
various interactive sessions to identify the health
effects brought by three major killers including “Tar”,
"Nicotine” and “Carbon Monoxide” and learn how to
help family members resist tobacco addiction, helping
repel the three major killers and “Devil Tobacco” and
assist Cory's father to quit smoking.
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B354 B - www.educationtheatre.hk

The premiere was held at North Point Methodist Primary
School on 29 September 2022 with around 300 primary
school students, teachers and guests attended to kick
off the territory-wide school tour. Officiating guests of
the premiere included Dr FUNG Ying, Head, Tobacco
and Alcohol Control Office, Department of Health, Prof
LAM Tai-hing, the Emeritus Professor and Honorary
Clinical Professor of The School of Public Health of The
University of Hong Kong, WONG Lui-sze, Principal of
North Point Methodist Primary School, Henry TONG,
COSH Chairman, Richard TSANG, COSH Education &
Publicity Committee Chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH
Executive Director.

In response to preventive measures of COVID-19, COSH
delivered drama performance in various modes. Apart
from regular touring at schools and broadcasting to
classrooms via campus TV, the schools could arrange
live streaming for which actors interacted with students
through streaming softwares, or the pre-recorded
version and utilize the interactive learning kit for
extended activities. This year, over 22,000 students
and teachers watched the drama performance through
different modes.

To accommodate the teaching and learning needs of
students, an enriched interactive learning kit, including
the “Smoke-free Dream Adventure” gamebook,
souvenirs, online smoke-free minigames and short
videos, was introduced. Teachers could utilize the
learning kit to deliver smoke-free messages in general
studies, moral education or life education online or
offline. Students were encouraged to revisit the smoke-
free messages with parents after watching the drama to
build a smoke-free family. Students could also utilize the
acquired knowledge and creativity in the “Smoke-free
Dream Adventure Message Card Design Competition”.
Over 1,366 entries were received in this year.

Programme Website: www.educationtheatre.hk
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Liaison with Academia and Community
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Meetings with Executive Council Members
and Legislative Council Members

To improve tobacco control, COSH advocates to enhance
efforts in various spectrums, including scientific research,
promotion and publicity, education, legislation and law
enforcement. Among these, legislation is the utmost
important to advancement in tobacco control. COSH
continuously provides latest information of tobacco
control to the Government and the community, and
liaises with community leaders and policy makers to
advocate effective tobacco control policy. In 2022-2023,
COSH arranged 9 meetings with 22 Executive Council
members, Legislative Council members and political
parties to illustrate the effectiveness of raising tobacco tax
and recommend the adoption of the innovative tobacco
control measures in Hong Kong. COSH particularly shared
the communities’ concern about the exemption of the
intermodal transhipment of alternative smoking products,
and appealed for the persistence in safeguarding public
health and protecting our next generations.

HKU School of Nursing — Nursing
Programmes

The School of Nursing of The University of Hong Kong
is a keen advocate of smoking cessation and tobacco
control over the years. The school endeavors to provide
professional nursing training and courses on tobacco
control and smoking cessation counseling to enhance
their students’ awareness and involvement in the works of
curbing and quitting tobacco use. COSH was invited as
guest speaker to share tobacco control experience with
students of different programmes.
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On 4 April, 11 April, 5 November 2022 and 24 February
2023, Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager
delivered talks to over 500 undergraduate students and
nearly 100 master students regarding local and global
development of tobacco control and smoking cessation.
He explained the role of COSH in promoting a smoke-
free Hong Kong and its efforts in education, publicity and
advocacy works, and encouraged medical and nursing
professionals to participate in helping smokers to quit and
striving for a smoke-free environment.

Tuen Mun Chamber of Commerce -
Smoke-free Seminar

Henry TONG, COSH Chairman attended the meeting of
Tuen Mun Chamber of Commerce on 24 August 2022and
delivered a presentation to introduce COSH's smoke-
free education and promotion projects, development
and achievement of tobacco control in recent years and
highlighted the importance of tobacco control. The
Chamber and the members were appealed to join with
COSH to promote smoking cessation, with a view to
soliciting support for tobacco control policies in future.

Rotary Club of Kowloon East — Tobacco
Control Seminar

Henry TONG, COSH Chairman was invited to share the
health risks of smoking, particularly the impact of smoking
on COVID-19, as well as works of COSH in the tobacco
control seminar organized by Rotary Club of Kowloon
East on 20 September 2022. In the seminar, he illustrated
COSH's advocacy actions that contributed to the
enactment of the Smoking (Public Health) (Amendment)
Bill 2019 to ban alternative smoking products (ASPs).
He also showcased the global examples of tobacco
endgame target and the innovative tobacco control
policies to achieve it, and appealed for the immediate
implementation in Hong Kong.
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The Jockey Club School of Public
Health and Primary Care, The Chinese
University of Hong Kong — Health

Promotion Experience Sharing
Workshop

Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager was invited
by The Jockey Club School of Public Health and Primary
Care, The Chinese University of Hong Kong to give a
guest seminar titled “Strive for a smoke-free Hong Kong:
The role of COSH” to about 30 students of Bachelor of
Science in Public Health Programme and Community
Health Practice on 19 January 2023. The seminar covered
the tobacco control policies in Hong Kong and COSH'’s
work in different aspects. The experience in advocating
the total ban on all alternative smoking products were
shared as case study, in order to illustrate the advocacy
actions during policy making process, striving for the
implementation of public health measures. Students were
encouraged to engage in tobacco control related work.
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H & Date
2022/4/30

2022/5/24

2022/5/26

2022/6/10

2022/6/25

2022/9/29

2022/10/13

2022/10/19

regularly fields interviews and enquiries from different
newspapers, publications, television and radio stations,
as well as other media platforms. COSH issued the
following press releases to the media during the year:

HER Press Release
ZEgEtggREREXEREES  COSH and all sectors of community are
FA IR % 2 o glad to see the enforcement of total ban on
alternative smoking products
CREmERRA Exercise Together to Support “Smoke-

NEBMEEBREERD

free Sportswear Day” and Step Forward to
Tobacco Endgame

(0] & 258 B A IR g 5 COSH's response to the latest smoking

prevalence of Hong Kong

ZESEMMERNLE BEITIZEZ;  COSH attended sharing session on tobacco
Bk control with the Mainland and Local experts

and officials
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COSH "Smoke-free Elite Teens Programme”
nurtures future leaders Innovative activities
promote smoke-free culture

Smoke-free ambassador “Wise Mike" as
leading actor School Interactive Education
Theatre educates students on smoking
hazards and promotes smoke-free families

Calling on Women to Stay Away from
Tobacco and Embrace Joy and Beauty of a
Smoke-free Life

COSH's response to the tobacco control
policies proposed in the 2022 Policy Address
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Press Release

Reception for the 40t Anniversary of Tobacco
Control in Hong Kong

Marking the achievements in tobacco control
and taking a leap towards a tobacco-free
future

The 11t Cross-Strait, Hong Kong and Macau
Tobacco Control Conference Strengthening

ties across strait to accelerate the progress of
tobacco-free environment

Raising Tobacco Tax by 100% to Motivate
Smoking Cessation and Lessen Financial
Burden

Open Letter to Financial Secretary, Hong
Kong SAR Government Substantial and
Annual Tobacco Tax Increases Achieve
Government's Goal in Reducing Smoking
Prevalence and Work towards a Tobacco-free
Future

COSH's response to the tobacco control
policies proposed by the Budget
Welcomes tobacco tax hike but formulation
of regular tax mechanism needed

13% “Quit to Win"” Smoke-free Community
Campaign

Community-wide effort to promote smoking
cessation and smoke-free healthy lifestyle

COSH's response to legislative proposals
for transshipment of alternative smoking
products
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Mainland-Hong Kong Expert Sharing
Forum on Tobacco Control 2022

Chinese Association on Tobacco Control (CATC) and
Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department of
Health, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(HKSAR), held the Mainland-Hong Kong Expert Sharing
Forum on Tobacco Control 2022 on 10 June 2022,
with support from National Health Commission of
the People’s Republic of China, Office of Hong Kong,
Macao and Taiwan, and the HKSAR Government.
Experts from the Mainland and Hong Kong exchanged
experience, facilitating tobacco control development
and contributing to achieving healthy China.

The forum was commenced with an opening remark by
MAO Qunan, Director, National Health Commission of
China. He commended that the HKSAR Government
attached the utmost importance to the tobacco control
on all fronts, including the making of laws, enforcement,
monitor, education and smoking cessation services.
In 2021, the smoking prevalence in Hong Kong first
declined to below 10%, through continuous efforts. It
marked a milestone in tobacco control of Hong Kong
and served as a model in the country.

Henry TONG, COSH Chairman moderated a session
with LIAO Wen-ke, CATA Vice-chairman, discussing
the tobacco control progress and challenges in the
Mainland and Hong Kong. Vienna LAI, COSH Executive
Director, was one of the speakers of the session in theme
of "e-cigarettes and youth smoking”.
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Symposium for the 40" Anniversary of
Tobacco Control in Hong Kong

Priority Issues of Tobacco Control to
Achieve Zero-smoking Hazard Environment

COSH held a symposium to commemorate the
40" anniversary of tobacco control in Hong Kong
and facilitate advancement on 8 November 2022.
International and local experts were invited to introduce
effective measures and share insights on different
topics of tobacco control. Over 100 government officials,
academic, healthcare professionals, tobacco control
working partners, smoking cessation service providers
and non-governmental organizations attended the
Symposium.

Opening speeches were delivered by Prof LO Chung-mau,
Secretary for Health, Dr Ronald LAM, Director of Health
and Henry TONG, COSH Chairman. The Symposium
consisted of three sessions respectively moderated by
Prof Samuel WONG, Director, JC School of Public Health
and Primary Care, The Chinese University of Hong Kong,
Prof Andrew CHAN, President, Greater Bay Area Business
School and Dr Donald LI, Immediate Past President, World
Health Organization of Family Doctors. The first session
invited Dr YIN Xi, Coordinator, Tobacco Free Initiative,
World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for
the Western Pacific, Prof Judith MACKAY, Senior Policy
Advisor, World Health Organization and Prof Joanna
COHEN, Bloomberg Professor of Disease Prevention,
John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, United
States to share global experience in tobacco control and
strategies for tobacco endgame. In the second session,
Dr Kelvin WANG, Associate Professor, School of Nursing,
The University of Hong Kong and Dr XIONG Jing-fan,
Secretary General, Shenzhen Tobacco Control Association
discussed opportunities and challenges for collaboration
in tobacco control in the Greater Bay Area. The third
session had Dr Hana ROSS, Honorary Research Associate,
The University of Cape Town, Prof LAM Tai-hing, the
Emeritus Professor and Honorary Clinical Professor of The
School of Public Health of The University of Hong Kong
and Dr the honorable LAM Ching-choi, Member of the
Executive Council recommending priority smoke-free
measures for Hong Kong.
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The 11% Cross-Strait, Hong Kong and
Macau Tobacco Control Conference

The 11t Cross-Strait, Hong Kong and Macau Tobacco
Control Conference was hosted by COSH on 11
November 2022 in webinar format, under the theme
“Achieve Smoke-free Goals, Towards a Zero-Hazard
Environment”. Some 40 tobacco control working
partners including government officials, academia,
public health professions and representatives of non-
government organizations, were invited to share their
achievements and goals while exploring the ways to
comprehensively strengthen tobacco control policies in
line with The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco
Control, to follow the international trend of combating
tobacco epidemic for tobacco-free environment.

Officiating guests of opening ceremony included MAO
Qunan, Director General, Department of Planning and
Information of National Health Commission, Prof LO
Chung-mau, Secretary for Health, HKSAR Government,
HE Qinghua, First-level Inspector of the Disease
Prevention and Control Bureau of National Health
Commission, Dr Ronald LAM Man-kin, Director of
Health, HKSAR Government Prof HU Dayi, President of
Chinese Association on Tobacco Control, Dr CHEANG
Seng-ip, Convener of Macao Tobacco Control Alliance,
Henry TONG, COSH Chairman, Dr Johnnie CHAN,
COSH Vice-chairman and Vienna LAIl, COSH Executive
Director.

MAQO Qunan, Director General, Department of Planning
and Information of National Health Commission,
mentioned in his speech that the Conference played
a pivotal role in bringing together tobacco control
practitioners to share experiences which helped
accelerate progress in tobacco control development
across four regions. He also encouraged participants
to come together to protect the people from tobacco
smoke in the light of experience, so as to make greater
contribution to its development.
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In the opening address, Henry TONG, COSH Chairman,
remarked that four regions across the strait could gain
insights from each other in many aspects. He wished
to enhance the cooperation in particular focusing on
the protection of vulnerable groups from the harm of
secondhand smoke and third-hand smoke as well as
preventing tobacco use among non-smokers.” Prof
LO Chung-mau, Secretary for Health of the HKSAR
Government, Dr Ronald LAM Man-kin, Director of Health
of the HKSAR Government, Prof HU Dayi, President
of Chinese Association on Tobacco Control and Dr
CHEANG Seng-ip, Convener of Macao Tobacco Control
Alliance also delivered keynote speech respectively.

The plenary sessions were arranged afterwards. Guest
speakers spoke on their experiences, namely Updates
on Tobacco Control in Four Regions and Implications
of alternative smoking product regulations on tobacco
control. Other symposiums covered a wide range of
topics, namely Smoke-free education and promotion via
digital and social media, Smoking cessation programmes
and assistance to quit, Engaging the community to strive
for a smoke-free environment, Research, education
and policy advocacy on alternative smoking products,
Implementation of Framework Convention on Tobacco
Control and MPOWER measures, and COVID-19,
innovative research and policies to reduce tobacco use.

A physical event was also specially arranged by Chinese

Association on Tobacco Control in Beijing to simulcast
the Conference.
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Fellowship Programme on Tobacco
Control 2022

World Health Organization (WHO) Collaborating Centre
for Smoking Cessation and Treatment of Tobacco
Dependence, Department of Health, Hong Kong SAR
organized the “Fellowship Programme on Tobacco
Control 2022" virtually from 5 to 9 December 2022. The
5-day programme aimed to provide training for the
tobacco control personnel of governments and non-
government organizations in Western Pacific countries.
Tobacco control organizations in Hong Kong and
Western Pacific region participated in the programme.
Henry TONG, COSH Chairman, was invited to deliver
a presentation titled “"Role of Non-governmental
Organization in Advocacy for Legislation Proposed
for Banning of Alternative Smoking Products”, which
highlighted the experience and challenges of motivating
the total ban on alternative smoking products.

Structured according to MPOWER laid down by the
WHO, the programme assisted participants to master
tobacco control skills through a comprehensive overview
of the latest tobacco control measures and experience
sharing through talks, presentations and workshops.
Participants’ knowledge of legislation, enforcement,
advocacy and publicity, and development and
evaluation of cessation programme were strengthened.

International and local experts, including Dr YIN Xi,
Coordinator, Tobacco Free Initiative, WHO Regional
Office for the Western Pacific, Prof Judith MACKAY,
WHO Senior Policy Advisor, Ms Therese SHUMAKER,
Programme Director, Tobacco Treatment Specialist
Training Programme, Nicotine Dependence Center,
Mayo Clinic, the United States, Dr Becky FREEMAN,
Associate Professor, School of Public Health, The
University of Sydney, Australia, Prof LAM Tai-hing, the
Emeritus Professor and Honorary Clinical Professor of
The School of Public Health of The University of Hong
Kong and Dr Homer TSO Winner of WHO Director-
General's Award for Leadership in Global Tobacco
Control were invited to share their experience and latest
development in tobacco control.
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COSH makes broad use of the website and new media
to enhance its transparency and publicize smoke-free
messages to different segments of the community.

Website and E-Newsletter

COSH website (www.smokefree.hk) is developed to
inform the public about the activities of COSH as well as
the information related to smoking and health, including
multimedia resources, scientific reports, updated news
about tobacco control development, etc.

Four feature stories in specific topics of tobacco
control were produced in 2022-2023, covering the
environmental hazards of tobacco products, the tobacco
endgame, the ban on displaying tobacco products at
point-of-sale, and the plain packaging. The feature
stories received totally about 211,000 views on COSH
website and COSH's social media platforms.

To facilitate different segments of the community
including persons with disability to access to tobacco
control information, COSH website adopted the
accessibility design and attained the Triple Gold
Award of the "Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme”
organized by the Hong Kong Internet Registration
Corporation Limited. Meanwhile, elementary smoke-
free information is also available in eight languages
other than Chinese and English, including Bahasa
Indonesia, Hindi, Nepali, Punjabi, Tagalog, Thai, Urdu
and Vietnamese.
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www.facebook.com/smokefreefamily

From 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023, COSH website
recorded over 630,000 page views. The top viewed
pages included smoking hazards, methods of cessation
and feature story.

Besides, e-newsletter is released regularly covering
the recent findings on smoking hazards and smoking
cessation across the globe, local and international
development on tobacco control and the latest activities
of COSH. The public is welcomed to subscribe the
e-newsletter through COSH website.

Social Media Platforms

As social media becomes a popular information source,
three social media platforms had been established
with respective focuses to engage the public in a
discussion on the smoking hazards through hot issues
in the society, and to disseminate smoke-free messages
among the public with the use of vivid and interesting
post content, visuals and videos.

Facebook Page “Smoke-free Family”
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The page releases the latest news on tobacco control,
hazards of smoking, tips and benefits of smoking to
appeal the public to formulate smoke-free family for
health to protect family members and friends from
secondhand smoke hazards. Details of COSH's activities
also included.



EERS A TKERK | Instagramik B

IR AEERT A KB | (@wisemike_hk)
WE—FAEHE  FRH M —R—FH
EIEEEIE  BRERERRNEHEENNR
ERETEAMNEESRAHES IR
FETEENERRER -

@ Wisemike hk BKEF | O§J

www.instagram.com/wisemike_hk

[fEIEZ o 15 ]| Facebook®EEH

A S A& [/B=2.0] Facebook®EH + WH2023
FOoORERRB [EIED o 5] - AMEEIEIF
BEERE  BAR-—RBGIEEREERT
Ko REBRER TR T R IEE &R E
EEMNRETE  BETRIISEEBINRIZEE
o

[ Smokefreegogoal [ EIES o 15 | | Q)

https://www.facebook.com/smokefreegogoal

SEE) Events

Smoke-free Ambassador Instagram Account
"Wise Mike"

The account (@wisemike_hk) shares the act and move
of "Wise Mike"”, Smoke-free Ambassador in his smoke-
free life with the public, clarifies the myths of smoking
and addresses the smoking harms to promote the goal
for zero smoking hazards in the living environment. He
also reminds the public that all forms of tobacco use are
hazardous to health.

Facebook Page “Smoke-free ® Go Goal”

The page, formerly known as “Smoking Hazards 2.0",

was rebranded in February 2023 with a vision to the
implementation of innovative policies in achieving
a smoke-free era. The page continues to promote
public awareness of tobacco control and uncover the
misleading promotion strategies of tobacco industry,
so as to encourage public support for strengthening
tobacco control measures in Hong Kong.
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Enquiry on Smoking and Health

The public can acquire information about smoking and
health, smoke-free legislations in Hong Kong, methods
and benefits to quit smoking and details of COSH’s
programmes via different means including telephone,
fax or email, etc. The public can also make enquiries,
suggestions and complaints regarding smoking or other
related issues. Any feedback, suggestions or complaints
received will be responded instantly or/and referred
to the government departments and organizations
concerned respectively.

Between 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023, COSH received
about a hundred of enquiries from the public requesting
for information, making suggestions and complaints.
Major categories of cases included complaints on
smoking offenses and related enforcement actions,
enquiries about COSH and smoke-free projects, and
application for smoke-free resources and promotion
materials.

Resource Centre

COSH Resource Centre had been set up to provide a
variety of information related to smoking and health.
Collections of the Resource Centre include local and
international periodicals, books, research papers,
conference proceedings, reference materials, statistics,
education materials and audio-visual materials about
tobacco hazards, passive smoking, smoking cessation
and tobacco control legislation. Members of the public
can also access to the research reports, smoke-free
promotion and education materials such as leaflets and
posters.

Visitors of the Resource Centre include students,
teachers, parents, researchers, medical and healthcare
practitioners, tobacco control organizations and public

health professionals. Visits from local and overseas
delegations will also be received.



WrzeE B 5T &

Research Projects

PEIER R FAE2022

ZEERTEHHEEBIEEBROR N ER
MEREAEERENER » 52012-20135F F#E
BEETIEEBRAT] - HREL—EAR
RUENBRETT - B2 W EARREERZEN
BiE - BREWEERE  ME - ZB_FENS
T RBEEERRNERSE

AT R A 2022502022962 A &7 A HAM -
NREEEEFREFIEAEAET ZTEE
LA BREEREER A ALFEER ABRE
BB RETEES T - EABERESF -
[RE|HEERANEREER  BREESRE
B BFE - NAEERR(NAE) RS

W REHIE R E)5,164 8 X35 E B1E1,7208 16T
W fEE - 1,725 B MIEE K&1,7194 38 5 R &
HoBRTROMBE  XHEREESERER
FEIrRFEZLEE - AEAERIE2021F 8
EBAOD M RREAETINE - T24
R

1,719%
1,720%

RS E

Never smokers
il EREH
Number of E

x-smokers
Respondents
R EE

Current Smokers

1,725% /

SEE) Events

Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey
2022

To monitor the effectiveness of tobacco control policy
in Hong Kong and keep track of the public opinions on
the policy, COSH has conducted the Tobacco Control
Policy-related Survey every year since FY2012-2013. It
is a representative cross-sectional survey, and covers
a wide scope of topics related to smoking and health,
including pattern of smoking and cessation, secondhand
smoke exposure, and public opinions on tobacco control
measures, etc.

Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2022 was
conducted via landline and mobile phone interviews
between February and July 2022. COSH commissioned
the School of Nursing and School of Public Health of
The University of Hong Kong to develop questionnaires
and perform data analysis. Hong Kong Public Opinion
Research Institute Limited conducted the interviews.
Smoking refers to the use of any smoking products,
including conventional cigarettes, electronic cigarettes
(e-cigarettes) and heated tobacco products (HTPs) and
cigars, etc.

Survey results

The sample consisted of 5,164 randomly selected
respondents, including 1,720 never smokers, 1,725 ex-
smokers and 1,719 current smokers. In addition to core
questions, respondents were divided into different
subsamples to answer different non-core questions.
Data were weighted to the Hong Kong population in
2021. Key results are shown below:
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Use of smoking products

The prevalence of current use was highest for
conventional cigarettes (9.5%), followed by cigars
(1.1%), e-cigarettes (1.0%), hand-rolled/pipe
tobacco (0.9%) waterpipe tobacco (0.6%), and HTPs
(0.5%).

On average, current cigarette smokers consumed
14.4 cigarettes per day. Nearly two-thirds (64.0%)
had heavier nicotine dependence that they smoked
the first cigarette within half an hour after waking

up.

In current cigarette users, 41.2% had a flavoured
cigarette as their first cigarette, with menthol
(31.6%) being most common.

In current cigarette users, 46.0% used flavoured
cigarettes. Menthol (36.6%), fruit (5.1%), and
menthol and fruit (2.3%) flavour were the most
common flavours.

Hong Kong has banned the import, promotion,
manufacture, sale and possession for commercial
purposes of alternative smoking products (ASPs)
since 30 April 2022. In current cigarette smokers,
prevalence of HTP use dropped slightly from
4.5% before the ban to 4.2% after the ban; while
e-cigarette use dropped from 13.2% to 7.5%.
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Smoking cessation

o More than half (62.5%) of current smokers had ever
made a quit attempt, including 19.2% trying to quit
in the past 12 months.

. Nearly one-fifth (18.0%) of current smokers had ever
used smoking cessation services.

e One-tenth (11.5%) of current smokers intended
to use nicotine gum, patch, or lozenge to quit
smoking, followed by Chinese medication (9.3%),
acupuncture (7.5%), smoking cessation medication
(7.4%) and counselling (6.6%).

Secondhand smoke and thirdhand smoke exposure

e In all respondents, 27.1% were exposed to
secondhand smoke (SHS) at home from inside or
outside the home.

e Nearly one-fifth (19.4%) of employed respondents
were exposed to SHS from smoking within 3 meters
at workplace in the past 7 days.

. In all respondents, 32.2% were exposed to SHS
from smoking within 3 meters at locations other
than home and workplace. The most common
location of exposure was streets (78.1%), followed
by parks and other resting areas (13.3%), public
transport stops (12.4%) and areas around rubbish
bins (10.3%).

. In all respondents, 12.2% were exposed to
thirdhand smoke (THS) at home in the past 7 days
and 17.6% were exposed to THS in indoor areas
besides home.
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Regulations on cigarette packaging

Majority (96.3%) of current smokers noticed the
pictorial health warnings (PHWSs) on cigarette packs
in the past 30 days. The prevalence was relatively
lower in never smokers (48.8%) and ex-smokers

(53.4%).

In current smokers who saw the PHWs in the past 30
days, 46.7% thought about the harms of smoking,
15.6% thought about quitting smoking and 7.6%
held back from smoking upon seeing PHWs.

Plain packaging standardizes and simplifies the
packaging of tobacco products. Trademarks,
graphics and logos are not allowed on cigarette
packs, while brand names can only be displayed in a
standard font, colour and location on the package.
Nearly half (45.5%) of respondents supported plain
packaging.
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Tobacco advertising and promotion

o About three-fourths (71.8%) of respondents were
exposed to point-of-sale tobacco product displays
in the past 30 days, of which 61.2% perceived the
displays as advertising and 58.3% supported to ban
the displays.

Tobacco tax

e Over three quarters (76.4%) of respondents
supported tobacco tax increase in 2023, of which
56.6% of the supporters agreed that the increase
should be at or above inflation.

e Two-thirds (66.5%) of respondents supported
annual tobacco tax increase, of which 62.9% of the
supporters agreed that the increase should be at or
above inflation.

o Two-thirds (66.5%) of current smokers would quit
smoking or reduce smoking at least by half if
the cigarette price increased. On average, they
suggested to raise the cigarette price to HK$116.9
per pack (median was HK$100 per pack) to motivate
smoking cessation.
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Extension of statutory no smoking areas

Extension of statutory no smoking areas gained
strong public support. For instance, respondents
supported to extend no smoking areas to public
transport stops (94.8%), queues in public places
(94.6%), area within 10 meters of schools or tutorial
centres (90.8%), area within 3 meters of children
in public places (89.7%), private cars with children
inside (88.6%), etc.

Most (82.4%) respondents agreed that smoking
while walking on streets should be banned.

Most (84.9%) supported to increase manpower to
carry out law enforcement towards individuals who
smoke in no-smoking areas.

Over half (56.9%) of respondents agreed that venue
managers should be liable to penalty for smoking
offences in statutory no-smoking areas.

Nearly four-fifths (78.0%) of respondents supported
to increase the fixed penalty for smoking offences.
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Opinions on future tobacco control policies

o Over half (56.0%) the respondents agreed to ban
flavours in tobacco products, including menthol
and fruit flavours.

e Half the respondents supported to ban the sales
(50.8%) and use (51.2%) of any smoking products in
Hong Kong, including cigarettes.

e Over half (61.5%) respondents agreed to ban
smoking if the smoking prevalence of Hong Kong
decreases to 5% or below.

o Over half (56.1%) the respondents agreed to ban
smoking in people born in or after 2022.

To advocate for appropriate measures and raise public
awareness duly, COSH released the preliminary findings
on specific topics in different occasions. Other key
results will also be released duly when appropriate.
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Aims and Strategies

To uphold sustainable development, COSH devises
internal and external strategies to promote a sense
of responsibility regarding environmental protection.
To achieve this, COSH has adopted the following
environmentally friendly policies:

e Enhance efficiency of energy consumption;

° Reduce paper consumption;

e  Reduce waste and recycle; and

° Enhance awareness on environmental protection.
Environmental Protection Measures
Enhance Efficiency of Energy Consumption

The Secretariat conserves energy by ensuring that staff
members switch off lights, air-conditioners, computers,
the monitors of computers, photocopiers, printers and
other electrical appliances immediately after use. Office
room temperature is generally maintained at 25.5C as
recommended by the Government.

Energy efficiency is one of the considerations when
purchasing electrical appliances. IT equipment with
automatic energy saving functions has also been used,
such as computers, the monitors of computers and
printers. In addition, the Secretariat uses LED lamps.

Reduce Paper Consumption

To disseminate updated smoke-free information to the
public, promotional materials such as posters, leaflets
and brochures are produced. COSH also maintains
frequent communications with the community and
government departments. To reduce the consumption
of paper, the following measures are in place:

° Use of e-mail and intranet for internal and external
communication and transfer of document instead
of memorandums, letters and hardcopies, where
possible;
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e Utilization of electronic-fax system and electronic
document management system to reduce the
amount of printing;

e  Review the needs for quantity of printing materials
regularly while also gradually reducing the size
and quantity of printed promotional materials and
transitioning to the use of environmentally friendly

paper;

° The tobacco control information, promotional
materials and publications have been uploaded to
COSH website for public access in order to reduce
the demand for hardcopies;

e Use electronic invitation and greeting cards in
replacement of printed copies for events and on
festive occasions; and

e Use of "Print Preview" function to check the layout
and style of document before printing and use of
both sides of paper to avoid wastage.

Reduce Waste and Recycle

COSH supports waste reduction and recycling and
joins the "Computer and Communication Products
Recycling Programme” launched by the Environmental
Protection Department. The unserviceable computers
and computer accessories are delivered for recycling. In
addition, recyclable printer toner cartridges have been
used.

Unwanted papers such as documents with printing
errors or drafts of documents have been collected
for recycling. Recycling boxes have been placed at
convenient locations in the office to encourage staff
members to recycle waste paper.

Instead of paper cups and plastic cups, reusable cups
were provided for guests during meetings and visits.

Enhance Awareness on Environmental Protection

Staff members are informed on the aims and reminded
to comply with the green measures via staff meetings,
email reminders and notices.

Where applicable, service providers and working
partners are encouraged to follow the principles of
environmental protection, e.g., use of eco-friendly
materials and submission of document in electronic
format.

COSH will continue to make every endeavor to comply
with the green measures.



120

& Reports

B 2RSS
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Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

To The Council Members of Hong Kong Council on

Smoking And Health
(incorporated in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong

Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance)
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Hong Kong
Council on Smoking and Health ("the Council") set out
on pages 120 to 145, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Council as at
31 March 2023, and of its financial performance and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Council
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Information Other than the Financial
Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon

The Council members are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. The annual report is expected to be available to
us after the date of this auditor's report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Council Members
and Those Charged Governance for the
Financial Statements

The Council members are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the
Council members determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Council
members are responsible for assessing the Council's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Council members either intend to liquidate the Council
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Council's financial reporting process.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 17(5) of the Hong
Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material

misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control

relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Council's internal control.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements (conzinued)

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
Council members.

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council
members' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Council's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Council to cease to continue as a going concern.

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

PrEMEIRI - HMEREE BB T518IMWE  We communicate with those charged with governance

STEE - BETHE EXEEEIRSE - 81, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

MEEET &R HASBIESIEMEKRERM o and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

/F% ¥~~~

TEEEFTMERK  F. S Li&Co.
EEHESTED  Certified Public Accountants

& 2023F7H48  Hong Kong, 4 July 2023
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

BZE2023F3 A31 HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2023

—E-fF
(B%) (HK$) 2022
A Income
BRI Subventions from the Government of the
AL Hong Kong Special Administrative
—RREEL Region General subvention 26,805,576 26,241,200
RITHEWA Bank interest income 5,075 86
HIEBA Sundry income 3,472 4,210
26,814,123 26,245,496
o] Expenditure
BB REY Approved establishment 3 7,589,977 7,343,167
BEEET Project staff 4 1,842,085 1,937,456
EEREREH Publicity and promotion expenses 12,498,682 12,006,055
2%ER Conference expenses 359,764 13,300
2EEZELTY Reference books and periodicals - 22
WmAEHS - ZMK Office rent, rates and management fee
EEE 489,988 490,312
e RER Warehouse rent and expenses 54,901 310,952
HERREER Repairs and maintenance 242,843 6,223
BE2IERER Cleaning wages and fees 75,387 83,920
M WERRBEZITE  Depreciation on property,
plant and equipment 195,339 75,214
FREEEZINE Depreciation on right-of-use assets 2,421,561 2,823,169
Rk Insurance 92,589 81,976
= Electricity 69,389 66,663
BELBHER Telephone and communication
expenses 51,508 44,020
BIGMEER Recruitment expenses 75,462 37,940
R BXRZEER Legal, professional and audit fees 32,900 41,800
NES Office equipment 26,494 6,671
L= Postage 6,350 18,017
ENRI & X A Printing and stationery 73,944 85,777
HEREZNELEH Interest expense on lease liabilities 111,351 32,988
HIEY M Sundry expenses 58,445 87,292
26,368,959 25,592,934
KEFRLR Surplus for the Year 5 445,164 652,562
FEEZHEKA Total Comprehensive Income for
the Year 445,164 652,562
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Statement of Financial Position

20233 A31H
At 31 March 2023

s 3
() (HK$) Note 2022
FRBEE Non-Current Assets
ME - BERRE Property, plant and equipment 7 692,179 575,922
FREEE Right-of-use assets 8 4,767,933 827,070
T 5460112 1,402,992
REBEE Current Assets
e MIERFE Deposits and prepayments 9 808,199 849,307
FITRBREER Bank and cash balances 821,188 472,177
1,629,387 1,321,484
W REEE Less: Current Liabilities
ERNER Accrued charges 1,254,358 1,058,896
HERE - SHHD Lease liabilities — current portion 10 2,418,713 531,993
FHREE Provision for annual leave entitlements 344,901 338,953
EREEEBZAFEL  Adjusted surplus for the year 11
AERR refundable to the Department
of Health 374,971 262,530
4,392,943 2,192,372
hBAER ] Net Current Liabilities (2,763,556) (870,888)
BWEERABERS Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 2,696,556 532,104
¥RBEE Non-Current Liabilities
HEaE-REAHN Lease liabilities — non-current portion 10 (2,390,005) (295,746)
BEE Net Assets 306,551 236,358
ER: representing:
2R EH% Accumulated Surplus 306,551 236,358
ZEEMN2023FE7 A48 @B REMEZEMMNE  The financial statements on pages 120 to 145 were
1208 F 145 B Rk © approved and authorized for issue by the Council on
4 July 2023.

e

T

HIETE SEEMHAK 4+ PR AEKHE L SBS, BBS A4+ REE L+
LZEEXFE ZEEEIEFE mH=

Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, MH, JP Dr Johnnie CHAN Chi-kau, SBS, BBS, JP Ms Vienna LAl Wai-yin
Chairman Vice-chairman Executive Director
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Statement of Changes in Equity

BZE2023F3 A31 HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2023

hE=2 —E-—
(%) (HKS) Note 2022
ERERt (5E) Accumulated surplus/(deficits)
FFEEER BthS Surplus/(Deficit) brought forward
BB 236,358  (153,674)

KEERBER Surplus for the year/

REEZ2EKA Total comprehensive

income for the year 445,164 652,562

JEREBREZE L Adjusted surplus refundable to

KRS the Department of Health 11 (374,971) (262,530)
KRG BER Surplus attributable to the Council 70,193 390,032
BATFEZES Surplus carried forward 306,551 236,358
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HEMER
Cash Flow Statement

BZE2023F3 A31 HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2023

—E-F
(B%) (HK$) 2022
BBEEVESRE Cash flows from operating activities
REE AR Surplus for the year 445,164 652,562
T Adjustments for:
MEHBA Interest income (5,075) (86)
FEZH Interest expense 111,351 32,988
Vs BENRECITE Depreciation on property, plant and
equipment 195,339 75,214
FREEEZITE Depreciation on right-of-use assets 2,421,561 2,823,169
LBECEBRI 2 2 ER% Operating surplus before working capital
changes 3,168,340 3,583,847
e MFERNFIE 2B Decrease in deposits and prepayments 41,108 147,840
FENMER 2R Increase/(Decrease) in accrued charges 195,462 (119,633)
FRERB2EM Increase in provision for annual leave
entitlements 5,948 50,957
 BEEBMEL RS Net cash generated from operating activities 3,410,858 3,663,011
RETHZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
BAME « WBELXRE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (311,596) (466,500)
2 UF B Interest received 5,075 86
 BARBMEMZFRE  Netcash used in investing activities (306,521) _ _(466,414)
BEEBIRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BHRBIRAEE Surplus refunded to the Department of Health (262,530) (491,382)
SNHERS 2 ERLEHD Capital element of lease rentals paid (2,381,445) (2,872,872)
ENEERS 2R S5 Hm Interest element of lease rentals paid (111,351) (32,988)
 BAEDAERZFRE  Netcashusedinfinancing activities  (2,755,326)  (3,397,242)
BWeNESZBE 2 FEIN,  Netincrease/(decrease) in cash and
OR) cash equivalents 349,011 (200,645)
FOReRReFEETF Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year 472,177 672,822
FEBe MR EELET Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the year 821,188 472177
REMNREEELEFIM Analysis of the balances of cash and cash
equivalents
RITRIRG &R Bank and cash balances 821,188 472,177
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BZE2023F3 A3 HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2023

A
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Genera

The Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health
("the Council") is an organization incorporated
under the Hong Kong Council on Smoking and
Health Ordinance on 1 October 1987.

The office address of the Council is at Unit 4402-
03, 44t Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Principal Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"), and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and
revised HKFRSs that are first effective for
the current accounting year of the Council.
The application of new and revised HKFRSs
has no material effect on the results and
financial position of the Council for the
current and prior accounting years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (ontinueq)

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation (continued)

The Council has not early adopted new and
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for
the current accounting year. Explanation of
this is included in Note 15.

The preparation of the financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognized in the
period in which the estimates is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Revenue recognition

(i)  Government subventions are recognized
as income over periods necessary to
match them with the related costs they
are intended to compensate, on a
systematic basis when there is reasonable
assurance that the Council will comply
with the conditions attaching of them
and the subventions will be received.
Government subventions received before
the revenue recognition criteria satisfied
are recognized as a liability.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (ontinueq)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(i) Bank interest income is recognized as
it accrues using the effective interest
method.

Foreign currencies translation

The Council's functional currency and
presentation currency are Hong Kong dollars.
Transactions arising in foreign currencies are
converted at exchange rates approximating
to those ruling at transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the end of the reporting period are
translated at rates of exchange approximating
to those ruling at that date. All exchange
differences are dealt with in surplus or deficit.

Impairment losses

At the end of each reporting period, where
there is any indication that an asset, including
items of property, plant and equipment, and
right-of-use assets is impaired, the recoverable
amount of the asset should be estimated.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. If the recoverable amount is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognized to reduce the asset to
its recoverable amount. Such impairment
losses are recognized in surplus or deficit.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss should not
result in the asset's carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined has
no impairment loss been recognized in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to surplus or deficit in the year in
which the reversals are recognized.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (ontinueq)

(e) Property, plant and equipment

(f)

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less any subsidies received or
receivable, accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the
cost of property, plant and equipment
less subsidies received or receivable and
accumulated impairment losses over their
estimated useful lives using a straight-line
basis at the following rates:

Leasehold over unexpired period
improvements of lease

Furniture and fixtures 25 percent per annum

Office equipment 25 percent per annum

Lease

The Council assesses at contract inception
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Council applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Council recognizes lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-
of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (ontinueq)

(f)

Lease (continued)

Lease liabilities are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include
the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Council and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Council exercising the option to terminate.
The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognized as
an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Council uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g. a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (ontinueq)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Lease (continued)

The Council applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term
leases of buildings (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets.

When the Council enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the Council decides
whether to capitalize the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognized as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Deposits

Deposits are initially recognized at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortized cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Accrued charges

Accrued charges are initially recognized at
fair value and thereafter stated at amortized
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.
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2. TEETBE#)

(i)

(4)
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (ontinueq)

(i)

()

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and deposits with banks within 3 months
to maturity from date of deposit.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognized when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements,
related party includes a person and an entity as
defined below:

(i) A person or a close member of that
person's family is related to the Council if
that person:

(a) has control or joint control of the
Council;

has significant influence over the
Council; or

(c) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Council.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies «ontinvea)

(k) Related parties (continued)

An entity is related to the Council if any of

the following conditions applies:

(a)

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Council
or an entity related to the Council.
If the Council is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Council.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(a) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity.

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Council.

3. Approved Establishment

—_E-
(BE) (HK$) 2022
¥re MoER Salaries and allowances 7,384,116 7,100,767
RIE S K Mandatory provident fund
contributions 189,836 196,382
F R Provision for annual leave
entitlements 16,025 46,018
7,589,977 7,343,167
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4. IMHET 4. Project Staff
—ZF=-=
(%) (HK$) 2022
He Salaries 1,775,169 1,849,165
B e N Mandatory provident fund
contributions 76,993 83,352
FROBEBRIE), HiE Provision for annual leave
entitlements (written back)/made (10,077) 4,939
1,842,085 1,937,456
5. NEEAR 5. Surplus for the Year
RNEERREHRTINER : Surplus for the year is stated after charging the

following items:

—F-—
(B%) (HK$) 2022
8 T A Staff costs * 9,492,542 9,341,103
T MIEFREAEMSE  Rentals of land and buildings held
FH under short-term lease = 204,000
& B3 E M TR KR 5T 2 3k s K i including contribution of HK$266,829 (2022: HK$279,734) to
266,8297T (20224 : &#279,7347T) defined contribution provident fund scheme.

6. ZESHENMNE 6. Council Members’ Remuneration
rEMBELZEEKENAFERNETRE None of the Council members received any
(A [A] 2N & 12 £ AR 755 T U BR B & (2022 4F - remuneration in respect of their services to the
) o Council during the year (2022: Nil).

136



#R&E Reports

7. Y15 - BEREE 7. Property, Plant and Equipment
HENE B BOE
HRIE R%E B4 ] 88
Leasehold Furniture Office
(%) (HKS) improvements and fixtures equipment Total
A Cost
R2021E3A318 At 31 March 2021 36,305 182,831 702,255 921,391
NE Additions 150,340 106,200 209,960 466,500
R20253A318 At 31 March 2022 186,645 289,031 912,215 1,387,891
RE Additions - - 311,596 311,596
s Disposal - - (3,358) (3,358)
 PUOBEEMA MSIMach2 ook . A L 12045 149129
ZRNE Accumulated depreciation
R2021E3A318 At 31 March 2021 36,305 122,650 577,800 736,755
HE02F3A31H1LFE  Charge for the year ended
iR 31 March 2022 9,487 20,077 45,650 75,214
R02F3A318 At 31 March 2022 45,792 142,721 623,450 811,969
HENFIANALFE  Charge for the year ended
iR 31 March 2023 19,627 44,009 101,703 195,339
bR e Written-back on disposal - - (3,358) (3,358)
| RsESAME  MSIMech22 nae Mors mes o 1003950
REFE Net book value
R2023%E3A31H At 31 March 2023 91,226 102,295 498,658 692,179
R2022F3A318 At 31 March 2022 140,853 146,304 288,765 575,922
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8. EHBEEE

8. Right-of-use Assets

(%) (HK$)
B 2R Cost
202163 H31H At 31 March 2021 8,561,818
NE Additions 902,258
GEN-WENE Written off upon expiry of lease (8,561,818)
202243 A31H At 31 March 2022 902,258
NE Additions 6,362,424
 M2023%3A331H At31March2023 7,264,682
ZENE Accumulated depreciation
20213 A31H At 31 March 2021 5,813,837
BHE2022F3H31H IEFERTR Charge for the year ended
31 March 2022 2,823,169
GEN-AENE Written off upon expiry of lease (8,561,818)
202293 H31H At 31 March 2022 75,188
BHZE2023F3H31BIEFEFIE Charge for the year ended
31 March 2023 2,421,561
M2023%3A/31H  At31March2023 2,496,749
R [ FHE Net book value
202343 A31H At 31 March 2023 4,767,933
202293 H31H At 31 March 2022 827,070

9. BERBNKEA 9.

BHEeR —FRKEZES BBE
540,8987T (2022 F : ¥ 540,8987T) -
Y& 5 FRIE 75 #5267,301 7T (20224F : K
266,959 B ER—FAZHEAER -

Deposits and Prepayments

The amount of deposits expected to be recovered
after one year is HK$540,898 (2022: HK$540,898).
The prepayments in sum of HK$267,301 (2022:
HK$266,959) are expected to be recognized as
expenses within one year.
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10. Lease Liabilities

=S
(B%) (HK$) 2022
F LR Balance at beginning of the year 827,739 2,798,353
FEREENTEIEE Present value of the lease payments 6,362,424 902,258
FESH Interest expense 111,351 32,988
SRBEENR Lease payment made (2,492,796) (2,905,860)
FRER Balance at end of the year 4,808,718 827,739

HERBEFBHRKRFIIRAT

Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of
financial position as follows:

() (HK$)
= HIE D Current portion 2,418,713 531,993
R EIERD Non-current portion 2,390,005 295,746
4,808,718 827,739
RIEHRIBEESONZ 2HEEGEZ The maturity profile of the lease liabilities, as at
FHERIT ¢ the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual payments, was as follows:
B F
(B%) (HK$) 2022
RMEE Carrying amount 4,808,718 827,739
BHBR S METE Total contractual cash flow
—EERKEMT S —FA - Within one year or on demand 2,492,796 309,600
— iR —FELRME — More than 1 year but less than
2 years 2,415,396 541,800
4,908,192 851,400
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11. Adjusted Surplus Refundable to the

Department of Health

As the Department of Health does not recognize
the provision for annual leave entitlements as
expenses until actual payment is made, and
regards addition to property, plant and equipment
and lease payment as expenses during the year
without recognition of depreciation and interest
expense on lease liabilities, accordingly, for the
purpose of calculating the surplus refundable to
the Department of Health, the provision/provision
written back for annual leave entitlements,
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease
liabilities have been excluded, and the addition to
property, plant and equipment and lease payment
have been deducted.

B
(BE) (HK$) 2022
REERH Surplus for the year 445,164 652,562
o ME - BN 2 Add: Depreciation on property,
e plant and equipment 195,339 75,214
CREEECITE Depreciation on right-of-use
assets 2,421,561 2,823,169
FREME Provision for annual leave
entitlements 5,948 50,957
HEaGBZMEXH Interest expenses on lease
liabilities 111,351 32,988
B I AR R Less: Additions to property,
HRE plant and equipment (311,596) (466,500)
HERI Lease payment (2,492,796) (2,905,860)
JEREIE EZE ML Adjusted surplus refundable to
B the Department of Health 374,971 262,530
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12. 3R &R E R 12. Other Cash Flow Information
(a) METHEENEEEH (a) Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities

HEBBEH:EE10) Lease liabilities (Note 10) —E-—F
(&%) (HK$) 2022
TS Balance atbeginning of the year 827,739 2,798,353
RERERENEE : Changes from financing cash flows:
BENHEHES 2 EREHD Capital element of lease rentals paid (2,381,445) (2,872,872)
ENEERE2FE B Interest element of lease rentals paid (111,351) (32,988)
MARSREORDME  Total changes from financing cash flows  (2/492,796) (2905860
Hin#g Other changes:
HEE New lease 6,362,424 902,258
FEXH Interest expenses 111,351 32,988
BwE®gs  Totalotherchanges 6473775 935,246
FRERH Balance at end of the year 4,808,718 827,739
(b) HERESREHALE (b) Total cash flow for leases
STABRERERCEER S RHR Amounts included in the cash flow statement
AT for leases comprise the following:
(B%) (HK$) 2022
IEERR Within operating activities - 204,000
MEEEA Within financing activities 2,492,796 2,905,860
2,492,796 3,109,860
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13.2REENRESRERE

(a)

13. Financial Assets and Liabilities

TREENBEER (a) Categories of financial assets and
liabilities
—E- 4
(&%) (HK$) 2022
tHEE Financial assets
TEVEE — DR AN{E © Current assets — at amortized cost:
b Deposits 540,898 582,348
RITRIRE &R Bank and cash balances 821,188 472,177
1,362,086 1,054,525
cReEs Financial liabilities
TRE)RE IR ANE - Current liabilities — at amortized cost:
&R Accrued charges 1,254,358 1,058,896
THEaBE S Mmn Lease liabilities — current portion 2,418,713 531,993
FEREE Provision for annual leave
entitlements 344,901 338,953
EREREEZEZARFE  Adjusted surplus for the year
KRR refundable to the Department
of Health 374,971 262,530
FERHEE —RE Non-current liabilities — at amortized
FXANE cost:
HEaFE - KPHH Lease liabilities — non-current
portion 2,390,005 295,746
6,782,948 2,488,118
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13. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(c)

policies

In the normal course of the operation, the
Council does not expose to significant foreign
currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity
and price risks. Other risks are described
below:

(i) Credit risk

The Council's credit risk is primarily
attributable to cash at bank and is
insignificant because the counterparty is a
bank with high credit rating.
(ii) Liquidity risk
The Council's policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
contractual maturities of all the Council's
financial liabilities, whose carrying
amounts are equal to total contracted
undiscounted cash flows, are due within
one year.

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities are carried
at amounts not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 March 2023 and 2022. The
fair value is estimated as the present value of
future cash flows, discounted at current market
interest rate.
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14 BREEATRS

EFERAASEEREALETHNA

14.Related Party Transactions

During the year the Council undertook the

BEEBERZHUT : following transactions with related parties in the
normal course of its operation:
S

(B%) (HK$) 2022

FEEIE A B AR Remuneration for key management
personnel

FEHE TR Short-term employee benefits 2,205,634 1,923,600

BERg 121 A Post-employment benefits 18,000 18,000

2,223,634 1,941,600
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15. Possible Impact of Amendments,

New Standards and Interpretations
Issued But Not Yet Effect

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments
and new standards which are not yet effective for
the current accounting year and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These
include the following which may be relevant to the
Council.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 72 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current?

Amendments to HKAS 7, Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants?

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sales
and Leaseback?

Amendments to HKFRS 70 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
/ts Associate or Joint Venture’

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023

&4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

7 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption

The management of the Council does not anticipate
that the application of these revised HKFRSs and
HKASs will have a material effect on the amounts
recognized in the Council’s financial statements.
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UNREBENEGHRIERES

3. RERHTEHRELRTOFRE
ZHEEY -

Executive Committee

1.

To advise COSH on the strategic planning of
COSH programmes and initiatives.

To consider and endorse the budget of
COSH projects and activities.

To oversee the functioning of COSH
Secretariat, in particular staffing and financial
matters.

To oversee the information security
management of COSH.

Legislation Committee

1.

To monitor the implementation of various
tobacco control measures stipulated in the
Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance and the
Fixed Penalty (Smoking Offences) Ordinance.

To review and recommend to COSH
appropriate action on legislative matters.

To consider ways and means to promote public
awareness of the legislative requirements and
encourage their compliance.

Education and Publicity Committee

1.

To consider ways and means that can best
educate the general public on the harm
of smoking and passive smoking, and
to promote a smoke-free lifestyle in the
community.

To plan and organize territory-wide publicity
campaigns to de-normalize smoking and
promote smoking cessation.

To plan and implement education projects
to prevent children and youth from taking up
the habit of smoking.
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To oversee the production of publicity
materials such as TV commercials, posters,
leaflets, souvenirs and annual reports.

To evaluate the education and publicity
campaigns and to initiate improvements
where appropriate.

Community Liaison Committee

1.

To communicate with district and community
groups on COSH's tobacco control works and
initiatives.

To serve as a focal point for community
liaison on matters related to COSH and
tobacco control.

To partner with various community groups in
the planning and implementation of tobacco
control programmes and activities.

Information and Research Committee

1.

To collect and collate all information related
to smoking and health and to disseminate
such information through appropriate means
and networks.

To identify appropriate themes of research
and survey projects to be carried out.

To provide advice for the design of research
and surveys and the subsequent presentation
of results.

To commission out research projects; and
to invite submission of research proposals
on targeted research topics; to examine
research proposals and recommend projects
for funding to COSH.

To publicize the research/survey results and
recommend follow-up actions having regard
to such results.

To initiate and organize scientific conference,
seminars or workshops on smoking and
health research.
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1. Introduction

Smoking prevalence in Hong Kong decreases steadily in the
past few decades and dropped to 10.2% in 2019'. Although it
is one of the lowest in the world, there were still 637,900 daily
smokers in Hong Kong and in fact the smoking prevalence
had slightly rebounded from 10.0% in 2017. A large number
of smokers were threatened by smoking and half of them
were killed each year?. Increased morbidity of smoking
resulted in about 7,000 deaths each year in Hong Kong.
Smoking also accounts for a large amount of medical costs,
long-term healthcare costs and productivity loss of about
HK$5.6 billion a year (0.3% of Hong Kong GDP) in 20113,
Smoking is a highly addictive behaviour, and it is hard for
smokers with strong nicotine dependence to quit without
assistance. Free smoking cessation (SC) service provided by
various organizations is available in community. However,
current smokers seldom actively sought advices from those
service providers. Therefore, it is important to develop brief
and novel interventions to motivate and assist smokers to quit
smoking.

Hong Kong “Quit to Win” (QTW) Contest, which is a smoking
cessation competition, annually organized by Hong Kong
Council on Smoking and Health (COSH) in collaboration with
School of Nursing and School of Public Health, The University
of Hong Kong (HKU). It provides an opportunity to reach and
motivate a large number of community smokers to make
quit attempts by providing professional support, prizes and
incentives®. The contest also provides a unique platform to
conduct and evaluate the effect of randomized controlled
trials (RCTs) in order to develop and refine novel smoking
cessation interventions for public health application.
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Messages regarding the risk of smoking on COVID-19
susceptibility and severity may influence smoking and quitting
behaviours. Unverified claims that smoking can protect against
COVID-19 have been widely disseminated, especially during
the early phase of the pandemic in 2020°. Our population-
based survey found that exposure to such misinformation
was associated with increased tobacco use®. On the other
hand, observational studies in the US and UK showed that
a higher perceived risk of COVID-19 related to smoking was
associated with increased cessation-related behaviours (e.g.,
smoking reduction, quit attempts, and intentions)”®. Similar
results were also shown in our study in Hong Kong®. Several
online experiments have found that exposure to messaging
on smoking-related COVID-19 risk can increase smokers’
motivations to quit'%'". which may be mediated by fear
arousal'?, The 8" QTW showed the effectiveness of mobile
instant messaging in promoting smoking cessation'3. Our
subsequent trial showed the feasibility of using mobile instant
messaging to deliver cessation support amid the COVID-19
pandemic'?, in which access to in-person cessation services
might be constrained.

In 2020, COSH collaborated with HKU, District Council, various
district partners and supporting organizations to organize
the 11" QTW Contest. It included a two-arm, pragmatic
randomized controlled trial which compared the effectiveness
of communications on smoking-related COVID-19 risks on top
of generic cessation support using mobile instant messaging
with generic cessation support versus text messaging with
generic information on smoking hazards and quitting benefit,
in increasing abstinence on participated community smokers.



2. Methods
2.1 Recruitment

Participants were recruited from smoking hotspots in all 18
districts of Hong Kong, online platforms and calls to previous
participants. From 13 June to 30 October 2020, a total of 55
recruitment activities (booths in shopping malls, public areas
and venues provided by supporting organizations) were
organized and 4 recruitment sessions were conducted to
inmates of Correctional Services Department (CSD) in Stanley
Prison, Pik Uk Prison, Lo Wu Correctional Institution and Tong
Fuk Correctional Institution. 176 university students and
volunteers from non-governmental organizations attended
a full-day online workshop and were trained as smoking
cessation counselors. Similar to previous trials, trained
smoking cessation counselors proactively approached,
screened and recruited eligible smokers at smoking hotspots
into the QTW Contest and RCT using the “foot-in-the-
door” approach, and delivered assigned interventions to
participants. Compared with the pre-pandemic period, fewer
smokers were observed in outdoor smoking hotspots because
putting off masks for smoking was prohibited due to diseases
prevention measures. Also, recruitment booths were unable
to be held due to social distancing measures. Therefore,
online advertisements and calls to previous participants
who were failed to quit, were the contingent measures to
recruit current smokers. Those smokers enrolled by online
and phone call promotion were followed-up and screened
by smoking cessation counselors through video calls. Details
of the research method of the RCT has been published in an
international peer-refereed journal'.

Eligibility criteria for RCT participation included:

Hong Kong residents aged 18 years or above;

2. Daily smokers who smoked at least 1 stick of cigarette or
heated tobacco product (HTP) per day or used e-cigarettes
daily in the past 3 months;

Able to communicate in Cantonese and read Chinese;
Salivary cotinine level of 230 ng/ml;
Intended to quit/ reduce smoking

A o

Able to use an instant messaging mobile app for
communication

7. Currently did not participate in other smoking cessation
programmes in enrollment

Written informed consent were obtained from all eligible
participants who enrolled in the QTW Contest prior to delivery
of the assigned treatment to the participants.

A computer-generated randomization list was produced by
an independent statistician using a randomized blocking
schema (2, 4, or 6). Participants were individually assigned at
random to groups with a 1:1 allocation ratio. Blinding of the
interventionists and participants was not possible because

of the nature of the intervention. Outcome assessors and
statistical analysts remained masked until the pre-specified
analyses were completed.

At recruitment, QTW participants were given the option to
participate in two parallel programmes: the QTW Lucky Draw
Programme or Smoking Cessation Ambassadors Programme.
A total of 5 biochemically validated quitters at 3-month in
the Lucky Draw Programme won a lottery prize of HK$10,000
supermarket coupon each. Three validated quitters in
Smoking Cessation Ambassador Programme at 3-month were
interviewed and chosen by a selection committee to win
electronic appliance coupon valued at HK$25,000 (champion),
HK$15,000 (1%t runner-up) and HK$10,000 (2" runner-up).
Nominators of winners from both programmes were awarded
HK$2,000 supermarket coupon each.

2.2 Interventions and Follow-up
Intervention group:

At baseline, all participants received the face-to-face brief
interventions, including the AWARD brief advice, active
referral, and a 12-page self-help booklet at recruitment site or
video contact. AWARD-guided advice comprised the following
components: Asking about the participants’ smoking history,
Warning about the hazard of continuing smoking using the
result of saliva test and a health warning leaflet , Advising
them to quit as soon as possible, Referring them to SC
services, and Doing-it-again, i.e. to repeat the intervention;
participants who fail to quit or relapse will be encouraged to
quit again (and those who have quitted will be encouraged to
prevent relapse) during each telephone follow-up.

Participants in the intervention group received COVID-specific
advice which emphasized the risks of smoking associated
with the COVID-19. They received a health warning leaflet that
highlighted the smoking-related COVID-19 risk and be advised
to quit as soon as possible during the pandemic. Content
included the risk of respiratory infection, impaired immunity
and COVID-19 complications in smokers, i.e. 1.4- to 2.4-fold
increased risk of requiring intensive care, using ventilators
and death, as well as the higher risk of viral exposure because
of mask removal, the hand-to-mouth action of smoking, the
clustering of smokers and secondhand smoke.

They also received cessation advice via mobile instant
messaging for three months. The messaging schedule was
the same as that in the control group. The contents were
similar to those of the control group except the messages on
smoking hazards focused on smoking-related COVID-19 risk.
These messages were adopted from tweets and Facebook
posts from the World Health Organization, Centre for Health
Protection of the Hong Kong Government, and The University
of Hong Kong. Similar to our previous trials on mobile instant
messaging support, the participants of intervention group
could respond to the messages and initiate conversations
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with a research nurse to receive cessation coaching in real
time during office hours (9 am - 6 pm, Monday to Friday).
Behavioural change techniques (e.g., eliciting and answering
questions, providing feedback on current behaviours,
boosting motivation and self-efficacy) were used based on
the needs of the participants.

Control group:

Participants received AWARD-guided advice and a 12-page
self-help smoking cessation booklet which was designed by
COSH and routinely used in QTW Contests. They also received
text messages with generic cessation advice for three months
from baseline, with a tapering schedule from twice a week in
the first month to once a week in the following two months (16
messages in total). The messages included advice on smoking
hazards and quit benefits, strategies for quitting and coping,
psychosocial support, and encouragement to initiate a quit
attempt.

Non-trial group and CSD group:

Participants who joined the Smoking Cessation Ambassador
Programme, those who did not own a smartphone with an
instant messaging app installed, or those who were unable
to read or communicate in Chinese were assigned to the
non-trial group. The non-trial participants received the same
intervention as the trial group recruited from the same
recruitment sessions, To ensure the homogenous results of
community smokers, participants recruited from prisons or
correctional institutions were enrolled as the CSD Group and
were excluded from data analyses.

All participants completed the baseline questionnaire and
were followed at 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month from baseline. RCT
and non-trial participants were followed by telephone survey
and CSD participants were followed by self-administrated
questionnaire. To enhance the retention rate, an incentive
of HK$100 was given to participants who completed all four
telephone follow-up interviews. Those participants who failed
to be contacted after a maximum of seven telephone calls and
a voice message at the scheduled follow-up time points were
considered as lost to follow-up. Participants who self-reported
quit in the past seven days at 3- and 6- month follow-ups
were invited for biochemical validation. All validated quitters
received a small cash incentive of HK$500 each at 3- and
6-month follow-ups.

The primary outcome was biochemically validated abstinence
at 3-month (end of treatment) and 6-month after treatment
initiation, verified by salivary cotinine concentrations of <30
ng/mL or exhaled carbon monoxide concentrations of <4
ppm. Biochemical validations were conducted via in-person
visit and real time video call for those participants who
reported having abstained from smoking for at least seven
days at 3- and 6-month.
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The baseline socio-demographic and smoking profile
of all participants at baseline (N=1,261) were presented
descriptively. The primary and secondary outcomes were
compared between the two study groups by chi-square
tests. The primary outcomes were biochemically validated
abstinence (exhaled carbon monoxide<4 ppm and salivary
cotinine<10 ng/mL) at 3- and 6-month. The secondary
outcomes include self-reported past 7-day point prevalence
abstinence (PPA), smoking reduction rate and intervention
engagement defined as having read the instant messages or
text messages in the respective intervention condition (none/
some/all). Analyses were by intention-to-treat (ITT), such
that participants with missing data were assumed to have no
change in their smoking behaviour, and by complete case (CC),
in which participants with missing outcomes were excluded.
We also assessed participants’ use of smoking cessation
services, change in perception of quitting, quit attempt
and reasons. Withdrawal symptoms experienced, perceived
social support for quitting, perceptions and use of smoking
cessation aids provided, and perception of follow-up calls.

3. Results

A total of 55 recruitment sessions were held with over 80,770
people passers-by. Over 11,000 people made enquiries
about the QTW Contest and smoking cessation, or visited
the recruitment booth. The 176 trained smoking cessation
counselors have approached about 7,700 smokers and 17,000
non-smokers in the promotional activities and recruitment
sessions. A total of 1,340 smokers were recruited and screened
for eligibility by the smoking cessation counselors. 28 smokers
(2.1%) declined to give consent were excluded. Finally,
1,312 smokers joined the 11" QTW contest. After excluding
participants who joined the Smoking Cessation Ambassador
Programme, non-trial group (n=95) or CSD group (n=51), 1,166
(88.9%) participated in the RCT and were randomized to either
the intervention group (n=583) or the control group (n=583).

3.1 Socio-demographic characteristics

Table 1 shows among 1,261 participants, most were male
(79.8%) and aged 30-59 years (63.6%). 51.5% were married
or cohabited and 65.7% were not living with a child; nearly
two-third attained secondary education (59.6%). Nearly half
resided in rented public housing (42.1%) and had monthly
household income below HK$25,000 (40.0%); and most were
self-employed or employed (77.8%).

3.2 Smoking profile

The participants’ mean age of smoking initiation was 18.2
(SD=5.2) years, 45.6% started smoking before the age 18
(Figure 1). More than half of the participants smoked not
greater than 10 cigarettes daily (56.6%) (Figure 2). Participants
smoked 13.4 (SD=9.4) cigarettes on average.



Table 1.  Participants’ baseline demographic characteristics (N=1,261)

n (%) Total (N=1,261) | Intervention (N=583) | Control (N=583) | Non-trial (N=95)
Gender
Male 1,006 (79.8) 452 (77.5) 470 (80.6) 84 (88.4)
Female 255(20.2) 131 (22.5) 113 (19.4) 11(11.6)
Age group (years)
18-29 283 (22.4) 118 (20.2) 143 (24.5) 22 (23.2)
30-39 323 (25.6) 151 (25.9) 149 (25.6) 23 (24.2)
40-49 277 (22.0) 136 (23.3) 123 (21.1) 18 (18.9)
50-59 202 (16.0) 90 (15.4) 93 (16.0) 19 (20.0)
>60 164(13 0) 81(13.9) 71(12.2) 12(12.6)
Missing 2(1.0) 7(1.2) 4(0.7) 1(1.1)
Marital status
Single 509 (40.4) 225(38.6) 254 (43.6) 30(31.6)
Married/Cohabited 650 (51.5) 311(53.3) 282 (48.4) 57 (60.0)
Divorced/Widowed 90 (7.1) 43 (7.4) 9(6.7) 8(8.4)
Missing 12 (1.0) 4(0.7) 8 (1 4) 0(0.0)
Living with a child
No 828 (65.7) 371 (63.6) 395 (67.8) 62 (65.3)
Yes 389 (30.8) 189 (32.4) 170 (29.2) 30(31.6)
Missing 44 (3.5) 23 (3.9) 18(3.1) 3(3.2)
Education level
Primary education or below 71 (5.6) 35 (6.0) 7 (4.6) 9(9.5)
Secondary education 751 (59.6) 354 (60.7) 350 (60.0) 47 (49.5)
Post-secondary or above 400 (31.7) 170 (29.2) 193 (33.1) 37 (38.9)
Missing 39 (3.1) 24 (4.1) 3(2.2) 2(2.1)
Employment status
Student 43 (3.4) 19(3.3) 19(3.3) 5(5.3)
Self-employed/employed 981 (77.8) 455 (78.0) 460 (78.9) 66 (69.5)
Unemployed 73 (5.8) 30(5.1) 34 (5.8) 9(9.5)
Housewife 32(2.5) 17 (2.9) 12(2.1) 3(3.2)
Retired 106 (8.6) 47 (8.1) 48 (8.2) 11 (11.6)
Missing 26 (2.1) 15 (2.6) 10(1.7) 1(1.1)
Housing Condition
Public rental housing 531 (42.1) 256 (43.9) 226 (38.8) 49 (51.6)
Public housing (purchased) 167 (13.2) 71(12.2) 91 (15.6) 5(5.3)
Private housing (rented) 294 (23.3) 138 (23.7) 136 (23.3) 20 (21.1)
Private housing (purchased) 208 (16.5) 90 (15.4) 103(17.7) 15 (15.8)
Others 24(1.9) 9(1.5) 2(2.1) 3(3.2)
Missing 37 (2.9) 19(3.3) 5(2.6) 3(3.2)
Monthly household income
Less than (HK$)25,000 505 (40.0) 243 (41.7) 220(37.7) 42 (44.2)
(HK$)25,000 - (HK$)60,000 545 (43.2) 240 (41.2) 267 (45.8) 38 (40.0)
Above (HK$)60,000 166 (13.2) 75(12.9) 78 (13.4) 13(13.7)
Missing 45 (3.6) 25 (4.3) 18 (3.1) 2(2.1)
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Figure 1

Age of starting weekly smoking in all participants
(N=1,261)"
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Figure 4
Past quit attempt at baseline in all participants
(N=1,261)"
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Figure 2

' Missing data were not shown.

Daily cigarette consumption at baseline in
all participants (N=1,261)"

M Non-trial [T Total

| Intervention [ Control

60% — 551 566
50% —
40% —
30% —
20% —
10% —

0%

27 48 42 38 3133 21 31

1-10 11-20

21-30 >30
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Figure 3

Figure 5
Intention to quit at baseline in all participants
(N=1,261)"
[ Intervention [ Control [l Non-trial [ Total
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Nicotine dependence at baseline in all participants
(N=1,261)"2

| Intervention [ Control
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10% —
0%

M Non-trial [ Total

504 509 500

Light
(HSI=0-2)

Moderate
(HSI=3-4)

Heavy
(HSI=5-6)

' Nicotine dependence was measured by Heaviness of Smoking Index (HSI) items (1)
time to first cigarette of the day and (2) number of cigarettes smoked per day.
2 Missing data were not shown.
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' Missing data were not shown.

Over one-third of the participants (35.1%) smoked their first
cigarette of the day within five minutes after waking up.
Nearly half had moderate to heavy nicotine dependence
(49.6%) (Figure 3). Around half had no previous quit attempt
(47.2%) (Figure 4). Nearly half was not ready to quit within
30 days at baseline (47.8%), indicating a low intention to
quit according to the Transtheoretical Model (Figure 5). The
intervention and control groups showed similar smoking
behaviours and history.



3.3 Study outcomes
Retention rate

Figure 6 shows that of all 1,261 participants joining the
QTW Contest, 982 (77.9%), 953 (75.6%), 981 (77.8%) and 890
(70.6%) were successfully followed at 1, 2, 3 and 6 months,
respectively. The retention rates were similar between the
intervention and control groups at 1-month (77.7%), 2-month
(73.6% vs. 76.7%; P=0.22), 3-month (75.8% vs. 79.1%; P=0.18)
and 6-month (70.3% vs. 71.5%; P=0.65).

Figure 6
Retention rate of 1-, 2-, 3- and 6- month follow-ups
(N=1,261)
Intervention [ Control [l Non-trial Total
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Self-reported 7-day point prevalence abstinence rate at
3- and 6-month follow-ups

By ITT analysis, the overall self-reported 7-day point prevalence
abstinence (PPA) was 19.4% at 3-month and 17.9% at 6-month
follow-ups. Significantly, the self-reported 7-day PPA in the
intervention group is lower than in the control group at
3-month (14.8% vs. 21.8%, P<0.01), but not at 6-month (15.6%
vs. 19.4%, P=0.09). The CC analysis also corroborated the ITT
results and yielded similar results (Figure 7).

Figure 7

Self-reported abstinence rate at 3- and 6-month follow-
ups, by ITT and CC analysis
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Biochemically validated abstinence rate at 3- and
6-month follow-ups

The overall biochemically validated quit rate was 11.5%
at 3-month and 10.9% at 6-month by ITT analysis. The
biochemically validated abstinence was not significantly
different between the intervention and control groups at
3-month (9.6% vs 11.8%, P=0.22) or 6-month (9.3% vs 11.7%,
P=0.18) (Figure 8).

Figure 8

Biochemically validated abstinence rate at 3- and
6-month follow-ups, by ITT and CC analysis
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ITT: Intention-to-treat analysis; CC: Complete-case analysis

Smoking reduction rate at the 3- and 6-month follow-ups

By ITT analysis, the proportion of participants who cut down
their daily cigarette consumption by half or more after joining
the 11" QTW Contest was 19.2% at 3-month and 18.4% at 6-month
among those who failed to quit (Figure 9). The smoking
reduction rate is not significantly different in two groups at all
follow-ups (all P>0.05).

Figure 9

Rate of smoking reduction by at least half in smokers
at 3- and 6-month follow-ups, by ITT and CC analysis
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By ITT analysis, the overall smoking reduction or quit rate were
38.6% and 36.3% at 3- and 6-month follow-ups, respectively
(Figure 10). The smoking reduction or quit rates were lower in
the intervention than in control groups at 3-month (35.3% vs
40.3%; P=0.08), but were similar at 6-month (36.0% vs 36.9%;
P=0.76) follow-ups. CC analysis yielded similar results.

Figure 10

Rates of smoking reduction by at least half or quit at
3- and 6-month follow-ups, by ITT analysis and CC analysis
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ITT: Intention-to-treat analysis; CC: Complete-case analysis

Use of smoking cessation services at 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month
follow-ups

Throughout the entire study period, there were 417
participants (33.1%) had made a referral request for the
smoking cessation services (Table 2). The cumulative number
of referral requests were 172 in the intervention group,
compared with 204 in the control group.

Table2  Status of referral to smoking cessation

service in all participants (N=1,261)

Table3  Use of smoking cessation service (N=1,261)
n (%) Total |Intervention| Control | Non-trial
(N=1,261) | (N=583) (N=583) (N=95)
1-month| 61 (4.8) 24 (4.1) 28 (4.8) 9(9.5)
2-month| 124 (9.8) 51(8.7) 4(9.3) 19 (20)
3-month| 145 (11.5) 7 (9.8) 63(10.8) | 25(26.3)
6-month | 158 (12.5) 57 (9.8) 73(12.5) | 28(29.5)
Self-efficacy of quitting

Perceived importance to quit smoking

Among participants whose data were available at all time-
points, the mean scores of perceived importance to quit
smoking was 7.47 at baseline and 7.85 at 6-month follow-
up. Scores of the intervention group (from 7.45 to 7.52,
P=0.65) and control group (from 7.36 to 7.59, P=0.101) slightly
increased from baseline to 3-month, and the score of control
group significantly increased from baseline to 6-month (from
7.36 to 7.88, P<0.001). The mean scores in both groups were
not significantly changed from 3-month to 6-month follow-up
(P>0.05) (Figure 11).

Figure 11

Perceived importance to quit smoking (N=623)’

n (%)

Total
(N=1,261)

Intervention
(N=583)

Control
(N=583)

Non-trial
(N=95)

Had made
areferral| 417 (33.1)
request

172 (29.5) |204(35.0) | 41(43.2)

Table 3 shows that 12.5% of all participants had used smoking
cessation services at least once during the 6-month period
after baseline. The cumulative prevalence of smoking cessation
service use was similar in the intervention group and the
control group at 1-, 3- and 6-month follow-ups (all P>0.05), but
showed significant difference at 2-month follow-up (P<0.001).
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Intervention Control =@= Non-trial Total
9 87
85 834 823 —0
¢ 759 788
s5 L4 761 785
S s 765
7 736 752
6.5
6 -
Baseline 3-month 6-month
P value for within-group
comparisons P value for between-
group comparisons
Intervention Control
Baseline to 3-month 0.650 0.101 0.644
3-month to 6-month 0.402 0.024 0.659
Baseline to 6-month 0.220 <.001 0.243

' From 0 (not important at all) to 10 (very important); missing data excluded.



Perceived difficulty to quit smoking

In participants whose data were available at all time-points,
the mean score of perceived difficulty to quit smoking
increased from 6.98 at baseline to 7.75 to 3-month and 7.68
at 6-month. In both RCT groups, the scores significantly
increased from baseline to 3-month (7.2 to 7.81 P<0.001; 6.89
to 7.74, P<0.001), also from baseline to 6-month (7.2 to 7.86,
P<0.001; 6.89 to 7.46, P<0.001). There was no notable change
of mean score from 3-month to 6-month in both groups.
No significant difference was found in the mean score of
perceived difficulty to quit smoking between the intervention
and control groups (all P>0.05) (Figure 12).

Figure 12

Perceived difficulty to quit smoking (N=623)’
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3- month to 6-month 0.713 0.057 0.647
Baseline to 6-month <.001 0.002 0.042

" From 0 (not difficult at all) to 10 (very difficult); missing data excluded.

Perceived confidence to quit smoking

Figure 13 indicates increases in the mean scores of perceived
confidence to quit smoking increased from 6.01 to 6.32
throughout the study period. In the RCT groups, there were
significant increases in the mean scores in the control group
from 3-month to 6-month (from 6.17 to 6.53, P=0.026), but
no significant change in the mean scores of the intervention
group. There are significant difference of the mean scores
between groups from 3-month to 6-month (P=0.038) and
from baseline to 6-month (P<0.001).

Figure 13

Perceived confidence to quit smoking (N=622)’
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Intervention Control
Baseline to 3-month 0.842 0.582 0.102
3-month to 6-month 0.905 0.026 0.038
Baseline to 6-month 0.759 0.009 <.001

" From 0 (not confident at all) to 10 (very confident); missing data excluded.

Quit attempt at 3- and 6-month follow-ups

By ITT analysis, with inclusion of quitters, the proportion
of participants with at least one quit attempt was 26.1% at
3-month and 33.8% at 6-month follow-up. The respective
rates were 19.3% and 25.5% when quitters were excluded.
The proportion of participants with a quit attempt at 3- and 6-
month were significantly higher in the control group than in
the intervention group with inclusion of quitters (P<0.01), and
the results were consistent when excluding quitters (P<0.01)
(Figure 14).

Figure 14

Quit attempt rates at 3- and 6-month follow-ups
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Among participants who made at least one quit attempt
during the study period, the leading reasons for making the
quit attempts were “concern for own health” (49.3%), followed
by “concern about family’s health” (10.3%) and “prevention of
COVID-19 infection” (9.9%) (Figure 15).

Figure 15

Withdrawal symptoms were assessed at 1-, 2- and 3-month
follow-ups. Among the participants who had at least one
quit attempt, the most common withdrawal symptoms were
“craving for tobacco” (56.1%), followed by “gaining weight/
Increased appetite” (47.2%) and “anxiety” (30.0%) (Figure 17).

Figure 17

Reasons for quit attempts in participants who had
atleast one quit attempt during the study period'
(N=426)">

Concern for own health 493%

Concern about family's health

Prevention of COVID-19 infection

Encouragement from family/
healthcare provider

Cigarettes are expensive

Commitment to the participation in
the QTW Contest

Wear a mask/Inconvenient to smoke

Concern for appearance and image

Worry about infection may worsen
theillness

Smoking is not exempted due to
mask wearing regulations

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were exclude.
2 Participants could choose more than one option.

For participants who made at least a quit attempt, the most
common methods to quit smoking were “relying on willpower”
(35.4%), “drinking water/ eating snacks” (16.9%) and “using
Nicotine Replacement Therapy” (13.4%) (Figure 16).

Figure 16

Methods of quitting in participants who had at least
one quit attempt during the study period (N=426)"2

Rely on their willpower 4%

Drinking water/eating snacks

Using nicotine replacement
therapy

Receiving counseling
through SC clinics

Stop buying cigarettes

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were exclude.
2 Participants could choose more than one option.
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Withdrawal symptoms experienced by participants
who had at least one quit attempt by 3-month follow-up
(N=426)"2

Craving for tobacco 56.1%

Gaining weight/ Increased appetite

Anxiety

Difficult to concentrate

Irritated/lose temper/angry

Cannot sleep well

Depressed

Insomnia

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
2 Participants could choose more than one option.

Perceived social support for quitting

Among the 1,027 participants who responded to 3- and/or
6-month follow-ups, the major sources of perceived support
for quitting were from “spouse/partner” (27.6%), followed by
“parent” (16.9%) and “children” (15.9%), and “friends” (14.3%)
(Figure 18). However, nearly a quarter (25.2%) of participants
perceived no social support.

Figure 18

Perceived social support for quitting in all participants who
responded to follow-ups in the study period (N=1,027)"

Spouse/partner 27.6%
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Children
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Siblings

None

' Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
2 Participants could choose more than one option.



Use and satisfaction of smoking cessation aids provided

Printed materials

Among the participants who responded to the 6-month
follow-up, most (70.8%) reported having read the printed SC
materials (Figure 19). Slightly more participants in control
group had read the printed materials (71.6% vs 71.4%, P<0.01).

On a scale of 1 (not helpful at all) to 5 (very helpful), the
mean (SD) score of perceived helpfulness of printed SC
materials was 3.8 (0.94) in participants who had ever read
printed materials at the follow-up at 6 months. The score was
significantly higher among participants in the control group
than in the intervention group (3.92 vs 3.79; P<0.001).

Figure 19

Experience of reading the printed materials at
6-month follow-up (N=888) ' 2
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Read the materials

' Participants who were lost to follow up at 6 months were excluded.
2 Missing data were not shown.

Among the participants who had never read the printed SC
materials, “not interested” was the most frequently reported
reason (30.0%), which was followed by “put the booklet aside”
(23.8%) and “too busy” (18.5%) (Figure 20).

Figure 20

Reasons for not reading the printed materials of
)1,2

participants (N=130

Not interested 30.0%
Put the booklets aside
Too busy

Lost the booklet

Perceived the booklet as not useful

! Participants could choose more than one option.
2 Participants who were lost to follow up at 6- month or with missing data were excluded.

Change in perceived susceptibility and severity of
COVID-19 infection related with smoking

The perceived susceptibility and severity were measured
by related items in all follow-ups by the scale of 0 (totally
disagree) to 10 (totally agree). Figure 21 and 22 show that
the perceived susceptibility and severity of COVID-19
infection were not significantly different between the groups
at baseline and follow-ups, except perceived severity was
higher in the intervention group than in the control group at
2 months at baseline (6.4 vs 5.9; P=0.02) and two months (7.3
vs 7.1; P=0.04). Mixed effect models showed no significant
intervention effect on the changes in perceived susceptibility
(P for group X time interaction=0.2) and perceived severity (P
for group X time interaction=0.28) from baseline through 6
months.

Our secondary analyses also showed that a greater perceived
severity of COVID-19 due to smoking was associated
with 6-month validated abstinence, adjusting for known
determinants of successful cessation. However, we did not find
a significant difference in changes in perceptions between the
two groups, which may explain the null effect on abstinence.

Figure 21

Changes in perceived susceptibility of COVID-19 due to
smoking by groups (N=409)

Intervention Control Total
8
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7.5 T4
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7 68 68 70
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| | | |
Baseline 1 month 2 month 3 month 6 month
P value for P value for
Mean difference | mean difference | group x time
between groups interaction
Baseline 0.2 0.13
1-month -0.70 0.60
2-month -0.05 0.80 0.20
3-month 0.06 0.71
6-month 0.32 0.10

' Assessed on a scale of 0 to 10, with higher scores indicating greater perceived
susceptibility
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Figure 22

Changes in perceived severity of COVID-19 due to
smoking by groups (N=406) '

Intervention Control Total
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P value for
. P value for mean .
Mean difference N group X time
difference f A
interaction
Baseline 0.50 0.02
1-month 0.21 0.47
2-month 0.22 0.04 0.28
3-month 0.03 0.82
6-month -0.28 0.06

' Assessed on a scale of 0 to 10, with higher scores indicating greater perceived severity

Intervention engagement and ratings

Table 4 shows that the proportion of participants who had
read the instant/text messages was similar between the two
groups. The perceived appropriateness of the intensity of
messages was high overall, although it was significantly lower
in the intervention group than in the control group (72.6%
vs. 73.1%, P=0.04). Similarly, the perceived usefulness of the
messages in increasing motivation to quit (2.3 vs. 2.4, P=0.02)
and quit attempts (2.2 vs. 2.4, P=0.02) was significantly lower in
the intervention group.

Almost half of the participants (49.4%) in the intervention
group had conversations with the research nurse via mobile
instant messaging, with a mean satisfaction score of 8.5 (SD-
1.9) on a scale of 0 (not satisfied at all) to 10 (very satisfied).
Being “too busy”(49.5%) and “don’t want to talk about
cessation-related topics online” (32.9%) were the two most
common reasons for not being engaged.

Compared the exposure to information on COVID-19 and
smoking between two groups, intervention group had greater
exposure than control group significantly (P<0.001). Such
differences were narrowed in 2- and 3-mouth follow-ups,
and the cumulate exposure was similar between two groups
(P=0.09) in 6-mouth follow-up.

Table4. Intervention engagement and ratings (N=1,166)
n (%) Intervention group (N=583) | Control group (N=583) P-value
Intervention engagement
Have ever read instant/ text messages 0.81
None? 111 (19.0) 113 (19.4)
Some 125 (21.4) 116 (19.9)
All 347 (59.5) 354 (60.7)
Rating of the messages
The intensity of messages was 423 (72.6) 426 (73.1) 0.04
appropriate, n (%)
The C°”tegtsit";trt“ee;f;tgsbels%”ecgﬁa(ze;)' 22(1.0) 24(1.1) 0.01
Exposure to information on COVID-19 and smoking
Baseline 192 (33.3) 207 (36.1) 0.32
1-month (cumulative) 372 (64.2) 309 (53.4) <0.001
2-month (cumulative) 426 (73.6) 388 (66.7) 0.01
3-month (cumulative) 482 (83.2) 448 (77.0) 0.008
6-month (cumulative) 489 (84.5) 470 (80.8) 0.09

2 Participants with missing data were counted as “none”in the analysis.
b Score: 0-4, higher scores indicating higher usefulness of messages.
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4. Discussion

From June to October 2020, the 11t “Quit to Win” Contest
successfully spread the smoking cessation messages in the
community by holding 55 recruitment sessions in streets and
shopping malls with the help from 110 university students,
NGO helpers and volunteers in 18 districts throughout Hong
Kong. Totally about 7,700 smokers were approached by the
smoking cessation ambassadors and over 1,260 smokers
participated in the Contest. Compared with the pre-pandemic
period, fewer smokers were observed in outdoor smoking
hotspots amid the pandemic. Therefore, online advertisements
were also used to recruit smokers, who were screened by a
cessation advisor through video calls. By intention-to-treat
analysis, the overall self-reported abstinence rate was 19.4%
at 3-month and 17.9% at 6-month for all participants. The
abstinence rate of the 11" “Quit to Win” Contest was similar to
the previous results.

A pragmatic RCT was nested within the 11" QTW Contest to
examine the effectiveness of messaging on smoking-related
COVID-19 risk in increasing smoking abstinence comparing
to generic smoking cessation messages in the real world
setting. This is the first RCT showing that additional warning
messaging about increased COVID-19 harms associated with
smoking did not increase biochemically validated abstinence
at 3- and 6-month follow-up amid the pandemic compared
with brief cessation advice. Both groups showed quite high
validated abstinence (about 10%) and yielded high levels of
intervention engagement (80% read messages and about 50%
engaged in instant messaging cessation support) than our
prior RCTs conducted under the QTW Contests. A proportion
of participants that mentioned their reasons to quit were
related with COVID-19 pandemic and anti-epidemic measures.
It suggests that COVID-19 pandemic is a teachable moment for
smoking cessation.

There are several possible explanations for the similar
abstinence rate between groups. First, our trial participants
showed relatively high levels of perceived susceptibility and
severity (mean scores=7.7 and 6.2 out of 10, respectively)
at baseline. This “ceiling effect” might have constrained the
room for increasing the risk perception level. Second, over
80% of the participants in both groups reported exposure
to information on COVID-19 and smoking from any sources
during the study period. The control group likely was exposed
to such information from other sources, such as publicity
by the local health authority and cessation services. Such
contamination might have biased the intervention effect
toward the null. Finally, participants’ ratings for the messages
were significantly lower in the intervention group than in the
control group, which suggested that messaging on smoking-
related COVID-19 risk was less preferred compared to generic
messages and cessation support. Prior qualitative studies
on mobile messaging showed that smokers may not be
receptive to messages that repeatedly emphasize the hazards
of smoking (loss-framed messages)'>'®. Further research is

warranted to determine the optimal intensity communicate
smoking-related COVID-19 risk without demotivating smokers.

The strengths of the study included the randomized trial
design conducted with a large cohort of smokers (N=1,166)
in a real-world setting with the use of an active comparison
group. Another strength was the use of biochemically
validated abstinence as the outcome with a satisfactory
participation rate despite the difficulties of conducting in-
person validation amid the pandemic. However, we did not
find a significant difference in changes in perceptions toward
smoking-related COVID-19 risk between the two groups,
which may explain the null effect on abstinence.

This study also had several limitations. First, the trial
embedded in a contest that had a fixed period of recruitment
and follow-ups. We were unable to recruit and track smokers’
cessation-related behaviour during the pandemic in the
long-term. Second, as discussed, most participants in the
control group were exposed to information on COVID-19-
related smoking risks, which might reduce the intervention
effect size, if any. However, such contamination is difficult
to control given the real-world trial design'’. Third, our
pragmatic trial used a combined intervention and cannot
discern the relative contribution of the individual intervention
components. Fourth, our trial was conducted in Hong Kong,
where the prevalence of smoking is low (9.5%) and smokers
are predominantly male'®, The generalizability of the findings
to other places is unclear.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, the 11" QTW Contest and its affiliating publicity
features, including smoking cessation counselors training,
smoke-free community promotion, community involvement,
media promotion and a trial, successfully delivered smoke-
free messages to a large number of non-smokers and
promoted smoking cessation in smokers in the Hong Kong
community. Communicating smoking-related COVID-19 risk
on top of generic cessation support via instant messaging
was not more effective in increasing smoking abstinence
than generic cessation support via text messaging. Further
research is warranted to determine the optimal intensity
to communicate smoking-related COVID-19 risk without
demotivating smokers.

6. Clinical trial Registration

Trial registry: ClinicalTrials.gov, number NCT04399967.
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1. Introduction

Smoking is the leading cause of early deaths and responsible
for approximately 7,000 deaths annually in Hong Kong,
primarily due to non-communicable diseases like cancers
and heart diseases . The World Health Organization’s (WHQO's)
global monitoring framework with objectives and measures
for preventing and managing non-communicable diseases
targets to reduce the mortality from non-communicable
disease by 25% by 2025 2. One of the goals is to reduce the
prevalence of current tobacco use in individuals aged 15 years
or above by 30% by 2025. Aligning with the goal, the Hong
Kong Government aims to reduce the smoking prevalence to
7.8% by 2025.

The Government has adopted a multifaceted tobacco
control approach, including legislation and enforcement,
public education, smoking cessation services, and taxation.
The smoking prevalence declined from 23.3% in the early
1980s to 9.5% in 2021 with a shallow slope in recent years,
indicating that substantial efforts are necessary to achieve the
smoking prevalence goal. The key tobacco control measures
implemented in the recent decade included enlargement of
pictorial health warnings (PHWs) from 50% to 85% of the two
largest surfaces of cigarette packs, and expansion of statutory
no-smoking areas to some bus interchanges at tunnel portal
areas or express highways. To prevent a new wave of smoking
epidemic due to alternative smoking products (ASPs),
the import, promotion, production, sale, and commercial
possession of electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes), heated
tobacco products (HTPs) and herbal cigarettes have been
banned since 30 April 2022. Nevertheless, the government has
yet to reveal a comprehensive plan for eradicating tobacco
use.
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“Tobacco endgame” is a notion beyond tobacco control, and
strives to eradicate the smoking epidemic. Countries that have
declared their tobacco endgame plans with an aim to achieve
5% smoking prevalence include New Zealand (2025), Finland
(2030), Canada (2035) and Netherlands (2040) 3. The Hong
Kong Council on Smoking and Health (COSH) established the
“Charter on Tobacco Endgame” with various sectors to jointly
advocate tobacco endgame and more stringent tobacco
control measures. The vision is to reduce smoking prevalence
to 5% or less as soon as possible, and then ban smoking
outright. Measures to accomplish the target prevalence
include substantial and regular tobacco tax increase,
expansion of statutory no-smoking areas, a ban on point-of-
sale (POS) tobacco product displays, and plain packaging, etc.

Surveys have been used to evaluate the effectiveness of
tobacco control policies in many countries ©%. Tobacco Control
Policy-related Survey (TCPS) is conducted every year since
2013 in Hong Kong to collect data on smoking-related issues,
such as smoking patterns, exposure to secondhand smoke
(SHS), impact of tobacco control policies, and opinions on
current and future policies. The results of TCPS have been
utilized to advocate for the ban on ASPs, tobacco tax increase,
enlargement of pictorial health warnings (PHWs) and
expansion of statutory no-smoking areas. TCPS data have also
been used to evaluate the effectiveness of tobacco control
measures.

The present report highlights the key findings of TCPS 2022,
and discusses tobacco control issues for policy advocacy in the
future. It mainly focuses on the following aspects: (1) pattern
of smoking; (2) exposure to SHS and third-hand smoke (THS);
and (3) public opinions towards tobacco control policies.



2. Methods
2.1 Study design and participants

TCPS 2022 was a cross-sectional survey conducted from March
to July 2022. Hong Kong residents aged 15 years or above who
spoke Cantonese were recruited. Three target groups were
included: (1) current smokers who used any forms of smoking
products daily or occasionally, (2) ex-smokers who had used
any form of smoking products in the past but quit, and (3)
never smokers who had never used any forms of smoking
products. Landline interviews and mobile phone interviews
were conducted by the Hong Kong Public Opinion Research
Institute Limited (HKPORI) to collect data. Initial calls took
place during 2:30 pm to 10:30 pm on weekdays and weekends
in order to cover respondents of diversified working hours
of different industries. Each randomly selected telephone
number was called 5 times, at different times and on different
days, before it was dropped as “non-contact”. All interviews
were conducted anonymously except for those who were
willing to participate in follow-up surveys. Participants could
withdraw from the study at any time without providing a
reason, and with no consequences.

2.2 Sampling methods and respondent selection

TCPS 2022 recruited 5,164 participants, including 1,719
current smokers, 1,725 ex-smokers and 1,720 never smokers.
Half of respondents (48.7%, n=2,517) of each smoking status
group were recruited via landline interviews, while the other
half (51.3%, n=2,647) via mobile phone interviews. Ex- and
current smokers were oversampled for more precise estimates
and detailed analysis due to the relatively small proportions of
the two groups in Hong Kong population.

For landline interviews, telephone numbers were first drawn
randomly from residential telephone directories as seed
numbers, from which another set of numbers was generated
by a computer programme using the “plus/minus one/two”
method to capture unlisted numbers. Duplicated numbers
were then filtered, and the remaining numbers were mixed
in random order to produce the final sampling frame. When a
telephone contact was successfully established with a target
household, one person of the household was selected from
all eligible household members using the “next birthday” rule.
For mobile phone survey, numbers were randomly generated
using known prefixes assigned to telecommunication services
providers under the Numbering Plan of the Office of the
Communications Authority and mixed in random order
to produce the final sampling frame. Only the users of the
contacted mobile numbers were interviewed.

2.3 Questionnaire development
The questionnaire was modified from previous TCPS surveys,

and included two sections: core questions and random
questions. Core questions were answered by all respondents,

and consisted of questions on tobacco use, SHS exposure,
nicotine dependence, etc. Random questions were designed
for random subsets of respondents with specific smoking
status (6 for current smokers, 4 for ex-smokers and 2 for never-
smokers), including THS exposure, tobacco advertising, plain
packaging, tobacco tax increase and tobacco endgame, etc.
All respondents in a subset answered the same set of random
questions.

2.4 Weighting and statistical analysis

The whole sample was weighted against the sex, age
and smoking status distribution of the 2021 Hong Kong
resident population (inmates of correctional institutions,
domestic helpers and persons living on board vessels were
excluded)®. Univariate analysis of variables of interest by
overall smoking status, the status of using specific smoking
products (regardless of the use of other products), or sex was
conducted. Chi-square test or linear regression was used to
estimate differences by subgroups. Statistical significance
was set as P<0.05. All analyses were conducted using STATA
(Version 15.1, TX: StataCorp LP).

3. Results
3.1 Socio-demographic characteristics

In all respondents, 46.9% were male and 66.8% were aged 40
years or above. They were mainly tertiary educated (42.9%)
and economically active (employees, employers or self-
employed) (51.4%). Current smokers (73.2%) and ex-smokers
(88.9%) were more likely to be aged 40 years or above than
never smokers (64.6%). Tertiary education was more common
in never smokers (46.1%) than in ex-smokers (27.2%) and
current smokers (24.7%). Economic activity (employees,
employers or self-employed) was more common in current
smokers (67.1%) than in never (49.8%) and ex-smokers (46.1%).

3.2 Pattern of smoking

3.2.1 Use of different smoking products

Figure 1 shows that, in all respondents, the prevalence of
ever use and current use was respectively 15.4% and 9.5%
for cigarettes, 3.2% and 0.5% for HTPs, 4.1% and 1.0% for
e-cigarettes, 5.2% and 0.6% for waterpipe tobacco, 3.8%
and 1.1% for cigar, 7.0% and 0.9% for hand-rolled/pipe
tobacco, and 1.2% and 0.1% for other tobacco products. The
prevalence of dual use and multiple use of tobacco products
in current smokers were 13.1% and 7.8%, respectively (Table
1). The most common combinations of dual product use were
cigarettes plus cigars (4.4%), and cigarettes plus e-cigarettes
(3.0%).
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Figure 1
Prevalence of current and ever smoking (n=5,164)
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Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.
Table1  Combinations of smoking products currently used by current smokers
Total (n=1,719)
n %
One product 1,398 79.2
Cigarettes 1,302 72.6
E-cigarettes 29 2.1
Cigars 20 1.3
HTPs 16 1.1
Waterpipe tobacco 12 0.9
Others 19 1.2
Two products 205 13.1
Cigarettes and cigars 77 44
Cigarettes and e-cigarettes 44 3.0
Cigarettes and waterpipe tobacco 14 1.0
Cigarettes and HTPs 12 0.9
Other combinations 58 3.8
Three or more products 116 7.8

Results were weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2021.
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3.2.2 Nicotine dependence and intention to quitin
current cigarette users

Figure 2 shows 89.5% of current cigarette users usually
smoked no more than a pack of cigarettes per day (10
cigarettes or fewer, 43.0%; 11 to 20 cigarettes, 46.5%).
Significant difference was observed between male (60.3%)
and female (36.5%) in the daily cigarette consumption of
more than 10 sticks (P<0.001). The average daily cigarette
consumption was 14.4 sticks (data not shown). A majority
(64.0%) had the first cigarette within 30 minutes after waking
up, including 30.3% within 5 minutes (Figure 3).

Figure 2

Daily cigarette consumption in current cigarette users
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Results were weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in
2021.

Difference by sex was statistically significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001).
Response “Don’t know/Refuse to answer” is not displayed.

Figure 3
Time to first cigarette after waking up
in current cigarette users
B within 5 minutes [ 6-30 minutes
31-60 minutes After 60 minutes
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Results were weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in
2021.

Difference by sex was not statistically significant by Chi-square test (P=0.089).

Response “Don’t know/Refuse to answer”is not displayed.

Around four in 10 (44.1%) current cigarette users had an
intention to quit cigarettes, and 8.8% planned to quit within
30 days (Figure 4).

Figure 4

Intention to quit cigarettes and expected quit dates
in current cigarette users
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Results were weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in
2021.

Difference by sex was not statistically significant by Chi-square test (P=0.937).
No respondent selected “Refused to answer” to this question.

3.2.3 ASP use before and after ASP ban

Figure 5 compares the use of HTPs and e-cigarettes before
and after the implementation of the ASP ban on 30 April 2022.
Respondents interviewed in May 2022 were excluded from
analysis to minimize transitional effect of the ban. Although
HTP use in current smokers remained similar before and after
the ban, past 30-day e-cigarette use in current users reduced
significantly from 13.2% to 7.5%. None of the current HTP
users intended to quit HTPs before the ban, while 15.8%
intended to do so after the ban. Nearly 30% intended to
reduce HTP use before (27.6%) and after (32.0%) the ban. In
current e-cigarette users, 23.2% intended to quit e-cigarettes,
before the ban and 31.2% after the ban, while 24.7% and
18.0% intended to reduce e-cigarette use before and after the
ban, respectively.
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Figure 5 Figure 6
) ASP use b.efore and after Prevalence of SHS exposure
implementation of the ASP ban
M Never smokers  [I Ex-smokers Current smokers Total
B Before the ban [ After the ban
HTP use 70% 629
40% — 60% 7 59 536
320 50% 468 # m
0 )
30% 276 40% —|
88 07 313 2
20% — 58 30% — 275 271 251
: 20% — 172 10 194
10% — s, 10%
0% — T 2 T T tamtiom tm vy a1 0% Any place Home ' Workplace I Other places '
HTP use in the past ' Intention to quit ' Intention to reduce - _ = -
30daysincurrent HTPin current HTP  HTP use in current (n=2296)**  (n=2,296)**  (n=1,122)"**  (n=2,272)"**
smokers (n=1,068) users (n=71) HTP users (n=71)

E-cigarette use
40%

30%
20% —

10% —

0% —

E-cigarette use in Intention to quit ' Intention to reduce

the past 30 days E-cigarette in E-cigarette use in
in current smokers  current e-cigarete  current e-cigarete
(n=1,068) * users (n=139) users (n=130)

Data in May 2022 (transition period after the ban on 30 April 2022) were excluded from
analysis.

Results were weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in
2021.

Difference by date of recruitment (before/after the ban on 30 April 2022) was tested by
Chi-square test (* P<0.01).

3.3 Exposure to SHS and THS

Figure 6 shows that 53.6% of respondents were exposed to
SHS in the past 7 days, including 27.1% at home (SHS from
inside or outside home), 19.4% at workplace and 32.2% in
other places. Current smokers were more commonly exposed
to SHS (28.8% at home, 49.0% at workplace and 42.2% in
other places) than never smokers (27.5%, 14.0% and 31.5%)
and ex-smokers (17.2%, 29.7% and 25.1%).
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Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong
population.

Difference by smoking status was tested by Chi-square test (*** P<0.001).
Results regarding SHS exposure at home were not comparable with previous reports.

Figure 7 shows that 25.8% of respondents were exposed to
THS in the past 7 days, including 12.2% at home and 17.6% in
indoor areas outside home. The prevalence of THS exposure at
home in the past 7 days was higher in current smokers (16.7%)
than in never smokers (11.7%) and ex-smokers (9.6%). Higher
prevalence of THS exposure in indoor areas outside home was
observed in never smokers (17.9%) and ex-smokers (17.8%)
than in current smokers (16.2%).

Figure7
Prevalence of THS exposure
M Never smokers  [I Ex-smokers Current smokers Total
30% —
? B9 267 xg
28
20% —
’ 167 7218 i, 176
122
10% —| %
17
0% I e |
Any place Home Indoor areas outside
(n=2,293)* (n=2,293)*** home (n=2,293)***

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.
Difference by smoking status was tested by Chi-square test (*** P<0.001; * P<0.01).



3.4 Public opinions towards tobacco control policies

3.4.1 Expansion of no-smoking area

Table 2 shows that over 80% of respondents supported a smoking ban in all public transportation stops (94.8%), all queues
in public areas (94.6%), within 10 meters of schools and tutorial centers (90.8%), within 3 meters of children in all public areas
(89.7%), in private cars with children inside (88.6%), in crowded streets (84.0%), while walking on streets (82.4%) and in all public
areas with a ceiling (81.8%). Expansion of designated no-smoking areas to most of the above places was supported by half of the
current smokers or over, with overwhelming support of 83.3%, 86.0% and 81.4% for the top three.

Table 2. Support for expansion of no-smoking areas to different places

Never smokers Ex-smokers Current smokers Total
(n=1,720) (n=1,725) (n=1,719) (n=5,164) P-value
(%) (%) (%) (%)
All public transport stops 96.2 94.2 83.3 94.8 <0.001
All queues in public areas 95.6 94.2 86.0 94.6 <0.001
Within 10 meters of schools 92.1 887 81.4 90.8 <0.001
and tutorial centers
Wlth!n 3 meters of children in 919 872 733 89.7 <0.001
public areas
Private cars with children inside 90.0 874 77.8 88.6 <0.001
Crowded streets 86.7 83.0 63.0 84.0 <0.001
While walking on streets 85.5 79.1 58.6 824 <0.001
All public areas with a ceiling 85.5 80.1 533 81.8 <0.001
All common areas in housing 84.1 78.6 44.0 79.6 <0.001
estates
LI S IS CACAIES 81.9 77.8 53.8 78.8 <0.001
building entrances
Outdoor seating areas of 72.8 65.9 325 683 <0.001
restaurants and bars
All outdoor public areas 68.5 64.9 29.0 64.2 <0.001
Home 451 39.1 11.0 41.2 <0.001

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.

Difference by smoking status was tested by Chi-square test.
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Figure 8 shows that a majority of respondents supported to
strengthen enforcement against smoking offences in statutory
no-smoking areas. Nearly 80% supported increasing manpower
for enforcement (84.9%) and increasing the fine (78.0%),
while over half (56.9%) supported imposing penalty on venue
mangers for any smoking offence in no-smoking areas.

Figure 8

Support for strengthened measures against
smoking offences in no-smoking areas

B Never smokers (n=1,720)
Current smokers (n=1,719)

[ Ex-smokers (n=1,725)
Total (n=5,164)

100%
90% — 82 845 849 833
80% —
70% —
60% — 569
50% —
40% — 369
30% —
20% —
10% —
0% — -
Strengthen enforcement ' Increase the finefor ' Penalty for any smoking
against smoking smoking offence in offence in no-smoking
offences in statutory no-  statutory no-smoking areas for venue
smoking areas *** areas *** managers ***

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.
Difference by smoking status was tested by Chi-square test (*** P<0.001).

3.4.2 Reducing attractiveness of tobacco products

Figure 9 shows that 45.5% of respondents supported plain
packaging. The support in never smoker (46.9%) and ex-
smokers (54.9%) was greater than that in current smokers

(29.9%).
Figure 9
Support for plain packaging
B support ™ Not support

60% —

50% —

40% —

30% —

20% —

10% —

0% — T
Never smokers | Ex-smokers Current smokers ! Total
(n=860) (n=432) (n=572) (n= 1864

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.
Difference by smoking status was statistically significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001).
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Figure 10 shows that 66.1% of current smokers, 53.9% of
ex-smokers and 53.4% of never smokers were usually or
occasionally exposed to point-of-sale (POS) smoking product
displays at retail stores in the past 30 days.

Figure 10
Exposure to POS tobacco product displays in
the past 30 days
B usually [ Occasionally Rarely
90% 85
80% — . na » -
70% — '

60% —
50% —
40% —
30% —
20% —
10% —

0%

Total
(n=1,582)

Current smokers
(n=288)

Ex-smokers
(n=434)

Never smokers
(n=860)

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.
Difference by smoking status was statistically significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001).

Figure 11 shows that 61.2% of respondents who were exposed
to POS displays in the past 30 days regarded the displays as
tobacco advertisements. Such perception was significantly
more common in never smokers (62.5%) and ex-smokers
(71.4%) than in current smokers (47.4%) (P<0.001).

Figure 11
Perception of whether point-of-sale tobacco product
displays were advertisements

80%

70% — 625

60% —

50% —

40% —

30% —

20% —

10% —|

0% Never smokers Ex-smokers | Current smokers ! Total
(n=630) (n=327) (n=244) (n=1,201)

Only respondents who were exposed to POS tobacco product displays in the past 30
days were included in analysis.

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.
Difference by smoking status was statistically significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001).



Figure 12 shows that 58.3% of respondents supported 3.4.3 Tobacco tax
banning POS tobacco product displays. The support was
stronger in never smokers (61.5%) and ex-smokers (57.2%)  Figure 13 shows that 66.5% of respondents supported annual

than in current smokers (36.2%). tobacco tax increase. The support was stronger in never
smokers (72.5%) and ex-smokers (64.6%) than in current
Figure 12 smokers (19.5%). Two-fifths (41.8%) of respondents expected

the tax increase to be at or above inflation.

Support for point-of-sale tobacco product display ban

Figure 13
M Support [ Not support .
Support for annual tobacco tax increase
80%
70% ; B Lower than inflation As much as inflation
60% M Greaterthaninflation [ Atany level DK/RTA
50%
0 —
40% 80% 725
30% 70% 2 64 "
20% 60% — 142 '
% — 24
10% 50%
0% 40% —
Never Ex-smokers Current Total 30% 339
0 — .
smokers (n=327) smokers (n=1,201) 307 105
(n=630) (n=244) 20% — : 03
8.2
) ) 10% — 68
Only respondents who were exposed to POS tobacco product displays in the past 30 120 88 30 109
days were included in analysis. 0% 12 I Al I 12 I 12 |
Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population. Never Ex-smokers Current Total
. ) e o ] smokers (n=861) smokers (n=2,294)
Difference by smoking status was statistically significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001). (n=860) (n=573)

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.
Difference by smoking status was statistically significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001).

3.44 Innovative tobacco control measures

Figure 14 shows that 56.0% of repondents supported banning flavoured tobacco products, 57.3% supported that only registered
smokers can buy or use any smoking products, and 73.1% supported a quota system for smoking product sales with quota
reduced annually.

Over half (56.1%) supported total ban on smoking in people born in or after 2022, and 61.5% supported banning smoking when
the smoking prevalence drops to 5% or lower.

Figure 14
Support for tobacco endgame and other smoke-free policies
B Never smokers (n=1,720) [ Ex-smokers (n=1,725) Current smokers (n=1,719) Total (n=5,164)
0 — 781
80% -
70% —
615
60% —|
50% —|
40% — 354
30% —
20% —
10% —
0% — . - — .
Ban on flavoured tobacco Only registered smokers A quota system for smoking Total ban on smoking in Total ban on smoking when
products ** can buy or use any smoking product sales with quota people born in or smoking prevalence drops
products *** reduced annually *** after 2022 ** to 5% or lower ***

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.
Difference by smoking status was tested by Chi-square test (** P<0.01, *** P<0.001).
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4. Discussion

The prevalence of daily use for any form of smoking products,
conventional cigarettes, e-cigarettes and HTPs were 9.8%,
9.5%, 0.3% and 0.1%, respectively in 2021, according to the
Thematic Household Survey Report No. 75 °. TCPS 2022 found
that the prevalence of current use of conventional cigarettes,
e-cigarettes and HTPs were 9.5%, 1.0% and 0.5%, respectively.
Current use of e-cigarettes and HTPs remained uncommon
in Hong Kong before and after the ASP ban. Intention to quit
HTPs or e-cigarettes in current users remained similar before
and immediately after the ban, but the use of e-cigarettes
in current smokers significantly halved from 13.2% to 7.5%.
Prior to the passage of the Import and Export Amendment
Bill 2023, both land-to-air and sea-to-air transshipment of
ASPs were prohibited to minimize the risks of leakage of ASPs
to the illicit market during transport from land or sea control
points via the territory to the airport. The Government expects
increase in logistic business after exempting land-to-air and
sea-to-air ASP transshipment from the import ban. However,
the exemption may undermine the effectiveness of the total
ban on ASP and increase the chances of ASP entering the local
market, leading to a possible rebound in smoking rates in the
future. Continual close monitoring of ASP use as well as the
illicit market on needed.

Over half (53.6%) of respondents were exposed to SHS in
the past 7 days, despite the low smoking prevalence, and
smoking ban in all indoor public and workplaces and some
outdoor public places. THS is chemical residues of tobacco
smoke that clings to indoor dust and surfaces, which is an
established public health hazard. Health risks of THS are
associated in particular to infants and children including
cognitive deficits and respiratory diseases. In this survey,
around 20% of respondents reported THS exposure in indoor
areas outside home in the past 7 days. The prevalent exposure
to SHS and THS need to be reduced. Our study showed strong
public support for various measures to reduce SHS and
THS exposure, including a smoking ban in crowded streets
and in all public areas with a ceiling. A majority (78.0%) of
respondents supported for increased fine for smoking offence
in statutory no-smoking areas. Further expanding no-smoking
areas and strengthening enforcement are highly warranted.

Nearly 90% of current cigarette users had low to moderate
nicotine dependence, and 54.3% had no intention to quit
smoking. Effective measures are required to increase intention
to quit. Plain packaging for smoking products which increases
the salience of the PHWs and eliminates promotional effects
of tobacco product packaging, should be implemented, as
recommended by the WHO. Australia was the first country
to adopt plain packaging in 2012, which was effective in
reducing smoking prevalence in the adult population ' ',
Thailand, Singapore and Myanmar are the Asian countries
which have already implemented plain packaging ">,
While prohibition of tobacco advertisement on television
and radio, in cinemas and public transportation and on the
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Internet has been prohibited '*, POS tobacco product displays
are a significant loophole of the advertising ban. Tobacco
companies constantly seek ways to exploit retail settings for
promotion to renormalize and maintain visibility of smoking
products '. In Hong Kong, smoking products are displayed
in large and glamorous light box at prominent area of POS,
which constitutes advertising according to Article 13 of the
Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC). This
promotional tactic particularly appeals to young people.
POS cigarette displays stimulate impulse of purchase and
acts as cues to smoke, even in those not explicitly intending
to buy cigarettes and those trying to avoid smoking "7 '8,
POS displays also make it more difficult for smokers to quit
smoking. In our survey, over half of the respondents usually or
occasionally saw POS tobacco product displays at retail stores
in the past 30 days, and 61.2% of them perceived the displays
as advertisements. With a POS display ban, tobacco packs
must be stored in an opaque cupboard, while only the textual
listing of products and their prices without any promotional
elements or brand features can be shown to customers upon
request. Australia, New Zealand, Thailand and United Kingdom
(UK) have implemented both plain packaging and POS
tobacco product display ban. The Hong Kong Government
should legislate plain packaging to increase the salience on
PHWSs and a total ban on POS displays to reduce attractiveness
of tobacco products which was strongly supported by the
respondents.

In line with the results of previous waves of TCPSs, this study
showed strong support for annual tobacco tax increase
(66.5%) and for an increase at or greater than inflation (62.9%
of respondents supporting annual tobacco tax increase).
Although COSH has long been advocating for a tax increase
of 100% so that the cigarette price (HK$98) could be close to
the aforementioned price as expressed by current cigarette
users, tobacco tax had been frozen for 8 years since 2015-16.
Despite the 30% tobacco tax increase in the Budget 2023-
2024, the existing price (HK$78) of a pack of major brand
cigarettes is still be lower than that in other developed
regions, for example, approximately HK$210, HK$180 and
HK$120 in Australia, New Zealand, and UK, respectively '°. The
tobacco tax, accounting for only around 64% of the retail price
of cigarettes, is still lower than the level suggested by the
WHO (at least 75%). It is recommended that the Government
significantly increases tobacco taxes in the coming years to
further decrease the affordability of cigarettes, and adopts a
mechanism to regularly increase the tax to prevent inflation
from eroding the effectiveness of tobacco tax.

The Government has set a target to further reduce smoking
prevalence to 7.8% by 2025, while ending the smoking
epidemic should be the ultimate goal. Around 60% of
respondents in this survey supported a total ban on smoking
when the smoking prevalence decreases to 5% or below.
However, there is still a gap between the current smoking



prevalence and the 2025 goal, and the decline in smoking
prevalence has plateaued in recent years, let alone realizing
tobacco endgame. Radical effective measures to prevent
smoking initiation and promote smoking cessation are
urgently needed. Strategies such as a smoke-free generation
policy, a quota system for smoking product sales with quota
reduced annually, registration of smokers who can buy or
use any tobacco products and a ban on flavored tobacco
products secured support of over half of the population. The
Government should consider these strategies for smoke-free
Hong Kong.

5. Limitations

All information of TCPS 2022 was collected through landline
and mobile phone interviews which increased the coverage.
While data precision may be limited when compared with
face-to-face interview, more truthful responses could be
encouraged given the anonymous nature of the study.
Restriction of respondents to those who can speak Cantonese
may be another limitation in representation but they
consisted of over 95% of the population aged 15 years or
above. Changes in tobacco consumption and opinion towards
tobacco control policies from the same respondent could not
be tracked due to the nature of cross-sectional study.

6. Conclusions

Strong public support for raising tobacco tax, expansion of no
smoking area, tobacco endgame was demonstrated. Continual
evaluation of the ban on alternative smoking products is
highly recommended. More resources for the aforementioned
policies, and continuous monitoring and evaluation are also
needed to further reduce the smoking prevalence in the next
few years.

7. Other results
7.1 Flavoured cigarette use

In current cigarette users, menthol (31.6%) flavour was the
most common flavour used for their first cigarette.

e Menthol (36.6%) was also the most common flavour used
in current cigarette users, followed by fruit (5.1%) and
menthol plus fruit (2.3%).

7.2 Quit attempt and use of smoking cessation services

e 62.5% of current smokers have ever made a quit attempt,
including 19.2% trying to quit in the past 12 months.

e About one-fifth (19.2%) of current smokers had their most
recent quit attempt in the past 12 months.

e About one-fifth (18.0%) of current smokers had ever used
smoking cessation services in Hong Kong.

e 11.5% of current smokers intended to use nicotine
gum, patch or lozenge, 9.3% intended to use Chinese
medication, 7.5% intended to use acupuncture, and 6.6%
intended to use counselling services.

® 4.2% of current smokers recalled the correct number of
smoking cessation hotline (1833 183).

7.3 Smoking hotspot

e 40.6% of current smokers used tobacco products at
smoking hotspots (such as around rubbish bins and
back alleys) in the past 7 days, including 20.7% who used
tobacco products every day.

e Current smokers visited smoking hotspots for a median of
2 times per day.

7.4 SHS exposure

e The most common location of SHS exposure outside
home and workplace was streets (78.1%), followed by
parks and other resting areas (13.3%), public transport
stops (12.4%) and areas around rubbish bins (10.3%).

7.5 Pictorial health warnings

o Majority (96.3%) of current smokers noticed the pictorial
health warnings (PHWs) on cigarette packs in the past 30
days. The prevalence was relatively lower in never smokers
(48.8%) and ex-smokers (53.4%).

o 76.8% of respondents thought of the harms of smoking
upon seeing the PHWSs on cigarette packs in the past 30
days. The proportion was significantly higher in never
smokers (81.9%) and ex-smokers (66.2%) than in current
smokers (46.7%).

e 15.6% of current cigarette users thought of quitting
cigarettes and 7.6% held back from smoking upon seeing
PHWSs on cigarette packs in the past 30 days.

7.6 Tobacco tax

e Three quarters (76.4%) of respondents supported a
tobacco tax increase in 2023. of which 56.6% supported
an increase greater than inflation. Overall support was
lower in current smokers (22.2%) than in never smokers
(83.5%) and ex-smokers (71.1%) (P<0.001).

e 55.3% of current cigarette users would reduce smoking
by at least half if cigarette retail price increased. The mean
and median retail price to motivate this was HK$113.4 and
HK$100.0, respectively.
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51.6% of current cigarette users would quit smoking if
cigarette retail price increased. The mean and median
retail price to motive motivate was HK$162.7 and
HK$100.0, respectively.

66.5% of current cigarette users would reduce smoking
by at least half or quit smoking if cigarette retail price
increased. The mean and median retail price to motivate
this was HK$116.9 and HK$100.0, respectively.

7.7 Measures against tobacco industry

interference

On an 11-point scale from O (totally disagree) to 10 (totally
agree), respondents rated their level of support for a
mandatory declaration of conflicts of interest with the
tobacco industry by government agents and Legislative
Council members. The mean score was 8.2 (median = 10.0)

On an 11-point scale from 0 (totally disagree) to 10 (totally
agree), respondents rated their level of support for prohibiting
these members and parties from formulating tobacco control
policies. The mean score was 7.6 (median = 9.0).
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